

Universidad de Oviedo

Programa de Doctorado en Materiales

Amplitudes de Dispersión en Teorías Confinantes y Holografía

Scattering Amplitudes in Confining Theories and Holography

TESIS DOCTORAL Daniel Logares Álvarez

Mayo 2023



Universidad de Oviedo

Programa de Doctorado en Materiales

Amplitudes de Dispersión en Teorías Confinantes y Holografía

Scattering Amplitudes in Confining Theories and Holography

TESIS DOCTORAL

Director de tesis Dr. Don. Carlos Hoyos Badajoz



RESUMEN DEL CONTENIDO DE TESIS DOCTORAL

1 Título de la Tesis	
Español/Otro Idioma:	Inglés:
Amplitudes De Dispersión En Teorías	Scattering Amplitudes In Confining Theories
Confinantes y Holografía	And Holography
2 Autor	
2 Autor Nombre: Daniel Logares Álvarez	DNI/Pasaporte/NIE:
2 Autor Nombre: Daniel Logares Álvarez	DNI/Pasaporte/NIE:
2 Autor Nombre: Daniel Logares Álvarez Programa de Doctorado: Programa de Doctorado	DNI/Pasaporte/NIE:

RESUMEN (en español)

La correspondencia AdS/CFT o dualidad holográfica nos permite describir sistemas físicos en regímenes de acoplo fuerte donde las herramientas tradicionales a nuestro alcance como el análisis perturbativo no pueden ser aplicadas. Esta tesis está enfocada en el desarrollo de un método para calcular amplitudes de dispersión en teorías confinantes con duales holográficos mediante la correspondencia AdS/CFT. Estas teorías confinantes presentan un "mas gap" y un espectro de masas discreto.

Se ha desarrollado un método para calcular amplitudes de dispersión y longitudes de dispersión en procesos de dispersión elásticos utilizando la dualidad holográfica. Estas cantidades capturan las características básicas de la interacción en el proceso de dispersión, es decir si la interacción es atractiva o repulsiva. Este método consiste en la identificación los residuos de las funciones de Green de la teoría gravitatoria dual con las amplitudes en la teoría de campos. Dicho procedimiento fue aplicado a sistemas ya conocidos.

Estos modelos holográficos, obtenidos a partir de teoría de cuerdas, son duales a teorías de campos confinantes y presentan diferentes realizaciones geométricas. Aplicando nuestro método hemos obtenido en primer caso la relación entre la longitud de dispersión y la masa de las partículas que participan en la interacción, así como la relación entre la longitud de dispersión y la dimensión conforme de los operadores que crean dichas partículas y su espectro de masas. Finalmente hemos obtenido el valor de los coeficientes del lagrangiano quiral, así como el valor de la constante de desintegración del pion aplicando nuestro método a un modelo que incluye dichas partículas y presenta las simetrías de la teoría quiral.

La tesis contiene siete capítulos. El primer capítulo consiste en una introducción donde se expone el contexto de este trabajo. En el Capítulo 2 se hace un repaso de varios temas relacionados con la teoría cuántica de campos necesarios para la tesis. El en el Capítulo 3 se presenta la dualidad holográfica y sus principales características. En el Capítulo 4 se presenta y se desarrolla un método para calcular la amplitud y la longitud de dispersión dentro del marco de trabajo de la correspondencia AdS/CFT. En el Capítulo 5 se aplica este método a tres modelos diferentes con el objetivo de obtener la longitud de dispersión y el espectro de masas. En el Capítulo 6 se aplica dicho método al proceso de dispersión de piones para obtener su amplitud de dispersión. Finalmente, las conclusiones están dada en el Capítulo 7.



Universidad de Oviedo

RESUMEN (en Inglés)

The AdS/CFT correspondence or holographic duality allows us to describe physical systems in strongly coupled regimes where the traditional tools at our disposal such as perturbative analysis cannot be applied. This thesis is focused on the development of a method to compute scattering amplitudes in theories confining with holographic duals using the AdS/CFT correspondence. These confining theories present a "mass gap" and a discrete mass spectrum.

A method has been developed to calculate scattering amplitudes and scattering lengths in elastic scattering processes using holographic duality. These quantities capture the basic characteristics of the interaction in the dispersion process, i.e. whether the interaction is attractive or repulsive. This method consists of identifying the residues of Green's functions in dual gravitational theory with the amplitudes in field theory. This procedure was applied to already known systems.

These holographic models, obtained from string theory, are dual to confining field theories and present different geometric realizations. Applying our method, we have obtained in the first case the relationship between the scattering length and the mass of the particles participating in the interaction, as well as the relationship between the scattering length and the conformal dimension of the operators that create these particles and their mass spectrum. Finally, we have obtained the value of the coefficients of the chiral lagrangian as well as the value of the pion decay constant by applying our method to a model that includes these particles and presents the symmetries of the chiral theory.

The thesis contains seven chapters. The first chapter consists of an introduction where the context of this work is exposed. Chapter 2 reviews several topics related to quantum field theory necessary for the thesis. Chapter 3 presents the holographic duality and its main characteristics. Chapter 4 presents and develops a method for calculating the scattering amplitude and the scattering length within the framework of AdS/CFT correspondence. In Chapter 5 this method is applied to three different models to obtain the scattering length and mass spectrum. In Chapter 6 this method is applied to the process of dispersion of pions to obtain its scattering amplitude. Finally, the conclusions are given in Chapter 7.

SR. PRESIDENTE DE LA COMISIÓN ACADÉMICA DEL PROGRAMA DE DOCTORADO EN MATERIALES

 $Para\ to dos\ aquellos\ que\ no\ necesitan\ ser\ mencionados$

Contents

Acknowledgements	5
1 Introduction	7
I Theoretical Foundations 1	11
2 Review of Field Theory Topics 1 2.1 Scattering Amplitudes 1 2.2 Large N Limit 1 2.3 Chiral Perturbation Theory 1 2.3.1 Axial current 1 2.3.2 Chiral lagrangian in the large N limit 1 2.3.3 Pion scattering amplitude 1 2.3.4 Vector boson contributions 1	 13 15 19 21 21 22 23
3 AdS/CFT Correspondence 2 3.1 The Correspondence 3.1.1 Field/Operator Dictionary 3.1.2 Dictionary of Symmetries 3 3.1.3 Correlation Functions 3 3.1.3 Correlation Functions 3 3.1.4 Two-point Function 3 3.1.5.1 Two-point Function 3 3.2 Confining geometries 3 3.2.1 GPPZ Flow 3 3.2.2 AdS_6 Soliton 3 3.2.4 Witten-Sakai-Sugimoto Model 3	25 27 28 29 30 31 31 32 33
II Holographic Computation of Scattering 3	35
4 Scattering in Holography : 4.1 Scattering amplitude in holography : 4.1.1 Solutions and propagators of the scalar field : 4.1.2 n-point functions : 4.1.3 Residues and scattering amplitude :	37 38 39 40 41
5 Scattering Lenght In Confining Theories 4 5.1 Scattering in a hard wall model 4 5.1 Scattering in a hard wall model 4 5.1 Bulk-to-boundary and bulk-to-bulk propagators 4 $5.1.2$ Residues and scattering amplitude 4 $5.1.3$ Scattering length 4 5.2 Scattering in the dual to $N = 1^*$ super Yang-Mills 4	 43 43 44 45 47 48
5.2.1 Scalar solutions .	48 49 51

		5.3.1 Normalizable solutions for probe scalar fields	51
		5.3.2 Scattering for low mass states	52
	5.4	Discussion	53
6	Hol	lographic calculation of the pion scattering amplitude	56
	6.1	The holographic model	57
	6.2	Chiral symmetry and pion mode	58
	6.3	Effective action for the pion field and vector mesons	59
	6.4	Expansion in a background axial gauge field	61
	6.5	Two-point function of the axial current	63
	6.6	Four-point function of the axial current	63
	6.7	Scattering amplitude	65
	6.8	Integrating out vector bosons and Hidden Local Symmetry	65
	6.9	Discussion	66
7	Sun	nmary and general conclusions/ Outlook of the work	68
1	Sun	military and general conclusions/ Outlook of the work	00
	Sun		00
A	Nor	The main modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual	71
γ Α	Nor A.1	$rmal modes and \Delta < 2 in the N = 1^* SYM dual$ $Normal modes$	71 71
Á	Nor A.1 A.2	rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes Alternative quantization	71 71 71
́ А В	Nor A.1 A.2 Nur	rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes Alternative quantization Normal solutions in the AdS_6 soliton	 71 71 71 71 73
r A B	Nor A.1 A.2 Nur	rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes Alternative quantization Normal solutions in the AdS_6 soliton	 71 71 71 73 75
γ Α Β C	Nor A.1 A.2 Nur WK	Initial general conclusions/ outbook of the work rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes Alternative quantization Alternative quantization Image: Alternative quantization merical solutions in the AdS_6 soliton KB approximation Mathematical solution	 71 71 71 71 73 75 75
γ Α Β C	Nor A.1 A.2 Nur WK	rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes	 71 71 71 71 73 75 75 76
۲ A B	Nor A.1 A.2 Nur WK C.1 C.2	rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes Alternative quantization merical solutions in the AdS_6 soliton (B approximation) $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM Non-supersymmetric theory	 71 71 71 71 73 75 76
A B C	Nor A.1 A.2 Nur C.1 C.2	rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes Alternative quantization merical solutions in the AdS_6 soliton (B approximation $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM Non-supersymmetric theory culation of the four point function	 71 71 71 73 75 76 77
A B C	Nor A.1 A.2 Nur WK C.1 C.2 Cale D.1	Image for a conclusions/ of the work rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes Alternative quantization Merical solutions in the AdS_6 soliton (B approximation) $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM Non-supersymmetric theory Culation of the four point function Contributions from $\mathcal{O}(F^4)$ terms in the canonical momentum: contact terms	 71 71 71 73 75 76 77 77
r A B C	Nor A.1 A.2 Nur WK C.1 C.2 Calc D.1 D.2	Image for a conclusions/ outsion of the work rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes Alternative quantization merical solutions in the AdS_6 soliton KB approximation $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM Non-supersymmetric theory culation of the four point function Contributions from $O(F^4)$ terms in the canonical momentum: contact terms Contributions from $O(F^2)$ terms: exchange diagram	 71 71 71 71 73 75 76 77 77 77 77
r A B C	Nor A.1 A.2 Nun WK C.1 C.2 D.1 D.2 D.3	rmal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual Normal modes Alternative quantization merical solutions in the AdS_6 soliton KB approximation $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM Non-supersymmetric theory Non-supersymmetric theory Contributions from $O(F^4)$ terms in the canonical momentum: contact terms Contributions from $O(F^2)$ terms: exchange diagram	71 71 71 73 75 75 76 77 77 81

Acknowledgements

En primer lugar me gustaria dar las gracias a Carlos Hoyos, por darme la oportunidad de realizar el doctorado bajo su supersion ya que de otra manera no habria sido posible. Sobretodo por su paciencia a la hora de resolver mis dudas y su flexibilidad en el trabajo.

Tambien agradecer a todos los miembros del grupo de Fisica Teorica de Altas Energias de la Universidad de Oviedo (HEPTH) y a mis compañeros de docotorado, tanto a los viejos (Anayeli, Guillermo, Diego, Cristian y Miguel) como a los nuevos (Andrea, Nacho y Evangelos).

Igualmente quiero agreder a mi colaborador Niko Jokela por su ayuda y su trabajo.

Y finalmente agradecer profundamente a mi familia y amigos.

Este trabajo fue posible gracias a las Ayudas para la realizacion de Tesis Doctorales Modalidad B de la Universidad de Oviedo y así como la financiacion recibida del proyecto FC-GRUPIN-IDI/2018/000174

Chapter 1

Introduction

The context of this thesis is that of the gauge/gravity duality, which made its appearance in String Theory, and gave a completely new way of understanding theories of gravity, quantum field theories and the relations between them.

The development of Quantum Field Theory (QFT) has been one of the biggest achievements in physics during the past century like that of Genereal Relativity (GR). Both theories have predicted with accuracy an astonishing amount of natural phenomena. The predictions provided by QFT and the Standard Model have met the experimental results with a precision unprecedented in science. However the Standard Model is just an effective theory that need a UV completion an a deep understanding of the full theory is still needed to give answer to some of the most fundamental questions of nature.

As we said the Standard Model is not the end of the story and despite it success the predictive power of QFT is limited to a set of regimes and phenomena. The usual approach consists of a pertubative analysis of the theory to obtain scattering amplitudes. This requires in most of the cases that the value of the coupling constant is small and that's why for strongly coupled theories the perturbative approach fails and alternative techniques are need. That's the reason the nature of the strong interaction was the hardest and latest to be understood, and in the seventies, Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD) appeared as the suitable QFT to account for the strong nuclear forces. And it was in the context of trying to understand the strong interactions where Sting Theory first appeared.

Strong nuclear forces are well described at high energies by the perturbative expansion of QCD, the microscopic theory that has as dynamical degrees of freedom quarks and gluons. At low energies QCD becomes strongly coupled and an effective description becomes a necessity. Mesons and baryons (hadrons) are the observed physical bound states at low energies and a standard approach is to construct an effective field theory with hadrons as dynamical degrees of freedom.

Bound with the effective theory does not mean that all the microscopic details are coarse-grained beyond reach. One can gain access to the microscopic physics as they are encoded in short-range interactions among the low energy degrees of freedom in the effective theory. It is even possible to do a systematic expansion of these interactions in terms of the microscopic length scale over a wavelength , the lowest order contribution being determined by the scattering length. This important text-book quantity can, in principle, be extracted from the zero momentum limit of the scattering amplitude involving the interacting degrees of freedom; for reviews on this approach, see [1-3]. Generically, a negative scattering length $a_s < 0$ implies that the interaction is attractive, while a positive value $a_s > 0$ may signal either a repulsive interaction (for small a_s) or the existence of bound states in an attractive potential (for large a_s).

In many cases, the details of the interactions for a given channel are not very important, and for an effective description at low energies it is enough to know the scattering length a_s and the range of interaction. However, a direct computation of the scattering amplitudes in the microscopic theory is typically not conceivable, especially at strong coupling. This also has some inherent limitations for heavier states in particular.

Due to confinement, strong interactions are short-ranged and in many cases can be approximated by contact interactions, which are determined by the scattering length measured in the experiment, or alternatively extracted from finite size corrections in lattice QCD [4-6]. In general, there are also interactions within the hadronic theory produced by hadron exchange. Hadronic matter is not the only example of a physical system with short-range interactions. Those abound in condensed matter systems, for instance in the descriptions of the effective potential for cold atoms at unitarity [7-9]. So there are many important physical systems whose complete description is out of reach of traditional approaches, typically because they are strongly coupled.

A promising alternative is to use the he AdS/CFT correspondence or holographic duality, which is well-suited

for this task, as the gravity side becomes weakly coupled when the dual theory is strongly coupled. This duality establishes an equivalence between string theory in an AdS geometry and a QFT living on its boundary, with the peculiarity of being a strong/weak coupling duality. So this feature provides us with a powerful tool to understand strongly coupled field theories by means of calculations in the string theory side or its classical low energy description, supergravity.

The duality appeared in 1997 when Maldacena proposed the AdS/CFT correspondence 10. The key objects in thee discovery of this duality are the D-branes, non-perturbative extended objects of different dimensionalities. These objects can be studied from the closed string point of view as emitters of closed strings or from the open string point of view as endpoints to which the strings can be attached. It is that dual picture that allowed Maldacena to formulate the AdS/CFT correspondence. The conjecture goes as follows. Taking D3-branes in flat space time and after applying some particular limits the two dual pictures of the branes emerge. One is the closed string picture described by type IIB closed String Theory in $AdS_5 \times S^5$ spacetime and the other is the open string picture described by the gauge theory on the worldvolume of the D3-brane, which is the (3+1)-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills gauge theory, which is a conformal field theory. Both descriptions are thought to be equivalent and this was the first known example which realized the idea of the existence of a relationship between String Theory and gauge theories.

Also, since the inception of the gauge/gravity, or holographic, duality there has been a conscious effort to understand Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD) in the non-perturbative regime 11. We do not know if the holographic dual of QCD exists and, even if it is the case, there is likely no weakly coupled gravity description. To date, quantitative predictions have usually been based on a phenomenological approach where weakly coupled holographic models are fitted to known QCD data obtained through experiments or other non-perturbative approaches. The most developed model in this respect is presumably V-QCD 12.

The main goal of this thesis is the development of a method to compute scattering amplitudes using the holographic duality and then apply it to some models with different holographic duals and finally obtain the value of the Low Energy Coefficients (LEC's) for pions that appear in the chiral lagrangian. We compute two-to-two scattering amplitudes and scattering lengths by identifying the residues of the Green's functions in the gravity theory with the amplitudes in the field theory using the relation between the one-point function and the regularized canonical momentum given by the holographic dictionary. With this method in hand, first we apply it to three different confining models with a discrete spectrum and a mass gap (the hard wall model [13], the GPPZ flow [14] and the AdS_6 soliton [11]), each one of them with different geometry in the gravity side, in order to obtain the spectrum of masses, the scattering length and it's functional dependence on the masses of the particles and on the conformal dimension of the operators that create them and to find out if the differences in the gravity description affect the final result of the scattering length. Lastly we apply our method to the Sakai-Sugimoto model [15] [16] to obtain the pion decay constant and the LEC's from the two-to-two pion low energy scattering amplitude which we compute in the holographic dual through tree-level Witten diagrams and compare those values with the ones existing in the literature.

About this thesis

This thesis is based on the papers 17, 18 and 19 it is divided on two different parts, the first one is an introduction on theoretical aspects and the second one is focused on the computation of scattering processes using holography, and has the following structure:

- The second chapter is a review on some relevant field theory topics for our work, the computation of scattering amplitudes in Quantum Field Theory, the large N limit in Yang-Mills gauge theories and its relation with String Theory and the Chiral Effective Theory, what happens to it in the large N limit and how are the dynamics of the pion field.
- The third chapter is an introduction of the AdS/CFT correspondence, first we see how it arises in the framework of String Theory, how the dictionary between both sides works in terms of fields/operators and also in terms of symmetries and how to compute correlation functions and then we review some string theory models with a confining geometry dual, the GPPZ flow, the AdS_6 soliton, the Witten-Yang-Mills model and the Witten-Sakai-Sugimoto model on which, later on, we will study the scattering process.
- In the fourth chapter we present a method to compute the two-to-two amplitudes and the scattering length using the holographic duality. Our method is based on the identification of the residues of Green's functions in the gravity dual with the amplitudes in the field theory. We will start reviewing the derivation of the scattering length from the four-point function in four spacetime dimensions. Then we will present the method to compute the scattering amplitude and the scattering length between four scalar particles using holography. We will allow a general value of the spacetime dimension and show that it is enough to extract the residues of poles in Green's functions of classical fields in the gravitational theory.
- In the fifth chapter we apply our method to three different models with confining duals computing the main contribution to the scattering length between two spin-zero particles in strongly coupled theories using the gauge/gravity duality. First for illustration purposes we will apply the method to the hard wall model, computing a contribution to the scattering length. Then we study two different theories with a mass gap: a massive deformation of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory ($\mathcal{N} = 1$) and a non-supersymmetric five-dimensional theory compactified on a circle. These cases have a different realization of the mass gap in the dual gravity description: the former is the well-known GPPZ singular solution and the latter a smooth AdS_6 soliton geometry.
- In the sixth chapter we apply our method to compute the pion scattering amplitude in the Witten-Sakai-Sugimoto model and obtain the pion decay constant and coefficients of fourth derivative terms in the chiral Lagrangian for massless quarks. We extract these quantities from the two- pion scattering amplitude, which we compute directly in the holographic dual through tree-level Witten diagrams.

Part I

Theoretical Foundations

Chapter 2

Review of Field Theory Topics

In this chapter we will present some key topics of Quantum Field Theory relevant for this thesis like the computation of scattering amplitudes, the large N limit and the Chiral Perturbation Theory (ChPT).

2.1 Scattering Amplitudes

Here we will review the computation of scattering amplitudes within the framework of quatum field theory using correlation fuctions and the LSZ reduction formula (named after the three German physicists Harry Lehmann. Kurt Symanzik and Wolfhart Zimmerman). The main reference for this chapter is [20].



Figure 2.1.1: General scattering process

The most general scattering of two particles is of the form shown in Fig2.1.1 where two ingoing particles A and B collide and produce an arbitrary number of outgoing particles labeled as $C_1, C_2, C_3, \ldots, C_n$

$$A + B \to C_1 + C_2 + C_3 + \ldots + C_n.$$
 (2.1.1)

In a low energy scattering process which takes part in the elastic region, where the number and type of the particles doesn't change, the previous reaction reads

$$A + B \to A' + B', \tag{2.1.2}$$

where the particles satisfy the on-shell conditions

$$p_A^2 = m_A^2, \, p_B^2 = m_B^2, \, p_{A'}^2 = m_A^2, \, p_{B'}^2 = m_B^2.$$
(2.1.3)

Being p_A and p_B the 4-momenta of the particles before the collision and $p_{A'}$ and $p_{B'}$ the 4-momenta after it. The total momentum in such collision is conserved so

$$p_A + p_B - p_{A'} - p_{B'} = 0. (2.1.4)$$

In a scattering process like the one described before we are interested in how the incoming particles given by $|i\rangle$ evolve into the outgoing particles $|f\rangle$. So the operator of interest is the scattering operator S. This operator maps the incoming states into the outgoing states

$$|f\rangle = S |i\rangle. \tag{2.1.5}$$

It encodes the information about the scattering process and it is defined as the limit of the time evolution operator for infinite times

$$S = \lim_{t_i, t_f \to \mp \infty} U(t_f, t_i) \,. \tag{2.1.6}$$

The time evolution operator $U(t_f, t_i)$ expressed in the interaction picture, assuming the Hamiltonian is time independent, takes the system from an initial time t_i to a final time t_f and it is defined as

$$U(t_f, t_i) = e^{iH_0 t_f} e^{-i(H_0 + V)(t_f - t_i)} e^{-iH_0 t_i},$$
(2.1.7)

where H_0 is the free particle hamiltonian.

The S is matrix defined as

$$S_{fi} = \langle f | S | i \rangle, \qquad (2.1.8)$$

where usually S is decomposed in two parts

$$S = \mathbf{1} + i\mathcal{T},\tag{2.1.9}$$

the first one is the non-interacting part given by the identity matrix and the second one is the interacting part that encodes the dynamics of the process and is called the \mathcal{T} -matrix.

The matrix elements of S should reflect 4-momentum conservation so they always have to contain a factor $\delta^4 (p_f - p_i)$. Extracting this factor the S-matrix element can be written as

$$\langle f | S | i \rangle = \langle f | i \rangle + (2\pi)^4 \,\delta^4 \left(p_f + p_i \right) \, i\mathcal{M}_{fi}, \qquad (2.1.10)$$

with

$$i\mathcal{T}_{fi} = (2\pi)^4 \,\delta^4 \,(p_f + p_i) \,i\mathcal{M}_{fi}. \tag{2.1.11}$$

where \mathcal{M}_{fi} is the scattering amplitude and from which one can obtain measurable quantities like the cross section, decay rates and the scattering length.

In order to obtain the S-matrix elements we use the LSZ reduction formula which reads

$$\langle p_1 \dots p_k | S | p_{k+1} \dots p_n \rangle = i^n \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^n d^4 x_n e^{ip_n \cdot x_n} \frac{p_i^2 + m^2}{\sqrt{Z_n}} \right)_{p_i \text{ on-shell}} \langle \phi \left(x_1 \right), \dots, \phi \left(x_n \right) \rangle, \tag{2.1.12}$$

where Z_n factors correspond with the residues of the poles of the two-point correlation function. It relates correlation functions to the S-matrix elements and assumes that all the particles have the same mass. The factors $(p_i^2 + m^2)$ vanish once the momenta are placed on-shell, $p_i^2 = -m^2$. This means we only get a non-zero answer for diagrams contributing to the *n*-point function which have propagators for each external leg.

The last step in this process is to know how to compute correlation functions. Correlation functions are vacuum expectation values of time-ordered products of field operators and can be interpreted physically as the amplitude for propagation of particles, in the case of the two point function it represents the amplitude for propagation of a particle between points x and y. They are key objects in quantum field theories and via the LSZ reduction formula they can be used to compute observables such as S-matrix elements.

For a scalar field theory with a single field $\phi(x)$ and a vacuum state $|\Omega\rangle$ the *n*-point correlation function is the vacuum expectation value of the time-ordered products of *n* field operators in the Heisenberg picture

$$\langle \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) \rangle = \langle \Omega | T \{ \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) \} | \Omega \rangle, \qquad (2.1.13)$$

where $T \{...\}$ is the time-ordering operator which orders the field operators so that earlier time field operators appear to the right of later time field operators. Transforming the fields and states into the interaction picture, this is rewritten as

$$\langle \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) \rangle = \frac{\langle 0 | T\{\phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) e^{iS_I[\phi]}\} | 0 \rangle}{\langle 0 | e^{iS_I[\phi]} | 0 \rangle},$$
 (2.1.14)

where $|0\rangle$ is the ground state of the free theory and S_I is the part of the action that encodes the interaction

$$S_I = \int dt \ (-V_I) \,, \quad V_I = e^{iH_0 t} V e^{-iH_0 t}. \tag{2.1.15}$$

Expanding $e^{iS_I[\phi]}$ the *n*-point correlation function becomes a sum of correlation functions which can be evaluated using Wick's theorem. A diagrammatic way to represent the resulting sum is via Feynman diagrams where each term can be evaluated using the Feynman rules.

In terms of diagrams the previous equations can be written as

$$\langle \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) \rangle = \frac{(\text{sum of all vacuum bubble diagrams}) \times (\text{sum of all diagrams with no bubbles})}{(\text{sum of all vacuum bubble diagrams})}.$$
 (2.1.16)

The first terms cancels with the normalization factor in the denominator so the n-point correlation function is the sum of all Feynman diagrams excluding vacuum bubbles

$$\langle \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) \rangle = \langle 0 | T \left\{ \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) e^{iS[\phi]} \right\} | 0 \rangle_{\text{no bubbles}}.$$
(2.1.17)

This sum also include disconnected diagrams, which are diagrams where at least one external leg is not connected to all other external legs through some connected path. Excluding these disconnected diagrams instead defines connected n-point correlation functions

$$\langle \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) \rangle_c = \langle 0 | T \left\{ \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) e^{iS[\phi]} \right\} | 0 \rangle_{\text{connected}} .$$
(2.1.18)

These contain all the information that full correlation functions contain since any disconnected diagram is a product of connected diagrams.

In the path integral formulation, n-point correlation functions are written as

$$\langle \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) \rangle = \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\phi \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) e^{iS[\phi]}}{\int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{iS[\phi]}}.$$
(2.1.19)

They can be evaluated using the partition function Z[J]

$$Z[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{iS[\phi] + i \int d^d x J(x)\phi(x)}, \qquad (2.1.20)$$

where J(x) is the scalar field source current so the *n*-point correlation function can be computed as the functional derivative of the partition function with respect to the sources

$$\langle \phi(x_1), \dots, \phi(x_n) \rangle = (-i)^n \frac{1}{Z[J=0]} \left. \frac{\delta^n Z[J]}{\delta J(x_1) \dots \delta J(x_n)} \right|_{J=0}.$$
(2.1.21)

2.2 Large N Limit

Gauge theories like Yang-Mills theory with gauge group SU(N) allow a perturbative expansion in the computation of observables in powers of 1/N and simplify considerably in the limit when $N \to \infty$. This was first pointed out by 't Hooft in 1974 in [21] and it is called the large N limit. It provides us with a perturbative framework to study for example QCD where one extrapolates from the physical value for the number of colors, N = 3, to the limit $N \to \infty$.

The action for Yang-Mills theory with gauge group SU(N) is

$$S = -\frac{1}{2g_{YM}^2} \int d^4 x \text{Tr} \left(F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
 (2.2.1)

We define the 't Hooft coupling as

$$\lambda = g_{YM}^2 N, \qquad (2.2.2)$$

which will be kept fixed when taking the limit $N \to \infty$. So in terms of this new coupling the action (2.2.1) reads

$$S = -\frac{N}{2\lambda} \int d^4x \operatorname{Tr} \left(F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
(2.2.3)

In order to analyze Feynman diagrams at large N the double line notation will be used. As usual quarks will carry a color index i with i = 1, ..., N. On the other hand, gluons that usually are described by a single color index which takes the values $a = 1, ..., N^2 - 1$ will now be described by two indices j and k

$$A^a_\mu \to (A_\mu)^j_k \quad (A_\mu)^j_j = 0,$$
 (2.2.4)

where j, k = 1, ..., N so each gluon field is an $N \times N$ matrix.

The gluon propagator then reads

$$\left\langle A_{\mu j}^{i}\left(x\right)A_{\nu l}^{k}\left(y\right)\right\rangle = \Delta_{\mu\nu}\left(x-y\right)\left(\delta_{l}^{i}\delta_{j}^{k}-\frac{1}{N}\delta_{j}^{i}\delta_{l}^{k}\right),\tag{2.2.5}$$

where $\Delta_{\mu\nu}(x)$ is the usual Abelian gauge field propagator.

As we mentioned with this new notation the gauge fields carry two color indices so we can represent each gluon as if it was a quark-antiquark pair. A solid line is drawn for each color index. The Feynman diagram for the gluon propagator is shown in 2.2.1.



Figure 2.2.1: Gluon propagator in the double line notation.

The propagator scales as λ/N as can be read off from the action (2.2.3). Expanding the action we can obtain the cubix and quartic vertex, depicted in 2.2.2



Figure 2.2.2: Some vertices in the double line notation.

Where each vertex contributes with a factor of N/λ .

A general diagram consists of an arbitrary number of propagators, interactions vertices and color index loops so it will give a contribution

diagram
$$\sim \left(\frac{\lambda}{N}\right)^{\text{\#propagators}} \left(\frac{N}{\lambda}\right)^{\text{\#vertices}} (N)^{\text{\#color index loops}}.$$
 (2.2.6)

To illustrate this we will present some examples of diagrams in 2.2.3 and 2.2.4



Figure 2.2.3: Vacuum bubbles.



Figure 2.2.4: Gluon propagator.

In the first case, Figure 2.2.3 we have two vacuum bubbles both with one gluon exchange but with different color index loop structure. In the second case, Figure 2.2.4, we have the gluon propagator (a) and the gluon propagator with one loop correction (b). We see in both cases that the second diagram is supressed by a factor $1/N^2$ relative to the first so in the limit $N \to \infty$, while keeping the 't Hooft couplig λ fixed, the second ones will be sub-dominant. The dominant diagrams like Figure 2.2.3 (a) and Figure 2.2.4 (a) are called planar diagrams and the sub-dominant ones like Figure 2.2.3 (b) and Figure 2.2.4 (b) are called non-planar diagrams. So in the large N limit one only needs to sum over the planar diagrams.

Now we are going to explain why they are called planar and non-planar diagrams. The main idea is that the planar diagrams, like the one in 2.2.3(a), can be inscribed on the surface of a sphere as we see in Figure 2.2.5.



Figure 2.2.5: Planar diagram.

To recover the original diagram from the one depicted on the sphere one just needs to remove the bottom face of the sphere and proyect the remaining half on the plane.

On the other hand, non planar diagrams must be drawn on other kind of surfaces. As we see in Figure 2.2.6 the diagram depicted in 2.2.3 (b) must be inscribed on a torus instead on a sphere.



Figure 2.2.6: Non-planar diagram

Now we can introduce the Euler characteristic χ defined by

$$\chi = 2 - 2g - h, \tag{2.2.7}$$

being g the genus of the surface which corresponds to the number of handles and h the number of holes. In this case we are interested in closed surfaces where the diagrams can be inscribed so the relation (2.2.7) for the Euler characteristic reduces to

$$\chi = 2 - 2g. \tag{2.2.8}$$

In Figure 2.2.7 we show some surfaces and the corresponding values of g.



Figure 2.2.7: Examples of surfaces with different genus.

Then, given the genus of the surface where the diagram can be inscribed, its contribution which is weighted by its topology, can be computed in terms of the Euler characteristic as

diagram
$$\sim N^{\chi}$$
. (2.2.9)

Thus the large N expansion of any process may be written as

$$\sum_{g=0}^{\infty} N^{2-2g},$$
(2.2.10)

so the computation will be dominated by the surfaces of maximal χ or minimal genus.

We see that the large N limit of Yang-Mills consists of a sum over surfaces of different topologies, a feature also present in string pertubation theory where the sum is over the different topologies of the worldsheets. The scattering of two strings receives contributions from worldsheets of the form



Figure 2.2.8: Worldsheets corresponding to the contributions to the scattering of two strings.

where the Euler characteristic (or the genus) also plays an important role because the pertubative expansion of a process is given by the sum

$$\sum_{\text{topologies}} g_s^{-(2-2g)},\tag{2.2.11}$$

where g_s is the string coupling. Doing the comparison between (2.2.10) and (2.2.11) one can make the identification

$$g_s \sim \frac{1}{N},\tag{2.2.12}$$

so this suggests a relation between weakly coupled string theory and the large N limit of the Yang-Mills theory.

2.3 Chiral Perturbation Theory

QCD, the theory of strong interactions, consists of Yang-Mills gauge theory coupled to fermions. These fermions are known as quarks and they have six different flavors, each flavor having different mass. If we are interested in studying hadron physics at energies below ~ 1 GeV we can ignore the charm, bottom and top quarks. Also the masses of the up and down quarks are of few MeV which is much less than $\Lambda_{QCD} \sim 200$ MeV so we can make the approximation that those quarks are massless. So the remaining theory with only two flavors of quarks will exhibit a global $U(2) \times U(2)$ global symmetry in addition to the SU(3) color gauge symmetry. This symmetry is often denoted as $U(2)_L \times U(2)_R$ and treats the left- and right-handed fields differently and is known as chiral symmetry. Most of this content is based on [22] and for reviews on this topic see [2], [23], [24].

Gauge theories with massless fermions exhibit chiral symmetry as we mentioned, under this symmetry one can rotate the left-handed and the right-handed components of the fields independently and the theory remains the same, this is described by the transformation

$$q_L \to e^{i\theta_L} q_L, \quad q_R \to q_R,$$
 (2.3.1)

or

$$q_L \to q_L, \quad q_R \to e^{i\theta_R} q_R.$$
 (2.3.2)

The fermionic part of the Lagrangian of that theory reads in the general case when the theory has N_f flavors of fermions

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} i \bar{q}_i \mathcal{D} q_i, \qquad (2.3.3)$$

where $Dq = \partial q - i\gamma^{\mu}A_{\mu}q$. Here $i = 1, ..., N_f$ labels the species of quark and it is referred as a flavor index. The theory symmetry group is manifest when we decompose the fermionic kinetic terms into left-handed and right-handed parts

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N_f} i\bar{q}_i \mathcal{D}q_i = \sum_{i=1}^{N_f} i\bar{q}_{i_L} \mathcal{D}q_{i_L} + i\bar{q}_{i_R} \mathcal{D}q_{i_R}.$$
(2.3.4)

The symmetry of the Lagrangian is given by the $U(N_f)_L \times U(N_f)_R$ symmetry group. It can be divided into the diagonal and off-diagonal components, the first one treats the left-handed and the right-handed parts equally and its known as vector symmetry $U(N_f)_V$ and the second one treats them differently and is know as axial symmetry $U(N_f)_A$. The flavor can be decomposed into¹

$$SU(N_f)_L \times SU(N_f)_R \times U(1)_V \times U(1)_A, \qquad (2.3.5)$$

where the vector symmetry $U(1)_V$ acts as

$$q_L \to e^{i\theta_L} q_L, \quad q_R \to e^{i\theta_R} q_R, \quad \theta_L = \theta_R = \theta_V$$
 (2.3.6)

and the axial group $U(1)_A$ transforms the fermions as

$$q_L \to e^{i\theta_L} q_L, \quad q_R \to e^{i\theta_R} q_R, \quad \theta_L = -\theta_R = \theta_A.$$
 (2.3.7)

Where the current associated to the axial symmetry is not conserved by quantum effects so the symmetry is said to be anomalous.

The non-Abelian symmetry, $SU(N_f)_L \times SU(N_f)_R$, turns out to be spontaneously broken by the formation of the quark condensate giving the following breaking pattern

$$SU(N_f)_L \times SU(N_f)_R \to SU(N_f)_V.$$
 (2.3.8)

This means that, although the Lagrangian is invariant, the vacuum is not. There is a quark condensate

$$\langle 0 | \, \bar{q}_R q_L \, | 0 \rangle \neq 0. \tag{2.3.9}$$

The existence of quark condensate is telling us that the vacuum of space is populated by quark-anti-quark pairs.

¹Actually it can be decomposed as $U(N_f) = \left(SU(N_f) \times U(1)\right) / \mathbb{Z}_{N_f}$.

The Nambu-Goldstone bosons associated to the broken $SU(N_f)$ axial symmetry are the pions. Massless particles formed by bound states of the original quarks. There are $N_f^2 - 1$ Goldstone bosons, one for each broken generator of the symmetry.

We would like to understand the dynamics of the Goldstone modes. In the case of a generic number of flavors N_f the pions can be parametrized by a $SU(N_f)$ matrix Σ that reads

$$\Sigma = \exp\left(\frac{i}{f_{\pi}}\pi \cdot T\right) = \exp\left(\frac{i}{f_{\pi}}\pi^{a}T^{a}\right), \qquad (2.3.10)$$

where T^a are the generators of the $SU(N_f)$ and the component fields π^a , labeled $a = 1, \ldots, N_f^2 - 1$, are the pions.

At low energies the form of the action is entirely determined by the symmetries of the theory which is invariant under

$$SU(N_f)_L \times SU(N_f)_R,$$

$$(2.3.11)$$

and the $\Sigma(x)$ field transforms under this symmetry as

$$\Sigma \longrightarrow U_L \Sigma U_R^{\dagger}. \tag{2.3.12}$$

At leading order in a derivative expansion the most general Lagrangian is given by a single term that describes the dynamics of pions

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{f_{\pi}^2}{4} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \right), \qquad (2.3.13)$$

which is the chiral Lagrangian. This Lagrangian contains an infinite number of interaction terms packaged in a simple form by the demands of symmetry. These interactions can be seen more explicitly rewriting it in terms of the pion fields, at quartic order reads

$$\mathcal{L} = -\mathrm{Tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\pi}\cdot\partial^{\mu}\boldsymbol{\pi}\right) - \frac{2}{3f_{\pi}^{2}}\mathrm{Tr}\left(\left(\boldsymbol{\pi}\cdot\partial_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\pi}\right)^{2} - \boldsymbol{\pi}\cdot\boldsymbol{\pi}\left(\partial_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\pi}\cdot\partial^{\mu}\boldsymbol{\pi}\right)\right) + \dots, \qquad (2.3.14)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\pi} = \pi^a T^a$.

To lowest order it suffices to use the Lagrangian (2.3.13) but we can include higher derivative terms in it. At next order the Lagrangian introduces new parameters L_i which must be determined from experiment and the standard name for them is low energy constants or LECs. The new Lagrangian can involve four derivative interactions, there are four possible independent chiral-invariant terms with four derivatives

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial^{\mu}\Sigma\partial_{\nu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial^{\nu}\Sigma\right), \quad \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial_{\nu}\Sigma\right)^{2}\right), \\
\left(\operatorname{Tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial_{\nu}\Sigma\right)\right)^{2}, \quad \left(\operatorname{Tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial^{\mu}\Sigma\right)\right)^{2}.$$
(2.3.15)

So the chiral lagrangian up to fourth order is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{f_{\pi}^{2}}{4} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \right) + L_{1} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \right) \right)^{2} + L_{2} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial_{\nu} \Sigma \right) \right)^{2} + L_{3} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \partial_{\nu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\nu} \Sigma \right) + \tilde{L}_{3} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial_{\nu} \Sigma \right)^{2} \right).$$

$$(2.3.16)$$

In the case of SU(3) these expressions are not linearly independent, it can be shown that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial_{\nu}\Sigma\right)^{2}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\left(\operatorname{Tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial^{\mu}\Sigma\right)\right)^{2} + \left(\operatorname{Tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial_{\nu}\Sigma\right)\right)^{2} - 2\operatorname{Tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial^{\mu}\Sigma\partial_{\nu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial^{\nu}\Sigma\right), \quad (2.3.17)$$

leaving only three independent terms. Then the SU(3) chiral Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{f_{\pi}}{4}^{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \right) + L_{1} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \right) \right)^{2} L_{2} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial_{\nu} \Sigma \right) \right)^{2} + \tilde{L}_{3} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial_{\nu} \Sigma \right)^{2} \right).$$
(2.3.18)

Finally, considering two massless quarks, $N_f = 2$, the symmetry of the Lagrangian will be given by a $U(2)_L \times U(2)_R$ symmetry group which can be decomposed into

$$SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \times U(1)_V \times U(1)_A,$$
 (2.3.19)

and the breaking pattern of the chiral part will be

$$SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \to SU(2)_V.$$
 (2.3.20)

Then the Goldstone bosons corresponding to the three broken generators of the $SU(2)_A$ symmetry are the three pions. In the real world, because of the non-vanishing and differing masses of the quarks, $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R$, is only an approximate symmetry and therefore the pions are not massless and they are pseudo-Goldstone bosons. Being $T^a = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^a$ the SU(2) generators the Lagrangian 2.3.14 reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{int} = -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\pi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\pi - \frac{1}{6f_{\pi}^{2}}\left(\left(\partial_{\mu}\pi \cdot \pi\right)^{2} - \pi \cdot \pi \left(\partial_{\mu}\pi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\pi\right)\right).$$
(2.3.21)

In the SU(2) case , we have another identity

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial_{\nu}\Sigma\right)^{2}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\left(\operatorname{Tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\Sigma^{\dagger}\partial^{\mu}\Sigma\right)\right)^{2},\qquad(2.3.22)$$

so the Lagrangian with quartic derivative interactions reads

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{f_{\pi}}{4}^{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \right) + L_{1} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \right) \right)^{2} + L_{2} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial_{\nu} \Sigma \right) \right)^{2}.$$
(2.3.23)

Then the lagrangian expanded to fourth order in the pion field and derivatives is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\pi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\pi - \frac{1}{6f_{\pi}^{2}}\left(\left(\partial_{\mu}\pi \cdot \pi\right)^{2} - \pi \cdot \pi \left(\partial_{\mu}\pi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\pi\right)\right) + \frac{4L_{1}}{f_{\pi}^{4}}\left(\partial_{\mu}\pi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\pi\right)^{2} + \frac{4L_{2}}{f_{\pi}^{4}}\left(\partial_{\mu}\pi \cdot \partial_{\nu}\pi\right)^{2} + O(\partial^{2}\pi^{6}).$$
(2.3.24)

2.3.1 Axial current

The axial current can be obtained by first adding gauge fields for the right-handed and left-handed symmetries by promoting the derivative to a covariant derivative with the left-handed and right-handed gauge fields L_{μ} and R_{μ}

$$\partial_{\mu}\Sigma \longrightarrow D_{\mu}\Sigma = \partial_{\mu}\Sigma + iL_{\mu}\Sigma - i\Sigma R_{\mu} . \qquad (2.3.25)$$

Considering the SU(2) generators $\tau^a = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^a$, a = 1, 2, 3, with σ^a the Pauli matrices, the components of the left-handed and right-handed currents are

$$J_{L}^{a\mu} = \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta L_{\mu}^{a}} = -\frac{if_{\pi}^{2}}{4} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\Sigma \partial^{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} - \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \Sigma^{\dagger}\right) \tau^{a}\right) + O(\partial^{3})$$

$$J_{R}^{a\mu} = \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta R_{\mu}^{a}} = \frac{if_{\pi}^{2}}{4} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\partial^{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \Sigma - \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma\right) \tau^{a}\right) + O(\partial^{3}) .$$
(2.3.26)

Using the pion field exponential parametrization (2.3.10) the axial current in this case is

$$J_{5}^{a\mu} = J_{L}^{a\mu} - J_{R}^{a\mu} = -f_{\pi}\partial^{\mu}\pi^{a} + \frac{2}{3f_{\pi}}\left((\boldsymbol{\pi}\cdot\boldsymbol{\pi})\partial^{\mu}\pi^{a} - \frac{1}{2}\partial^{\mu}(\boldsymbol{\pi}\cdot\boldsymbol{\pi})\pi^{a}\right) + \dots$$
(2.3.27)

2.3.2 Chiral lagrangian in the large N limit

After presenting the basic features of the large N limit in Yang-Mills theories with gauge group SU(N) it is relevant to mention what happens when we apply this limit to the chiral theory.

We saw that in the case of arbitrary number of flavors the chiral lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{f_{\pi}^{2}}{4} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \right) + L_{1} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \right) \right)^{2} + L_{2} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial_{\nu} \Sigma \right) \right)^{2} + L_{3} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\mu} \Sigma \partial_{\nu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial^{\nu} \Sigma \right) + \tilde{L}_{3} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(\partial_{\mu} \Sigma^{\dagger} \partial_{\nu} \Sigma \right)^{2} \right).$$

$$(2.3.28)$$

This lagrangian presents terms with different numbers of traces taken over flavor indices. Each trace corresponds to a quark loop which contributes with a factor 1/N to the given diagram. In the large N limit, terms with two traces will be supressed relative to those with only one trace. Then the dominant terms in (2.3.28) are the single trace terms so in the large N limit, for arbitrary number of flavors, the lagrangian can be reduced to

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_0 + L_3^{SU(N_f)} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_\mu \Sigma^\dagger \partial^\mu \Sigma \partial_\nu \Sigma^\dagger \partial^\nu \Sigma \right) + \tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(\partial_\mu \Sigma^\dagger \partial_\nu \Sigma \right)^2 \right).$$
(2.3.29)

Where the large- N_c scaling of the coefficients is $f_{\pi}^2 \sim L_i \sim N_c$ [25]. The relation between the coefficients in (2.3.29) and the ones in lagrangians (2.3.18) and (2.3.23), for $N_f = 3$ and $N_f = 2$ respectively, can be obtained using (2.3.17) and (2.3.22) giving

$$L_1^{SU(3)} = \frac{1}{2}\tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)}, \ L_2^{SU(3)} = \tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)} \ L_3^{SU(3)} = L_3^{SU(N_f)} - 2\tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)},$$
(2.3.30)

and

$$L_1^{SU(2)} = \frac{L_3^{SU(N_f)} - \tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)}}{2}, \ L_2^{SU(2)} = \tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)}.$$
(2.3.31)

2.3.3 Pion scattering amplitude

Let us now discuss how the scattering amplitude can be extracted from the pion lagrangian (2.3.24) when $N_f = 2$ and $N_c \to \infty$. The elastic scattering amplitude for two pions

$$\pi^a(p_a) + \pi^b(p_b) \longrightarrow \pi^c(p_c) + \pi^d(p_d)$$
(2.3.32)

is given by the T-matrix element

$$\mathcal{T}_{ab,cd} = (2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)} (p_a + p_b - p_c - p_d) \mathcal{M}_{ab,cd} .$$
(2.3.33)

The function \mathcal{M} is determined by a single scalar function A(s, t, u) = A(s, u, t) defined by the isospin decomposition (see, *e.g.*, [23,[26,[27]])

$$\mathcal{M}_{ab,cd} = \delta_{ab}\delta_{cd}A(s,t,u) + \delta_{ac}\delta_{bd}A(t,s,u) + \delta_{ad}\delta_{bc}A(u,t,s) , \qquad (2.3.34)$$

where s, t, u are the Mandelstam variables

$$s = -(p_a + p_b)^2$$
, $t = -(p_a - p_c)^2$, $u = -(p_a - p_d)^2$. (2.3.35)

These variables encode the different scattering processes and correspond to the three channels as depicted in Fig. 2.3.1. At $O(p^4)$, the original derivation by Weinberg produces at tree level [28, 29]

$$A(s,t,u) = \frac{s}{f_{\pi}^2} + \frac{8L_1}{f_{\pi}^4} s^2 + \frac{4L_2}{f_{\pi}^4} (t^2 + u^2) . \qquad (2.3.36)$$

For massless pions there are additional logarithmic contributions to the amplitude that are introduced by pion loop corrections. The relevant pion diagram has two quartic vertices with two derivatives, that from the pion Lagrangian (2.3.24) have a large- N_c scaling $\sim 1/f_{\pi}^4 \sim 1/N_c^2$. The tree-level contributions on the other hand have a scaling $\sim L_i/f_{\pi}^4 \sim 1/N_c$. Therefore, in the large- N_c limit the pion loop contributions are relatively suppressed. The same statement applies to other meson loop corrections, they are suppressed in the large- N_c limit.



Figure 2.3.1: The three kinematically non-identical 2-to-2 elastic scattering processes. All propagating particles are pions, hence all legs are represented by dashed lines. Left: s-channel, Middle: t-channel, and Right: u-channel.

In order to compare to gauge/gravity models we will consider the axial current correlators for values of the momenta where the pions are on-shell. We start with the two-point function of the axial current, which will be proportional to the pion propagator²

$$\left\langle J_5^{a\mu}(-p)J_5^{b\nu}(p)\right\rangle \underset{p^2 \to 0}{\approx} f_\pi^2 p^\mu p^\nu \left\langle \pi^a(-p)\pi^b(p)\right\rangle = -if_\pi^2 \delta^{ab} \frac{p^\mu p^\nu}{p^2} .$$
(2.3.37)

²In principle there are additional terms depending on the pion field in (2.3.27) that introduce pion loop corrections to the axial current correlator, however, as for the scattering amplitude, these are suppressed in the large- N_c limit.

This leads to the Ward identity for current conservation

$$-ip_{\mu}\left\langle J_{5}^{a\mu}(-p)J_{5}^{b\nu}(p)\right\rangle \underset{p^{2}\to0}{\approx} -f_{\pi}^{2}p^{\nu}\delta^{ab} .$$
(2.3.38)

However, in the absence of an anomaly and quark masses, the axial current must be conserved and one would have expected this Ward identity to vanish. As we will see, this issue is solved in the holographic model when the two-point function correlator is computed and we find a vanishing value (see 6.5.8). The reason is that there is missing contact term in landing on (2.3.38) whose origin could be understood from contributions to the axial current other than the gradient of the pion field.

Similarly, the four-point function of the axial current will be proportional to the one of the pions

$$\left\langle J_5^{a\mu_a}(p_a) J_5^{b\mu_b}(p_b) J_5^{c\mu_c}(-p_c) J_5^{d\mu_d}(-p_d) \right\rangle \underset{p_i^2 \to 0}{\approx} f_\pi^4 p_a^{\mu_a} p_b^{\mu_b} p_c^{\mu_c} p_d^{\mu_d} \left\langle \pi^a(p_a) \pi^b(p_b) \pi^c(-p_c) \pi^d(-p_d) \right\rangle .$$
(2.3.39)

From the pion correlator we are interested just in the leading pole contribution, which gives us the pion scattering amplitude through the LSZ reduction formula

$$\left\langle \pi^{a}(p_{a})\pi^{b}(p_{b})\pi^{c}(-p_{c})\pi^{d}(-p_{d})\right\rangle \underset{p_{i}^{2}\to0}{\approx} (2\pi)^{4}\delta^{(4)}(p_{a}+p_{b}-p_{c}-p_{d})\frac{i\mathcal{M}_{ab,cd}}{p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}p_{c}^{2}p_{d}^{2}},$$
(2.3.40)

where $\mathcal{M}_{ab,cd}$ in this expression is the amplitude (2.3.34).

2.3.4 Vector boson contributions

Our discussion thus far has been focusing on the chiral effective action at low energies, where heavier mesons have been integrated out 3 Whether the vector bosons have been integrated out or not affects the value of the LECs in the pion action. Namely, starting from an action

$$\mathcal{L}_{UV} = \mathcal{L}_{\pi}(f_{\pi}, L_1, L_2) + \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}} , \qquad (2.3.41)$$

where $\mathcal{L}_{\pi}(f_{\pi}, L_1, L_2)$ is (2.3.23) with the coefficients f_{π}, L_1 , and L_2 and the last term $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}}$ is the action for the vector bosons. At sufficiently low energies, the vector bosons can be integrated out, resulting in an action that only contains the pions but with modified coefficients

$$\mathcal{L}_{IR} = \mathcal{L}_{\pi}(\hat{f}_{\pi}, \hat{L}_1, \hat{L}_2) . \tag{2.3.42}$$

Let us show this explicitly for the case when the structure of the effective action follows the Hidden Local Symmetry (HLS) approach [30,31], which is commonly discussed in the context of holographic models, where it arises from gauge symmetries in the gravity dual.

In the HLS approach the pion matrix is factorized

$$\Sigma(x) = \xi_L^{\dagger}(x)\xi_R(x) . \qquad (2.3.43)$$

In addition to the left- and right-moving flavor symmetries there is an emergent gauge symmetry, so that the fields $\xi_{L,R}$ transform as

$$\xi_L(x) \to h(x)\xi_L(x)U_L^{\dagger} , \ \xi_R(x) \to h(x)\xi_R(x)U_R^{\dagger} .$$

$$(2.3.44)$$

The massive vector boson is identified with the gauge field for the hidden symmetry and the form of the action is constrained by demanding local gauge invariance. The HLS action is directly related to the non-linear realization of local chiral transformations introduced by Weinberg 32 by going to the unitary gauge (see, *e.g.*, 31)

$$\xi_L^{\dagger}(x) = \xi_R(x) = e^{\frac{i\pi^a(x)}{f\pi}\frac{\sigma^a}{2}} .$$
(2.3.45)

Let us denote $V_{\mu} = V_{\mu}^{a}\sigma^{a}$ as the gauge field associated to the vector boson and $V_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}V_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}V_{\mu} + gV_{\mu} \times V_{\nu}$ as its field strength with g an effective gauge coupling. In addition to the terms shown in (2.3.24), the effective action has the vector boson contributions

$$\mathcal{L}_{V} = -\frac{1}{4} \boldsymbol{V}_{\mu\nu} \cdot \boldsymbol{V}^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} m_{V}^{2} \left(\boldsymbol{V}_{\mu} - \frac{g_{V\pi\pi}}{m_{V}^{2}} \boldsymbol{\pi} \times \partial_{\mu} \boldsymbol{\pi} \right)^{2} , \qquad (2.3.46)$$

 $^{^{3}}$ However, in most holographic examples the effective action includes massive vector bosons coupled to the pions.

where m_V is the mass of the vector boson and $g_{V\pi\pi}$ is the coupling to the pion field. The expansion of the invariant mass term for the vector boson includes a cubic coupling with the pions and a $O(\partial^2 \pi^4)$ coupling of the same form as the terms shown in the first line of (2.3.24) ⁴/₄ see, *e.g.*, 31,33. However, in the pion scattering amplitude this additional vertex contribution is canceled out by the leading contribution from vector boson exchange, so the $O(p^2)$ pion scattering amplitude does not change. In general, there can be vector bosons transforming as adjoint fields of the chiral symmetry with different couplings where this cancelation does not happen, and additional couplings to the vector bosons that appear at $O(p^4)$ and so can also affect the amplitude.

There are, however, $O(p^4)$ contributions that add up to the contributions shown in (2.3.36). The tree-level contribution to the pion scattering amplitude from the vector meson exchange has the form [34,35]

$$A_V(s,t,u) = \frac{g_{V\pi\pi}^2}{m_V^2} \left[\frac{t(s-u)}{m_V^2 - t} + \frac{u(s-t)}{m_V^2 - u} \right] .$$
(2.3.47)

Expanding for small momenta $m_V^4 \gg s^2, t^2, u^2$, and using the fact that here the pions are massless particles yields

$$s(t+u) = -s^2, \quad 2ut = s^2 - t^2 - u^2.$$
 (2.3.48)

Therefore, the vector boson contribution to the low energy scattering amplitude reduces to

$$A_V(s,t,u) = \frac{g_{V\pi\pi}^2}{m_V^4} \left[t^2 + u^2 - 2s^2 \right] .$$
(2.3.49)

We can compare this expression with Weinberg's amplitude (2.3.36). We see that these contributions can be added to terms with the same dependence in the momentum, in such a way that one obtains effective values of the LECs that are shifted $L_i \rightarrow \hat{L}_i = L_i + \Delta L_i^V$ at energies below the vector meson mass. Therefore, integrating out the massive vector boson will shift the LECs of the chiral Lagrangian (2.3.24) to

$$\Delta L_2^V = -\Delta L_1^V = \frac{f_\pi^4}{4} \frac{g_{V\pi\pi}^2}{m_V^4} \,. \tag{2.3.50}$$

Furthermore, one could have several massive vector bosons $V_{i\mu}$, i = 1, 2, ... with similar couplings to the pions, in this case the shift in the LECs will have contributions from all of them

$$\Delta L_2^V = -\Delta L_1^V = \frac{f_\pi^4}{4} \sum_i \frac{g_{V_i \pi \pi}^2}{m_{V_i}^4} \ . \tag{2.3.51}$$

We could be in a situation in which the LECs in the pion action vanish or are much smaller than the vector boson contribution. In this case, after integrating out the vector bosons, the LECs would automatically satisfy the relation $\hat{L}_2 = -\hat{L}_1$, which corresponds to the Skyrme model 36-38. An $O(p^4)$ coupling between the vector boson and the pions

$$\sim z_4 \, V^{\mu\nu} \cdot \partial_\mu \pi \times \partial_
u \pi \;,$$
 (2.3.52)

does not modify this relation, see (4.38) of [33], where z_4 is introduced in (4.27).

 $^{^{4}}$ Any additional free parameters in the HLS model are absorbed in the coefficients of the gauge-fixed effective action in such a way that the HLS model is equivalent to the non-linear sigma model for tree-level on-shell amplitudes

Chapter 3

AdS/CFT Correspondence

3.1 The Correspondence

The AdS/CFT correspondence is one of the best understood examples of the gauge/gravity duality. Originally proposed by Maldacena in 1997 in 10 and also in 39,40, it brings together aspects of string theory, quantum field theory and general relativity. Also, it is a very useful tool to understand strongly coupled quantum field theories. This correspondence establishes a duality between string theories, which are gravitational theories and quantum field theories without gravity, it relates strongly coupled quantum field theories to classical gravity theories, which are way more tractable than the former ones. The quantum field theory can be interpreted as living in the boundary of spacetime, for this reason the correspondence is also referred to as holography. A remarkable scientific implication of this is that we can study and understand the dynamics of strongly coupled theories through gravity, something that is not accessible by the usual perturbative methods in quantum field theory. So it can be applied to strongly coupled sistems such as low energy quantum chromodynamics, the theory of strong interactions in the Standard Model. The content of this chapter is mainly based on 41. Here we will present the correspondence itselft and how it is derived from string theory. We will also explore the relation between gravity fields and operators, the matching symmetries of both theories and finally we will ilustrate how is the holographic computation of correlations functions in the case of scalar fields.

We will see how the correspondence arises in the context of string theory, more precisely the connection between type IIB string theory compactified on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills theory.

Starting with the type IIB string theory setup, we consider a stack of N parallel D3 branes in ten dimensional Minkowski space which are sitting very closed to each other. String theory on this background contains two kinds of perturbative excitations, closed and open strings. The closed strings are the excitations moving through all space and the open strings are excitations of the D-branes on which the string ends. This perturbative scenario is valid when

$$g_{YM}^2 N \sim g_s N \ll 1.$$
 (3.1.1)

At low energies, $E < 1/l_s$, only massless string states can be excited. The massless closed strings are described by the low-energy effective Lagrangian of type IIB supergravity and the massless open strings are described by the low-energy effective Lagrangian of $\mathcal{N} = 4 U(N)$ super-Yang-Mills theory. The complete effective action of the massless modes will have the form

$$S = S_{bulk} + S_{brane} + S_{int}.$$
(3.1.2)

 S_{bulk} is the action of ten dimensional supergravity, the brane action S_{brane} is defined on the (3+1) dimensional brane worldvolume and contains the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills Lagrangian and S_{int} describes the interactions between the brane modes and the bulk modes.

The action of the closed strings is the action of ten dimensional supergravity and schematically reads

$$S_{bulk} = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int d^{10}x \sqrt{-g} e^{-2\phi} \left(R + 4\partial_M \phi \partial^M \phi \right) + \dots, \qquad (3.1.3)$$

with M = 0, 1, ..., 9. Where g_{AB} is the metric, ϕ the dilaton, R the curvature scalar and $\kappa \propto g_s \alpha'^2$. Expanding the metric as $g_{AB} = \eta_{AB} + \kappa h_{AB}$, being h_{AB} the metric fluctuations, we get at lowest order in h_{AB}

$$S_{bulk} \sim -\frac{1}{2} \int d^{10}x \partial_M h_{AB} \partial^M h^{AB} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa) \,. \tag{3.1.4}$$

The actions S_{brane} and S_{int} are derived from the DBI action. Performing an expansion of $e^{-\phi}$ and $g_{AB} = \eta_{AB} + \kappa h_{AB}$, they read at leading order in α'

$$S_{brane} = -\frac{1}{2\pi g_s} \int d^4 x \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \sum_i D_\mu \phi^i D^\mu \phi^i + \frac{1}{2\pi g_s} \sum_{ij} \left[\phi^i, \phi^j \right]^2 + \mathcal{O} \left(\alpha' \right) \right),$$
(3.1.5)

$$S_{int} = -\frac{\kappa}{8\pi g_s} \int d^4x \phi F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + \dots$$
(3.1.6)

Where the scalars and gauge fields are $\phi^i = \phi^{ia}T^a$ and $A_\mu = A^a_\mu T^a$. Then we take the limit $\alpha' \to 0$. The $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ terms in S_{brane} vanish so it becomes the bosonic part of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills theory action. Making the identification

$$2\pi g_s = g_{YM}^2. (3.1.7)$$

Also since $\kappa \propto \alpha'^2$, this limit also implies $\kappa \to 0$ so the $\mathcal{O}(\kappa)$ terms in S_{bulk} vanish so the remaining part is just the action of free supergravity in ten dimensional Minkowski space. Finally S_{int} which is of order κ vanishes for $\alpha' \to 0$ yielding to the decoupling of open and closed strings.

Summarising, in the low energy limit the D3-brane setup consists of closed strings propagating in the bulk and open strings which are excitations of the brane, being the open and closed modes both massless. Then by taking the limit $\alpha' \to 0$ both kinds of strings decouple from each other and we end with $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills theory describing the dynamics of the open strings and the closed strings are effectively described by supergravity in ten dimensional Minkowski space as shown in [3.1.1]



Figure 3.1.1: String setup in the perturbative limit.

In order to get to the other side of the correspondence one needs to change the perspective from which the setup is considered. Now we consider the D-branes as massive charged objects. The D3-branes are a solution of the supergravity equations of motion that reads

$$ds^{2} = f^{-1/2} \left(-dt^{2} + dx_{1}^{2} + dx_{2}^{2} + dx_{3}^{2} \right) + f^{1/2} \left(dr^{2} + r^{2} d\Omega_{5}^{2} \right), \qquad (3.1.8)$$

$$f = 1 + \frac{L^4}{r^4}, \quad L^4 \equiv 4\pi g_s \alpha'^2 N.$$
 (3.1.9)

The classical supergravity description is only valid when the radius of curvature L becomes large compared to the string length

$$\frac{L^4}{l_s^4} \sim g_s N \sim g_{YM}^2 N \gg 1.$$
(3.1.10)

This background consists of two different regions depending on the value of r. If $r \gg L$ the function f can be approximated by $f \sim 1$ so the metric (3.1.8) reduces to ten dimensional flat spacetime. On the other hand if $r \ll L$ the function f is given by $f \sim R^4/r^4$ so the metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = \frac{r^{2}}{L^{2}} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + \frac{L^{2}}{r^{2}} dr^{2} + L^{2} d\Omega_{5}^{2}, \qquad (3.1.11)$$

which is the geometry of $AdS_5 \times S^5$. Introducing a new coordinate $z = L^2/r$ the metric reads

$$ds^{2} = \frac{L^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(\eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + dz^{2} \right) + L^{2} d\Omega_{5}^{2}.$$
(3.1.12)

So now the conformal boundary is located at z = 0.

We will have closed strings propagating in two regions of spacetime, some propagating in ten dimensional Minkowski space and others propagating in the near horizon region of the branes whose geometry corresponds to $AdS_5 \times S^5$. Taking the limit $\alpha' \to 0$ the closed strings living in the two different regions decouple from each other. This is because the excitations that live very close to r = 0 can't escape the gravitational potential and propagate in the asymptotic region. So in the low energy limit we can have closed strings propagating in flat spacetime described by type IIB supergravity and closed strings propagating in the near horizon region described by the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ solution of IIB supergravity being both types of closed strings decoupled from each other as depicted in **3.1.2**



Figure 3.1.2: String setup in the supergravity limit.

From both perspectives we end with two decoupled theories in the low energy limit . In both cases one of the decoupled systems is supergravity in flat space so the correspondence identifies the second system that appears in both descriptions leading to the conjecture that $\mathcal{N} = 4 U(N)$ super-Yang-Mills theory in 3+1 dimensions is dual to type IIB superstring theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$.

This is summarised in the table (3.1.1)

$\bullet g_s N \ll 1$.	$ \begin{cases} \mathcal{N} = 4 \text{ Super Yang-Mills on } \mathbb{R}^{3,1} \\ \text{Type IIB Supergravity on } \mathbb{R}^{9,1} \end{cases} $
• $g_s N \gg 1$.	Type IIB Supergravity on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ Type IIB Supergravity on $\mathbb{R}^{9,1}$



3.1.1 Field/Operator Dictionary

The AdS/CFT correspondence establishes a one-to-one relation between operators in $\mathcal{N} = 4 U(N)$ super-Yang-Mills theory and the fields of type IIB string theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$. This field-operator map allows the AdS/CFT correspondence to be formulated as relation between generating functionals in field theory and supergravity.

The dictionary is formulated in the following way, the generating functional $W\left[\phi_{(0)}\right]$ for the Green's functions of the conformal field theory living on the *d*-dimensional boundary of the (d+1)-dimensional AdS space is given in terms of the fields $\phi_{(0)}$ which play the role of the sources of the operators \mathcal{O} and the field theory partition function $Z\left[\phi_{(0)}\right]$ reads

$$Z_{gauge}\left[\phi_{(0)}\right] = e^{-W\left[\phi_{(0)}\right]} = \left\langle \exp\left(\int d^d x \phi_{(0)}\left(x\right) \mathcal{O}\left(x\right)\right) \right\rangle_{CFT}.$$
(3.1.13)

On the other hand, the AdS side of the duality is governed by the supergravity action $S_{sugra}[\phi]$, where the ϕ fields live in the five-dimensional Anti-de Sitter spacetime and the gravity partition function reads

$$Z_{sugra}\left[\phi\right] = e^{-S_{sugra}\left[\phi\right]}.\tag{3.1.14}$$

The AdS/CFT conjecture states that the classical supergravity action is the generating functional for the field theory Green's function of operators \mathcal{O} . The relation is

$$W\left[\phi_{(0)}\right] = S_{sugra}\left[\phi\right]|_{\lim_{z \to 0} \phi(x,z) \sim \phi_{(0)}(x)}.$$
(3.1.15)

So the field theory generating functional is identified with the supergravity classical action where the ϕ fields take the boundary values $\phi_{(0)}$.

In the strongest form of the correspondence, *i.e.* for any value of N and g_s , the partition function of the gravity side will be the one of type IIB string theory. Then, the correspondence states that

$$Z_{string}\left[\phi_{(0)}\right] = \left\langle \exp\left(\int d^d x \phi_{(0)}\left(x\right) \mathcal{O}\left(x\right)\right) \right\rangle_{CFT}.$$
(3.1.16)

With Z_{string} not known explicitly.

3.1.2 Dictionary of Symmetries

We saw that the AdS/CFT correspondence is a strong/weak coupling duality. In the large N limit it relates the region of weak field theory coupling $\lambda = g_{YM}^2 N$ in the SYM theory to the region of high curvature in string theory and vice versa. One of the properties of these theories that do not depend on the coupling are the symmetries so they can be compared to test the duality.

Let us examine more closely the matching of symmetries on both sides of the correspondence. The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super Yang-Mills theory is invariant under $SO(4, 2) \times SO(6)$, understood as the four-dimensional conformal group times the R-symmetry of the theory. It preserves $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry so there are sixteen supercharges and is also conformal so in addition there are sixteen superconformal supercharges. All of these symmetries form the supergroup PSU(2, 2|4) under which $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super Yang-Mills theory is invariant. The bosonic subgroup of PSU(2, 2|4) is given by $SU(2, 2) \sim SO(4, 2)$ and $SU(4) \sim SO(6)$ and the fermionic part is generated by the supercharges and the superconformal supercharges.

In the string theory side on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ we have the isometry groups of AdS_5 and S^5 which are given by SO(4, 2)and SO(6) respectively. These coincide with the bosonic subgroup of PSU(2, 2|4). $AdS_5 \times S^5$ is a maximally supersymmetric solution of type IIB string theory so it has 32 Killing spinors which generate the fermionic isometries. Also these coincide with the fermionic component of PSU(2, 2|4). So string theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ preserves PSU(2, 2|4) symmetry.

We see then that the global symmetry groups on both sides of the correspondence agree. In the field theory sixteen ordinary supersymmetries as well as sixteen special conformal supersymmetries match with the isometries generated by the 32 Killing spinors of $AdS_5 \times S^5$. So we conclude that the symmetries of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super Yang-Mills theory in flat spacetime and of type IIB string theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ match.

3.1.3 Correlation Functions

We saw in 3.1.1 that there is a map between the generating functional of the field theory and the supergravity action. This relation is the starting point for the holographic calculation of correlation functions of gauge invariant operators. As we explained for each operator \mathcal{O}_i on the field theory side exists a corresponding source $\phi_{(0)}^i$. In order

to obtain correlation functions from the generating functional $W\left[\phi_{(0)}^{i}\right]$ one has to take derivatives with respect to the sources $\phi_{(0)}^{i}$ as follows

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{1}(x_{1}) \mathcal{O}_{2}(x_{2}) \dots \mathcal{O}_{n}(x_{n}) \rangle_{CFT} = - \left. \frac{\delta^{n} W}{\delta \phi_{(0)}^{1}(x_{1}) \, \delta \phi_{(0)}^{2}(x_{2}) \dots \delta \phi_{(0)}^{n}(x_{n})} \right|_{\phi_{(0)}^{i} = 0}.$$
(3.1.17)

The main technical idea behind the AdS/CFT correspondence is that the boundary values of supergravity fields act as sources for gauge invariant operators in the field theory so each operator \mathcal{O}_i corresponds to a supergravity field $\phi^i(x, z)$. We will write the bulk fields generically as $\phi^i(x, z)$ with value proportional to $\phi^i_{(0)}(x)$ for $z \to 0$. The goal is to extremize the action $S_{sugra} [\phi]$ subject to these boundary conditions. So one has to solve the equations of motion in the bulk subject to Dirichlet boundary conditions on the boundary and evaluate the action on the solution. Having the relation (3.1.15) one can write

$$W[\phi_0] \simeq \operatorname{extremum}_{\phi|_{x=0} \sim \phi_{(0)}} S_{sugra}[\phi], \qquad (3.1.18)$$

so the generator of Green's functions in the gauge theory is the on-shell supergravity action. Then, taking variational derivatives with respect to the source $\phi_{(0)}^i$, one obtains the correlation functions.

3.1.3.1 Two-point Function

To illustrate how the previous procedure works we are going to compute the two-point function $\langle \mathcal{O}(x) \mathcal{O}(y) \rangle$ of gauge invariant operators \mathcal{O} of the *d*-dimensional field theory. For simplicity we are going to consider a scalar operator \mathcal{O} with conformal dimension Δ which is dual to a scalar field ϕ in the (d + 1)-dimensional gravity theory. The action reads in Euclidean signature

$$S[\phi] = \frac{C}{2} \int dz d^d x \sqrt{g} \left(g^{MN} \partial_M \phi \partial_N \phi + m^2 \phi^2 \right), \qquad (3.1.19)$$

where the mass of the scalar field satisfies $m^2 L^2 = \Delta (\Delta - d)$ with R the AdS radius of curvature.

The equation of motion of the action (3.1.19) reads

$$\left(\Box_g - m^2\right)\phi = 0, \quad \Box_g \phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\phi}}\partial_M\left(\sqrt{g}g^{MN}\partial_N\phi\right), \qquad (3.1.20)$$

being the metric

$$ds^{2} = \frac{L^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(dz^{2} + \delta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} \right).$$
 (3.1.21)

Performing a Fourier decomposition in the field theory directions x^{μ} using a plane wave ansatz of the form

$$\phi(x,z) = \int \frac{d^d p}{(2\pi)^d} e^{ip^{\mu}x_{\mu}} \phi(p,z) , \qquad (3.1.22)$$

the equation of motion for the modes $\phi(p, z)$ becomes

$$z^{2}\partial_{z}^{2}\phi(p,z) - (d-1)z\partial_{z}\phi(p,z) - \left(m^{2}L^{2} + p^{2}z^{2}\right)\phi(p,z) = 0, \qquad (3.1.23)$$

where $p^2 = \delta_{\mu\nu} p^{\mu} p^{\nu}$.

The equation of motion (3.1.23) is a Bessel equation which has two independent solutions in terms of modified Bessel functions

$$\phi_p(z) = A_p z^{d/2} K_\nu(pz) + B_p z^{d/2} I_\nu(pz) , \qquad (3.1.24)$$

where $\nu = \Delta - d/2 = \sqrt{d^2/4 + m^2 L^2}$.

We have to impose regularity in the interior and since $I_{\nu}(pz)$ diverges for $z \to \infty$ we have to omit this solution by setting $B_p = 0$. In contrast $K_{\nu}(pz)$ decays exponentially for $z \to \infty$ thus it is regular at the interior and for $z \to 0$ the solution behaves in the boundary as

$$\phi(p,z) \sim A_p z^{d/2-\nu} = A_p z^{d-\Delta}.$$
 (3.1.25)

Having the solution in hand the next step is to insert it in the action, which can be simplified by integrating by parts

$$S[\phi] = -\frac{C}{2} \int d^d x \sqrt{g} g^{zz} \phi \partial_z \phi \bigg|_{z=\epsilon}.$$
(3.1.26)

The integrand of (3.1.26) has to be evaluated at both limits of integration, ie $z \to \infty$ and z = 0. Using the solution (3.1.24), having imposed regularity, the integrand of (3.1.26) vanishes for $z \to \infty$. At the lower limit z = 0 the action diverges so we have to regularise it by omitting the region $0 < z < \epsilon$ and imposing the boundary conditions at $z = \epsilon$ where ϵ is small. So we have to match $\phi(p, z)$ to $\phi_{(0)}(p)$ at $z = \epsilon$, then the correct normalised solution for $\phi(p, z)$ reads

$$\phi(p,z) = \frac{z^{d/2} K_{\nu}(pz)}{\epsilon^{d/2} K_{\nu}(\epsilon z)} \phi_{(0)}(p) \epsilon^{d-\Delta}.$$
(3.1.27)

Writing the action (3.1.26) in momentum space

$$S[\phi] = -\frac{CL^{d-1}}{2\epsilon^{d-1}} \int \frac{d^d p}{(2\pi)^d} (2\pi)^d \,\delta^d (p+q) \,\phi(p,z) \,\partial_z \phi(q,z) \bigg|_{z=\epsilon},$$
(3.1.28)

and using the solution (3.1.27) we can expres the action just in terms of the sources $\phi_{(0)}$. Then using (3.1.17) and (3.1.15) we get for the two-point function

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(p) \mathcal{O}(q) \rangle = - (2\pi)^{2d} \frac{\delta^2 S[\phi_{(0)}]}{\delta \phi_{(0)}(-p) \delta_{(0)}(-q)} = -\frac{(2\pi)^d \delta^d (p+q) C L^{d-1}}{\epsilon^{2\Delta - d-1}} \frac{d}{dz} \ln \left(z^{d/2} K_{\nu}(pz) \right) \Big|_{z=\epsilon}$$

$$= -\frac{(2\pi)^d \delta^d (p+q) C L^{d-1}}{\epsilon^{2\Delta - d}} \left(\frac{d}{2} + \frac{\epsilon p K_{\nu}'(p\epsilon)}{K_{\nu}(p\epsilon)} \right).$$

$$(3.1.29)$$

The next step is to take the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ so we have to expand the Bessel function for small arguments. The expansion depends on whether ν is a positive integer or not, in this case ν will be a positive integer. After performing the expansion we get

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(p) \mathcal{O}(q) \rangle = (2\pi)^d \,\delta^d \left(p+q \right) C L^{d-1} \left(\frac{\beta_0 + \beta_1 \epsilon^2 p^2 + \dots \beta_\nu (\epsilon p)^{2(\nu-1)}}{\epsilon^{2\Delta - d}} - \frac{(-1)^{\nu+1}}{2^{2(\nu-1)} \Gamma(\nu)^2} p^{2\nu} \ln\left(\epsilon p\right) \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^2\right) \right),$$

$$(3.1.30)$$

where the coefficients β_i are functions of ν .

The terms on the first line of (3.1.30) correspond to scheme dependent contact terms and in the second line in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ only the first term involving the logarithm of the momentum contributes then the correlator is

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(p) \mathcal{O}(q) \rangle = -(2\pi)^d \,\delta^d \left(p+q\right) C L^{d-1} \frac{(-1)^{\nu+1}}{2^{2(\nu-1)} \Gamma(\nu)^2} p^{2\nu} \ln\left(\epsilon p\right). \tag{3.1.31}$$

And coming back to the position space the correlator becomes

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}\left(x\right)\mathcal{O}\left(y\right)\right\rangle = CL^{d-1}\frac{\Gamma\left(\Delta\right)}{\Gamma\left(\Delta-d/2\right)}\frac{2\Delta-d}{\pi^{d/2}\left|x-y\right|^{2\Delta}},\tag{3.1.32}$$

where $\Delta = \nu - d/2$.

3.2 Confining geometries

Holography is a great tool to study conformal gauge theories and certainly has to play a role in the understanding of non conformal, realistic theories. Those theories exhibit qualitative properties such as confinement and have a mass gap and a discrete spectrum of massive particles. So gravity models that aim to be dual to theories like QCD should present those features. We will now describe how these features can be realized through a gravitational dual. A criterion for determining whether a gauge theory shows confinement is obtained from the Wilson loop, when the loop presents an area law behaviour the theory confines. Even though we will not discuss the behaviour of Wilson loops here we will consider that holographic models are confining when there is a discrete spectrum of normalizable modes that map to particles, glueballs, or mesons in the field theory dual¹, and that spectrum has been computed in 17,18. In the models we are interested in, the mass gap, which is also a generic feature of any confining gauge theory, arises because the geometry ends smoothly at a finite value of the holographic coordinate. In these type of theories, the gravity dual has a geometry that either ends in a singular manner or smoothly if a cycle in the compact space collapses to zero size. Also in a theory with mass gap and discrete spectrum, we expect poles in the two point functions corresponding to the physical states. The holographic models that we will review here are the Witten Yang-Mills model 11, the Sakai-Sugimoto model 15,16, the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ super-Yang-Mills dual to the GPPZ geometry 14 and the AdS_6 soliton 43. There are more examples in the bibliography like the Klebanov-Strassler model 44, the Maldacena-Nuñez model 45 and the 2+1 models 42,46.

¹There are examples of models with this kind of spectrum that are not confining, see 42.
3.2.1 GPPZ Flow

The GPPZ solution found by Girardello, Petrini, Porrati, and Zaffaroni 14 is an exact, $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric kink solution of 5-dimensional gauged supergravity. The solution was proposed as the gravity dual of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills with a massive deformation which corresponds to $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ super-Yang-Mills. There are also more proposals of gravity duals of $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ super-Yang-Mills 47 48 and uplifts to ten dimensions of the GPPZ solution 49 50. Although it does not capture all of the expected features of the field theory, the kink solution is a true deformation of $\mathcal{N} = 4$, that exhibits confinement (the Wilson loop exhibits an area law behaviour), magnetic screening and there is a gaugino condensate.

In the field theory side, the matter content of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills is split in a $\mathcal{N} = 1$ vector multiplet and three chiral multiplets in the adjoint representation. An equal mass is given for the three chiral superfields X_i in such a way that the global symmetry group is broken to SU(3) and supersymmetry is broken to $\mathcal{N} = 1$.

$$\int d^2\theta m_{ij} \operatorname{Tr} X_i X_j + \text{c.c.}, \ m_{ij} = m \,\delta_{ij}$$
(3.2.1)

where, in general, m_{ij} is a complex, symmetric matrix, in such a way that the global symmetry group is broken to SU(3) and supersymmetry is broken to $\mathcal{N} = 1$. At weak coupling the theory flows to pure $\mathcal{N} = 1$ super-Yang-Mills at energy scales much below the mass of the chiral multiplets. The weakly coupled theory is confining and this property holds in the strongly coupled theory, as two-point functions of gauge-invariant operators show poles for a discrete spectrum of massive states [51,52].

In this case the background geometry is a solution of five-dimensional supergravity truncated to a single scalar coupled to a metric of the form

$$ds^{2} = dr^{2} + e^{2A(r)}\eta_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}.$$
(3.2.2)

Being the action for the scalar field

$$S = \int d^5x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{R}{4} - \frac{1}{2} g^{MN} \partial_M \phi \partial_N \phi - V(\phi) \right).$$
(3.2.3)

The solution is given by

$$\varphi_B = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \log \frac{1 + \sqrt{1 - u}}{1 - \sqrt{1 - u}}, \quad e^{2A(r)} = \frac{u}{1 - u} \quad 1 - u = e^{-2r},$$
(3.2.4)

Then metric can be written as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{du^{2}}{4(1-u)^{2}}du^{2} + \frac{u}{1-u}\eta_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}.$$
(3.2.5)

Therefore, $u \to 1$ corresponds to the boundary of the bulk, which is asymptotically AdS_5 and $u \to 0$ is the origin of the bulk spacetime.

3.2.2 AdS_6 Soliton

The AdS_6 background geometry is dual to a 5-dimensional CFT. After compactifying one direction with supersymmetrybreaking conditions, it should describe a 4-dimensional confining theory at low energies. At strong coupling there is no separation between the confinement and the compactification scales, so glueballs and Kaluza-Klein modes have similar masses. Nevertheless, the theory is effectively four-dimensional with a mass gap.

The geometry of the AdS_6 soliton can be obtained by a double Wick rotation of a black brane solution 43

$$ds^{2} = \frac{L^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(\frac{dz^{2}}{f(z)} + f(z) d\tau^{2} + \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} \right), \quad f(z) = 1 - \frac{z^{5}}{z_{\Lambda}^{5}},$$
(3.2.6)

where τ is the compact coordinate $\tau \sim \tau + 2\pi/M_{KK}$, with $M_{KK} = 5/(2z_{\Lambda})$ the compactification scale. The space ends at a finite value of the radial coordinate $z = z_{\Lambda}$ and the scale of confinement is given by $\Lambda = 1/z_{\Lambda}$.

While we will not discuss an explicit holographic dual field theory, this geometry can in principle be embedded in string theory, as deformations of AdS_6 solutions of Type II supergravity [53, 54].

The AdS_6 soliton geometry is a close cousin of the Witten-YM model [11], extensively used to mimic QCD in applications of holography. The model consists of a non-supersymmetric compactification of D4-branes along a circle, and becomes pure Yang-Mills at low energies and weak coupling. The holographic dual geometry is also the AdS_6 soliton in an appropriately chosen frame, but in addition there is background dilaton, to which other

fields may be coupled 55. Alternatively, the Witten-YM model can be obtained from the compactification of M5-branes along a two-torus. In the holographic dual description the geometry is AdS_7 compactified along two spatial directions.

3.2.3 Witten-Yang-Mills Model

The Witten-Yang-Mills model is a proposal for studying ordinary large N gauge theories in four dimensions without supersymmetry via string theory. This model exhibit properties such as confinement and a mass gap and also the 1/N scaling in the string coupling constant.

The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory is very different from real QCD so in order to study the latter one Witten proposed in 11 a gravity dual for a four dimensional Yang-Mills theory without supersymmetry.

The way he proposed to study a four-dimensional gauge theory is via compactification of a certain six-dimensional theory with (0,2) supersymmetry. This proposal arises from the so-called M2 and M5 branes of M-theory, whose low-energy limit are solutions of 11-dimensional supergravity. The near horizon geometries of these branes are $AdS_4 \times S^7$ and $AdS_7 \times S^4$, respectively. The dual of M-theory on $AdS_7 \times S^4$ is the 6-dimensional superconformal low-energy theory of M5 branes.

So the starting point for obtaining a four dimensional Yang-Mills theory without supersymmetry is the (2,0) superconformal theory in six dimensions realized on N parallel coinciding M5-branes. The compactification of this theory on a circle of radius R_1 gives a five-dimensional theory whose low-energy effective theory is the maximally supersymmetric SU(N) gauge theory, with gauge coupling $g_5^2 = 2\pi R_1$. M-theory compactified on a supersymmetry preserving circle leads to 10-dimensional superstring theory of type IIA with the M5 branes turned into D4 branes.

To obtain the four dimensional Yang-Mills theory without supersymmetry, one compactifies the 5-dimensional theory further on another S^1 of radius R_0 . The dimensionless gauge coupling constant g_4 in four dimensions is given by $g_4^2 = g_5/(2\pi R_0) = R_1/R_0$. To break supersymmetry one imposes anti-periodic boundary conditions on the fermions around the second S^1 . All modes not protected by gauge symmetry become massive in this case leaving pure Yang-Mills theory as low-energy effective theory. The 5-dimensional supersymmetric field theory thus turns into ordinary 4-dimensional Yang-Mills theory. On the other hand, the background geometry of string theory becomes

$$ds^{2} = \left(\frac{U}{R}\right)^{3/2} \left[\eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + f\left(U\right) d\tau^{2}\right] + \left(\frac{R}{U}\right)^{3/2} \left[\frac{dU^{2}}{f\left(U\right)} + U^{2} d\Omega_{4}^{2}\right], \qquad (3.2.7)$$

with

$$f(U) = 1 - \frac{U_{KK}^3}{U^3}, \quad M_{KK} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{U_{KK}^{1/2}}{R^{3/2}}, \quad e^{\phi} = g_s \left(\frac{U}{R}\right)^{3/4}, \quad F_4 = dC_3 = \frac{2\pi N_c}{V_4} \epsilon_4.$$
(3.2.8)

Which is the type IIA supergravity background sourced by the D4-branes at zero temperature when $N_c \to \infty$. Where $R^3 = \pi g_s N_c l_s^3$ and the Kaluza-Klein mass is $M_{KK} = (3/2) U_{KK}^{1/2} R^{3/2}$. The τ direction has periodicity $2\pi/M_{KK}$ and ϵ_4 is the volume form of a unit S^4 , of volume $V_4 = 8\pi^2/3$. The map relating the field theory quantities and the parameters in the D4 geometry is

$$R^{3} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\lambda_{YM} l_{s}^{2}}{M_{KK}}, \quad U_{KK} = \frac{2}{9} \lambda_{YM} M_{KK} l_{s}^{2}, \quad g_{s} N_{c} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\lambda_{YM}}{M_{KK} l_{s}}, \quad (3.2.9)$$

where l_s is the string length and $\lambda_{YM} = g_{YM}N_c$ is the 't Hooft coupling of the (3+1)-dimensional dual Yang-Mills theory.



Figure 3.2.1: The cigar topology of the Witten model

The factor f(U) in the metric implies that the circle collapses to zero size at $U = U_{KK}$, where the geometry ends. U is the holographic direction and corresponds to an energy scale of the field theory with $U = \infty$ corresponding to the conformal boundary. The lower bound $U \ge U_{KK}$ sets a minimal energy scale for states in the dual field theory encoding the mass gap of Yang-Mills in the confining phase.

The topology of the subspace formed by U and the reduced direction τ is that of a cigar with the circle shrinking to zero size at $U = U_{KK}$ as depicted in Figure [3.2.1].

3.2.4 Witten-Sakai-Sugimoto Model

The Witten-Sakai-Sugimoto model 15, 16 is a generalization of the Witten model mentioned before and it is the holographic dual of four dimensional, large N QCD with massless flavors which are included by introducing N_f probe D8-branes in the geometry induced by D4-branes 15, 56.

The model is built by placing N_f probe D8-branes into a D4 background in type IIA string theory giving a geometry which is the near horizon limit of a nonsupersymmetric (3+1)-dimensional D-brane intersection of N_c D4-branes and N_f D8-D8 D-brane pairs. The brane configuration is given in the following table

	0	1	2	3	au	5	6	7	8	9
D4	X	×	Х	×	Х	•	•	•	•	•
D8	×	\times	×	\times	•	×	\times	\times	×	\times
$\overline{\mathrm{D8}}$	×	×	×	×		×	×	×	×	×

Table 3.2.1: D-brane intersection in the WSS model. Branes are extended along the directions marked with \times .

In this configuration the N_c D4-branes are compactified in the τ direction along a circle with supersymmetrybreaking boundary conditions, the D8- and $\overline{\text{D8}}$ -branes are transverse to the D4-branes and sit at separate points.² The radial coordinate U transverse to the D4-branes is bounded from below $U \ge U_{KK}$.

In the near-horizon limit where the D4-branes are replaced by the geometry displayed above, each D8 and D8, that sit at separated points in the τ direction as $U \to \infty$, join at a finite value of the radial coordinate and form a single object. So as $U \to U_{KK}$ the radius of the circle shrinks to zero and at a finite point $U = U_0$ the D8/D8 branes merge forming a single object as depicted in Fig 3.2.2

The chiral symmetry is realized as the gauge symmetry of the N_f D8 – $\overline{D8}$ pairs. When they merge resulting on a single D8-brane only one factor of $U(N_f)$ survives as the gauge symmetry, so this mechanism is interpreted as the holographic realization of the spontaneous breaking of the $U(N_f)_L \times U(N_f)_R$ chiral symmetry.



Figure 3.2.2: Sketch of D8- and $\overline{D8}$ -branes.

²That asymptotic separation between the D8 and $\overline{\text{D8}}$ can be changed, producing different values of the quark condensate.

From the 4-8 strings and the 4-8strings (the open strings with one end attached to the D4-brane and the other end to the D8-brane and $\overline{\text{D8}}$ -brane respectively) N_f flavors of massless fermions are obtained which are interpreted as quarks in QCD. The chirality of the fermions created by 4-8 strings is opposite to that created by the 4-8 strings. Therefore the $U(N_f)_{D8} \times U(N_f)_{\overline{D8}}$ gauge symmetry of the N_f D8-D8 pairs is interpreted as the $U(N_f)_L \times U(N_f)_R$ chiral symmetry of QCD.

The action for the D8-branes in the string frame

$$S_{\rm D8} = S_{\rm DBI} + S_{\rm WZ}$$
 (3.2.10)

consists of Dirac-Born-Infeld (DBI) and Wess-Zumino (WZ) actions, schematically

$$S_{\text{DBI}} = -T_8 \int_{D8} d^9 x \, e^{-\phi} \, \text{STr} \sqrt{-\det\left(G_{MN} + 2\pi\alpha' \, F_{MN}\right)}$$
(3.2.11)

$$S_{\rm WZ} = \frac{1}{3!(2\pi)^3} \int_{D8} C_3 \wedge \operatorname{STr} F^3,$$
 (3.2.12)

where $T_8 = 1/((2\pi)^8 l_s^0)$ is the tension of the D8-brane. F_{MN} is the field strength of the non-Abelian $U(N_f)$ gauge field living on the brane, while G_{MN} is the induced metric $G_{MN} = g_{\mu\nu}(X)\partial_M X^{\mu}\partial_N X^{\nu}$, with $g_{\mu\nu}$ the 10d background metric (3.2.7). The embedding functions X^{μ} are also $N_f \times N_f$ Hermitian matrices. STr stands for symmetrized trace, this prescription for the trace is unambiguous up to $O(F^4)$ in the gauge fields [57]-60. At higher orders there can be additional corrections in $\alpha' = l_s^2$, but fortunately we will not need them. The WZ term captures the axial anomaly of the dual field theory [15].

Part II

Holographic Computation of Scattering

Chapter 4

Scattering in Holography

In this chapter we present the features of the scattering amplitudes computation in *d*-dimensional, large-*N*, strongly coupled theories with a (d + 1)-dimensional holographic dual. In holographic models that are dual to a confining theory there is a gapped, discrete spectrum of normalizable modes that map to particles, glueballs, or mesons in the field theory dual. In particular we will focus on a scalar gauge-invariant single-trace operator \mathcal{O} . Examples could be a glueball operator such as $\mathcal{O} = \text{tr}F^2$, with *F* the field strength of the gauge fields, or $\mathcal{O} = \bar{q}q$, where q corresponds to a quark operator. Scattering between these particles can be obtained by applying LSZ reduction formulas to correlators of gauge-invariant operators with the quantum numbers of the particles involved. In the holographic calculation this implies that it is enough to identify the leading pole contributions in bulk correlators when the momenta are taken on-shell. The corresponding residues then determine the scattering amplitudes.

A (real-valued) gauge-invariant single-trace local operator will map to a scalar field Φ in the holographic gravity dual. When the operator acts on the vacuum, it creates scalar excitations, belonging to a tower of states all with the same quantum numbers and different masses m_a , a = 1, 2, 3, ... In the large-N limit these states behave approximately as almost free particles, with interactions that can be trated perturbatively in a 1/N expansion. Here we will restrict to cases where the scalar field is treated as a probe, so backreaction on the metric and on other fields will be neglected.

The tower of massive states is captured by the two-point function of the scalar operator, in momentum space $p = (\omega, \mathbf{k})$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(p)\mathcal{O}(p')\rangle = (2\pi)^4 \delta^{(4)}(p+p')G(p).$$
 (4.0.1)

When the momentum is put on-shell at one of the masses $\omega \to \varepsilon_a(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m_a^2}$, there is a pole singularity in the two-point function

$$G(p) \sim \frac{-iZ_a}{p^2 + m_a^2} + \cdots$$
 (4.0.2)

We can extract the residues of these poles from a LSZ-like reduction formula

$$Z_a = i \lim_{\omega \to \varepsilon_a} (p^2 + m_a^2) G(p).$$

$$(4.0.3)$$

Since the width of these states is suppressed in the large-N limit, it is possible to define asymptotic non-interacting states and compute the scattering matrix. The S-matrix can be split in the non-interacting part and the interacting part, or T-matrix,

$$S = \mathbb{I} + i\mathcal{T}.\tag{4.0.4}$$

In a two-to-two scattering of the spin-zero particles with masses m_n and spatial momenta \mathbf{k}_n , n = 1, 2, 3, 4, the *T*-matrix element

$$i\mathcal{T}_{12\to 34} = \langle m_3, \mathbf{k}_3; \, m_4, \mathbf{k}_4 | \, i\mathcal{T} \, | m_1, \mathbf{k}_1; \, m_2, \mathbf{k}_2 \rangle \,, \tag{4.0.5}$$

can be obtained from a connected four-point function using the LSZ reduction formula $(\varepsilon_n \equiv \sqrt{\mathbf{k}_n^2 + m_n^2})$

$$i\mathcal{T}_{12\to34} \equiv \lim_{\omega_n\to\varepsilon_n} \left(\prod_{n=1}^4 \frac{p_n^2 + m_n^2}{Z_n^{1/2}} \right) \left\langle \mathcal{O}(p_1)\mathcal{O}(p_2)\mathcal{O}(p_3)\mathcal{O}(p_4) \right\rangle_c.$$
(4.0.6)

To define the scattering length one should first recall that momentum states are defined with different normalization in the relativistic and non-relativistic approaches. Taking this into account, we extract the following factor from the matrix elements

$$S_{12\to34} = 4(\varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3 \varepsilon_4)^{1/2} \widetilde{S}_{12\to34}.$$
(4.0.7)

Here $\tilde{S}_{12\to 34}$ will become the non-relativistic scattering matrix. Let us now focus on the case of elastic scattering between two particles of possibly different masses $m_1 = m_3$ and $m_2 = m_4$. Momentum conservation implies that the *T*-matrix contribution should take the form

$$i\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{12\to34} = (2\pi)^4 \delta(\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2 - \varepsilon_3 - \varepsilon_4) \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 - \mathbf{k}_3 - \mathbf{k}_4) i\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}.$$
(4.0.8)

In the non-relativistic limit $\varepsilon_n \approx m_n + \frac{\mathbf{k}_n^2}{2m_n}$. Going to the center of mass frame $\mathbf{k}_1 = -\mathbf{k}_2 = \mathbf{k}$ and integrating over the final momenta of the particle of mass m_1 or m_2

$$i\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathbf{k}\to\mathbf{k}'} = i(2\pi)\delta\left(\frac{\mathbf{k}'^2}{2m_{12}} - \frac{\mathbf{k}^2}{2m_{12}}\right)\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\mathbf{k}'-\mathbf{k}),\tag{4.0.9}$$

where $\mathbf{k}' = \mathbf{k}_3 = -\mathbf{k}_4$, $m_{12} = m_1 m_2/(m_1 + m_2)$ is the reduced mass and we have assumed that the scattering amplitude depends only on the exchanged momentum between the particles. The formula above can be understood as the Born approximation to the scattering of a particle of mass m_{12} in a potential, the Fourier transform of the potential being $\widetilde{V}(\mathbf{q}) = -\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\mathbf{q})$. It follows that the scattering amplitude of the outgoing wave is

$$f(\mathbf{q}) = \frac{m_{12}}{2\pi} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\mathbf{q}). \tag{4.0.10}$$

Therefore, the scattering length is

$$a_s = -\lim_{\mathbf{q}\to\mathbf{0}} \frac{m_{12}}{2\pi} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\mathbf{q}). \tag{4.0.11}$$

4.1 Scattering amplitude in holography

We will assume that a large-N strongly coupled gauge theory in d spacetime dimensions has a holographic dual description. The dual will in general consist of Einstein gravity in d + 1 dimensions coupled to a scalar field Φ dual to \mathcal{O}

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G_N} \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \left(R - (\partial \Phi)^2 - 2V(\Phi) \right).$$
(4.1.1)

In order for the theory to be well defined in the UV, we will assume that the potential has a critical point V'(0) = 0. In this case there is a pure AdS_{d+1} solution, dual to a UV fixed point, where the scalar is constant $\Phi = 0$. The metric is

$$ds_{d+1}^{2} = g_{MN} dx^{M} dx^{M} \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} \frac{L^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(dz^{2} + \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} \right).$$
(4.1.2)

Here g_{MN} , M, N = 0, 1, ..., d, is the d + 1 dimensional metric, that we will assume is asymptotically AdS_{d+1} with radius L. We will use capital latin letters for spacetime indices in the bulk of the gravity dual and greek letters for the field theory directions so in these coordinates $x^{\mu}, \mu = 0, 1, ..., d - 1$ span the directions of the field theory dual.

We will consider scalar potentials admitting an analytic expansion for small values of the field Φ then the potential expanded around the UV critical point will have the form

$$V(\Phi) \simeq -\frac{d(d-1)}{2L^2} + \frac{1}{2}m^2\Phi^2 + \frac{v_4}{4L^2}\Phi^4 + \cdots$$
(4.1.3)

The mass of the scalar m^2 determines the dimension Δ of the dual operator $m^2 L^2 = \Delta(\Delta - d)$. Let us introduce the following parametrization of the dimension of the dual operator

$$\Delta = \frac{d}{2} + \nu. \tag{4.1.4}$$

Where $-1 < \nu < d/2$ is the range of allowed values for relevant operators satisfying the unitarity bound and the mass is $m^2 L^2 = \nu^2 - \frac{d^2}{4}$. The quartic term introduces a contact interaction for the scalar in the bulk, proportional to v_4 .

With this action, the asymptotic expansion of the scalar close to the AdS_{d+1} boundary is in general of the form

$$\Phi(x,z) = \left(\frac{z}{L}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu} \left[A_0(x) + \frac{z}{L}A_1(x) + \dots + \left(\frac{z}{L}\right)^{2\nu} \left(C_\nu(x) + \frac{z}{L}C_{\nu,1}(x) + \dots\right)\right],\tag{4.1.5}$$

where the first part corresponds to the non-normalizable solution and the second part to the normalizable solution. If $\frac{d}{2} + \nu$ is an integer, then the expansion of the non-normalizable solution may include also logarithmic terms $\log(z/L)$.

The expansion of the metric is

$$g_{MN}(x,z) = \frac{L^2}{z^2} \left(\eta_{MN} + \frac{z^2}{L^2} H_{2MN}(x) + \dots + \frac{z^d}{L^d} H_{dMN}(x) + \dots \right).$$
(4.1.6)

The equations of motion fix the coefficients in the non-normalizable solution of the scalar A_1 , etc and the coefficients of the metric H_{nMN} for n < d (as well as the coefficients of logarithmic terms). All these coefficients are local functionals of A_0 and its derivatives along the field theory directions.

4.1.1 Solutions and propagators of the scalar field

We will restrict to cases where the scalar field is treated as a probe, so backreaction on the metric and on other fields will be neglected. The bulk action will have the form (4.1.1).

The linearized equation of motion for the scalar field is

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_M\left(\sqrt{-g}g^{MN}\partial_N\Phi\right) - V'\left(\phi=0\right) = 0.$$
(4.1.7)

Using the metric (4.1.2) and the potential (4.1.3) the equation of motion becomes

$$(\Box - m^2)\Phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_M \left(\sqrt{-g}g^{MN}\partial_N\Phi\right) - m^2\Phi = 0.$$
(4.1.8)

Solutions to the equation of motion stemming from (??) can be constructed perturbatively using the bulk-toboundary K(x, x'; z) and and bulk-to-bulk G(x, x'; z, z') propagators by including higher order terms of the potential (4.1.3). The bulk-to-boundary propagator determines the linearized solution for any boundary condition

$$(\Box_{z,x} - m^2)K = 0, \quad K(x, x'; z) \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} z^{d-\Delta} \delta^{(d)}(x - x').$$
 (4.1.9)

The bulk-to-bulk propagator on the other hand is the Green's function defined by the differential equation

$$(\Box_{z,x} - m^2)G = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\delta^{(d)}(x - x')\delta(z - z'), \quad G(x, x'; z, z') \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} z^{\Delta}.$$
(4.1.10)

In order to accommodate the AdS soliton model that we study later, we will assume Poincaré invariance of the full geometry along a subset of the field theory directions $d_{eff} \leq d$ and remove all explicit dependence from the remaining field theory directions. We will thus split the metric as follows

$$ds_{d+1}^2 = g_{zz}dz^2 + g_{xx}\eta_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + g_{ij}dy^i dy^j, \qquad (4.1.11)$$

where now x^{μ} , $\mu = 0, 1, \ldots, d_{eff} - 1$ and y^i , $i = d_{eff}, \ldots, d - 1$. Written in this way, the plane spanned by the vectors x^{μ} retain the Poincaré symmetry, while directions y^i are orthogonal to this plane. We proceed by expanding the scalar field and the propagators in plane waves

$$\Phi(x,z) = \int \frac{d^{d_{eff}}p}{(2\pi)^{d_{eff}}} \phi(p,z) e^{ip \cdot x}.$$
(4.1.12)

For a confining theory, there will be a discrete set of normal modes satisfying conditions of regularity at the origin and being normalizable at the boundary

$$p^2 = -M_n^2, \phi = \varphi_n(z), n = 0, 1, 2, 3, \dots$$
 (4.1.13)

The spectrum of masses M_n^2 corresponds to the spectrum of massive states in the dual field theory associated to the dual scalar operator. The equation of motion for the scalar can be put in Sturm-Liouville form

$$\partial_z \left(\sqrt{-g} g^{zz} \partial_z \phi \right) - m^2 \sqrt{-g} \phi + \sqrt{-g} g^{xx} M^2 \phi = 0.$$
(4.1.14)

We can identify $\rho(z) = \sqrt{-g}g^{xx}$ with the weight, so that normal modes can be chosen to form an orthonormal basis

$$\int dz \,\rho(z)\varphi_n(z)\varphi_m(z) = \delta_{nm}. \tag{4.1.15}$$

The integration is over the whole allowed range of the radial coordinate. The basis of normal modes can be used to write an expression for the bulk-to-bulk propagator

$$G(p;z,z') = -\sum_{n} \frac{\varphi_n(z)\varphi_n(z')}{p^2 + M_n^2}.$$
(4.1.16)

4.1.2 *n*-point functions

In order to compute the *T*-matrix element (4.0.6) we need both the residues of the poles in the two-point and the four-point functions, in the limit where the external momenta are on-shell. The correlators can be computed from the one-point function in the presence of a external source j for the scalar operator

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\right\rangle_{j} = \frac{\int D\mathcal{A} \mathcal{O}(x) e^{iS_{YM}+i} \int d^{d}x j(x)\mathcal{O}(x)}{\int D\mathcal{A} e^{iS_{YM}+i} \int d^{d}x j(x)\mathcal{O}(x)}.$$
(4.1.17)

Here S_{YM} is the action of the dual field theory, depending on the fields \mathcal{A} and $D\mathcal{A}$ is the field theory path integral measure. Note that the operator $\mathcal{O}(x)$ is a functional of the fields \mathcal{A} . Higher order correlation functions are obtained from the one-point function as

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(x_1)\cdots\mathcal{O}(x_n)\rangle = \frac{1}{n}\sum_{\substack{k=1\\a\neq k}}^n \prod_{\substack{a=1\\a\neq k}}^n \left(\frac{1}{i}\frac{\delta}{\delta j(x_a)}\right) \langle \mathcal{O}(x_k)\rangle_j\Big|_{j=0}.$$
(4.1.18)

An external source is realized in the gravity dual as a boundary condition for the scalar field. This fixes $A_0(x) = L^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}j(x)$:

$$\Phi(x, z \to 0) = z^{\frac{d}{2} - \nu} j(x), \qquad (4.1.19)$$

The one-point function can be computed using the canonical momentum of the dual scalar Φ [52,61]

$$\pi_{\Phi} = \sqrt{-g} g^{zz} \partial_z \Phi. \tag{4.1.20}$$

The regularized momentum $\pi_{\Phi}^{reg} = \pi_{\Phi} + \pi_{\Phi}^{c.t.}$ can be obtained from a variation of the action including counterterms. The one-point function is obtained as the finite result from 52,62

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\right\rangle_{j} = \mathcal{N} \frac{1}{L^{\frac{d}{2}+\nu-1}} \lim_{z \to 0} \left(\frac{z}{L}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu} \quad \pi_{\Phi}^{reg} = \mathcal{N} \frac{2\nu C_{\nu}(x)}{L^{\frac{d}{2}+\nu}} + \text{local terms.}$$
(4.1.21)

In the special case $\nu = 0$, the overall coefficient is 2 instead of 2ν . The dimensionless factor $\mathcal{N} = L^{d-1}/(16\pi G_N)$ is proportional to the number of degrees of freedom of the field theory, $\mathcal{N} \sim N^2$ for a large-N gauge theory in d = 4. The local terms are proportional to powers of j or its derivatives and are in general scheme dependent (terms depending on log j might be present as well). They will drop from the LSZ reduction formula, so we can neglect them.

In order to compute the correlators we expand around a background solution and solve the equations of motion derived from the action (4.1.1) with the boundary condition (4.1.19). We then evaluate the solution on the regularized momentum and find the expectation value from (4.1.21). We construct the classical solution by introducing a small parameter ϵ and rescaling the source $j \to \epsilon j$. Then we can do an expansion in powers of ϵ

$$\Phi = \phi + \epsilon \phi^{(1)} + \epsilon^2 \phi^{(2)} + \cdots, g_{MN} = h_{MN} + \epsilon h_{MN}^{(1)} + \epsilon^2 h_{MN}^{(2)} + \cdots.$$
(4.1.22)

In this expansion ϕ , h_{MN} are the background values, $\phi^{(1)}$ should satisfy the boundary condition (4.1.19) and the remaining terms should not change the boundary conditions for the scalar field of the metric. This implies that

$$\lim_{z \to 0} \frac{1}{z^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} \phi^{(n)} = 0, n > 1, \lim_{z \to 0} z^2 h_{MN}^{(m)} = 0, m > 0.$$
(4.1.23)

Each term in the expansion is a homogeneous functional of the source j, and we will assume that the background only depends on the radial coordinate $\partial_{\mu}\phi = \partial_{\mu}h_{MN} = 0$. For the computation of the two- and four- point functions we need just to expand (4.1.21) up to $O(\epsilon^3)$.

At each order, the solution will be obtained as the convolution of a Green's function with the sources

$$\phi^{(n)}(z,x) = \int d^d x_1 \cdots d^d x_n \ G^{(n)}(z,x;x_1,\cdots,x_n) j(x_1) \cdots j(x_n), \tag{4.1.24}$$

$$h_{MN}^{(n)}(z,x) = \frac{L^2}{z^2} \int d^d x_1 \cdots d^d x_n G_{MN}^{(n)}(z,x;x_1,\cdots,x_n) j(x_1) \cdots j(x_n).$$
(4.1.25)

The boundary conditions demand that

$$\lim_{z \to 0} G^{(1)}(z, x; x_1) \sim z^{\frac{d}{2} - \nu} \delta^{(d)}(x - x_1),$$
(4.1.26)

$$\lim_{z \to 0} \frac{1}{z^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} G^{(n)}(z, x; x_1, \cdots, x_n) = 0,$$
(4.1.27)

$$\lim_{z \to 0} G_{MN}^{(n)}(z, x; x_1, \cdots, x_n) = 0.$$
(4.1.28)

It will be convenient to take Fourier transforms and work in momentum space,

$$\widetilde{\phi}^{(n)}(z,p) = \int \frac{d^d p_1}{(2\pi)^d} \cdots \frac{d^d p_n}{(2\pi)^d} \widetilde{G}^{(n)}(z,p;-p_1,\cdots,-p_n)\widetilde{j}(p_1)\cdots\widetilde{j}(p_n), \qquad (4.1.29)$$

$$\widetilde{h}_{MN}^{(n)}(z,p) = \frac{L^2}{z^2} \int \frac{d^d p_1}{(2\pi)^d} \cdots \frac{d^d p_n}{(2\pi)^d} \widetilde{G}_{MN}^{(n)}(z,p;-p_1,\cdots,-p_n) \widetilde{j}(p_1) \cdots \widetilde{j}(p_n).$$
(4.1.30)

Expanding for $z \to 0$, we should find

$$\widetilde{G}^{(1)}(z,p;-p1) \simeq z^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}(2\pi)^d \delta^{(d)}(p-p_1) + \dots + \left(\frac{z}{L}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}+\nu} \widetilde{G}^{(1)}_{\nu}(p;-p_1) + \dots , \qquad (4.1.31)$$

$$\widetilde{G}^{(n)}(z,p;-p_1,\cdots,-p_n) \simeq \left(\frac{z}{L}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}+\nu} \widetilde{G}^{(n)}_{\nu}(p;-p_1,\cdots,-p_n) + \cdots$$
 (4.1.32)

Therefore, the contribution to the coefficient that determines the one-point function in (4.1.21) is

$$\widetilde{C}_{\nu}^{(n)}(p) = \int \frac{d^d p_1}{(2\pi)^d} \cdots \frac{d^d p_n}{(2\pi)^d} \, \widetilde{G}_{\nu}^{(n)}(p; -p_1, \cdots, -p_n) \widetilde{j}(p_1) \cdots \widetilde{j}(p_n).$$
(4.1.33)

4.1.3 Residues and scattering amplitude

The quartic term in the scalar potential gives a contribution to the scattering amplitude that can be interpreted as being produced by a Witten diagram with four scalar legs joining at a single point in the bulk. The relevant quantity is

$$\widetilde{G}^{(3)}(z, p_1; -p_2, -p_3, -p_4) \propto (2\pi)^d \delta^{(d)}(p_1 - p_2 - p_3 \cdot - p_4) v_4 \int dz' \sqrt{-g} G(p_1; z, z') K(p_2; z') K(p_3; z') K(p_4; z').$$
(4.1.34)

From (4.1.18) and (4.1.33) we can deduce the following expressions for the two and four point functions

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(p_1)\mathcal{O}(p_2)\rangle = -\frac{i\nu\mathcal{N}}{L\Delta} \left(\tilde{G}_{\nu}^{(1)}(p_1; -p_2) + \tilde{G}_{\nu}^{(1)}(p_2; -p_1) \right),$$
(4.1.35)

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(p_1)\mathcal{O}(p_2)\mathcal{O}(p_3)\mathcal{O}(p_4)\rangle = \frac{i\nu\mathcal{N}}{2L\Delta} \sum_{k=1}^4 \tilde{G}_{\nu}^{(3)}(p_k; -p_{n_1}, -p_{n_2}, -p_{n_3})\Big|_{n_i=1,2,3,4; ni\neq k}$$
(4.1.36)

When the momenta are taken on-shell, both bulk-to-boundary and bulk-to-bulk propagators have poles

$$K(p;z) \xrightarrow{p^2 \to -M_n^2} \frac{c_n \varphi_n(z)}{p^2 + M_n^2}, \quad G(p;z,z') \xrightarrow{p^2 \to -M_n^2} -\frac{\varphi_n(z)\varphi_n(z')}{p^2 + M_n^2}.$$
(4.1.37)

And we find that the kernels are of the form

$$\widetilde{G}^{(1)}(z;p_1;-p_2) \xrightarrow[p_i^2 \to -M_{n_i}^2]{} (2\pi)^d \delta^{(d)}(p_1-p_2) \frac{\Gamma_{n_1}^{(1)}(z,p_1)}{p_1^2 + M_{n_1}^2}, \qquad (4.1.38)$$

$$\widetilde{G}^{(3)}(z, p_1; -p_2, -p_3, -p_4) \xrightarrow{p_i^2 \to -M_{n_i}^2} (2\pi)^d \delta^{(d)}(p_1 - p_2 - p_3 \cdot -p_4) \frac{\Gamma_{n_1;n_2,n_3,n_4}^{(3)}(z)}{\prod_{i=1}^4 (p_i^2 + M_{n_i}^2)}.$$
(4.1.39)

Where the last expression is the leading pole contribution to the amplitude. Close to the boundary, the residue of the bulk-to-boundary propagator has the form

$$c_n \varphi_n(z) \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} \frac{Z_n}{2\nu \mathcal{N}} z^{\Delta},$$
 (4.1.40)

 (\mathbf{a})

where $\mathcal{N} = L^{d-1}/(16\pi G_N)$ is a dimensionless normalization factor proportional to the number of degrees of freedom in the dual field theory. The residues can be directly read from the boundary expansion $z \to 0$ by isolating the poles

$$\Gamma_{n_1}^{(1)} \simeq z^{\Delta} \frac{Z_{n_1}}{2\nu\mathcal{N}} + \cdots, \Gamma_{n_1;n_2,n_3,n_4}^{(3)} \simeq z^{\Delta} \frac{Z_{n_1;n_2,n_3,n_4}}{2\nu\mathcal{N}} + \cdots.$$
(4.1.41)

The factor $Z_{n!}$ can be identified with the residue of the massive pole in the two-point function of the dual scalar operator, explicitly

$$Z_{n_1} = 2\nu \mathcal{N} c_n \times \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{\varphi_{n_1}(z)}{z^{\Delta}}.$$
(4.1.42)

The factor $Z_{n_1;n_2,n_3,n_4}$ is the leading pole contribution to the four-point function of the dual scalar operator. Through the LSZ reduction formula it will determine the scattering amplitude. Its explicit form is

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n_1;n_2,n_3,n_4} = -2\nu v_4 \,\mathcal{N} \, c_{n_2} c_{n_3} c_{n_4} \kappa_{n_1,n_2,n_3,n_4} \times \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{\varphi_{n_1}(z)}{z^\Delta},\tag{4.1.43}$$

where the overlap κ is defined as

$$\kappa_{n_1,n_2,n_3,n_4} = \int dz' \sqrt{-g} \prod_{i=1}^4 \varphi_{n_i}(z').$$
(4.1.44)

With the residues (4.1.42) and (4.1.43), using the LSZ reduction formula (4.0.6), the contribution of the quartic term to the scattering amplitude is

$$\mathcal{M}_{n_1,n_2,n_3,n_4} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^{4} \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{n_i;\{n_k \neq n_i\}}}{(Z_{n_1} Z_{n_2} Z_{n_3} Z_{n_4})^{1/2}}.$$
(4.1.45)

If $d_{eff} = 4$, the scattering length for two-to-two elastic scattering can be determined directly from the previous amplitude using the formula derived in 17

$$a_s = -\frac{\mathcal{M}_{n_1=n_3, n_2=n_4}}{8\pi(M_{n_1} + M_{n_2})}.$$
(4.1.46)

Chapter 5

Scattering Lenght In Confining Theories

In the following sections, we will restrict to states created by operators that have a dual description as classical fields in gravity, typically glueballs and mesons. Some states, baryons for instance, map to heavy objects such as wrapped branes on the gravity side 63. The effective potential for these types of objects has been studied for instance in the Sakai-Sugimoto model using solitonic configuration on flavor branes 64,65. A similar analysis is the calculation of glueball decay rates using three-particle scattering amplitudes in the GPPZ model 66, while for very high energy scattering a description in terms of strings may be more appropriate 67.

5.1 Scattering in a hard wall model

We will illustrate our approach with a simple example. We will treat the scalar field as a probe, neglecting the backreaction on the metric, *i.e.*, it will remain fixed in this case. For simplicity, we consider AdS_{d+1} (4.1.2) metric in the whole bulk, but in order to mimic confinement we will introduce a hard wall [13] at a finite value of the radial coordinate z. This means that the space abruptly ends, with the radial coordinate taking values on the interval $0 < z < 1/\Lambda$. A Dirichlet condition for the fields at the hard wall makes the spectrum of fluctuations discrete and gapped, with the gap set by the IR scale Λ .

The equations of motion for the scalar field are $(\Box \equiv \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu})$

$$z^{2}\partial_{z}^{2}\Phi - (d-1)z\partial_{z}\Phi + z^{2}\Box\Phi - L^{2}V'(\Phi) = 0.$$
(5.1.1)

We will take the scalar potential to be of the form (4.1.3), and do the expansion (4.1.22) for the scalar field with a vanishing background field $\phi = 0$. The equation of motion at $O(\epsilon^n)$ is

$$z^{2}\partial_{z}^{2}\phi^{(n)} - (d-1)z\partial_{z}\phi^{(n)} + z^{2}\Box\phi^{(n)} - m^{2}L^{2}\phi^{(n)} = W^{(n)}, \qquad (5.1.2)$$

where the inhomogeneous terms read, up to $O(\epsilon^3)$,

$$W^{(1)} = W^{(2)} = 0, \quad W^{(3)} = v_4(\phi^{(1)})^3.$$
 (5.1.3)

Fixing the mass of the scalar to $m^2 L^2 = \nu^2 - \frac{d^2}{4}$, the boundary conditions at the hard wall and the asymptotic AdS boundary are

$$\phi^{(n)}\Big|_{z=1/\Lambda} = 0, \quad \phi^{(1)} \underset{z \to 0}{\sim} z^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu} j(x), \quad \phi^{(n)} \underset{z \to 0}{\sim} O(z^{\frac{d}{2}+\nu}), n > 1.$$
(5.1.4)

With these conditions $\phi^{(2)} = 0$. We will now go to momentum space via Fourier transformation

$$\widetilde{\phi}^{(1)}(p,z) = \int d^d x e^{-ip \cdot x} \phi^{(1)}(z,x).$$
(5.1.5)

The equations of motion are

$$\left(z^{2}\partial_{z}^{2} - (d-1)z\partial_{z} + z^{2}M^{2} + \frac{d^{2}}{4} - \nu^{2}\right)\widetilde{\phi}^{(n)}(p,z) = \widetilde{W}^{(n)}(p,z),$$
(5.1.6)

where we have defined $M^2 = -p^2$ and

$$\widetilde{W}^{(3)}(p,z) = (2\pi)^d \delta^{(d)}(p-p_1-p_2-p_3) v_4 \int \frac{d^d p_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d p_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d p_3}{(2\pi)^d} \widetilde{\phi}^{(1)}(p_1,z) \widetilde{\phi}^{(1)}(p_2,z) \widetilde{\phi}^{(1)}(p_3,z).$$
(5.1.7)

The solutions for $\widetilde{\phi}^{(1)}$ and $\widetilde{\phi}^{(3)}$ can be written as

$$\widetilde{\phi}^{(1)}(p,z) = K(p,z)\widetilde{j}(p), \quad \widetilde{\phi}^{(3)}(p,z) = \int_0^{1/\Lambda} dz_1 \frac{L^{d+1}}{z_1^{d+1}} \Sigma(p,z,z_1) \widetilde{W}^{(3)}(p,z_1).$$
(5.1.8)

Where we have introduced the bulk-to-boundary (K) and the bulk-to-bulk (Σ) propagators. The equations of motion for each of the propagators is

$$\left(z^2\partial_z^2 - (d-1)z\partial_z + z^2M^2 + \frac{d^2}{4} - \nu^2\right)K(p,z) = 0$$
(5.1.9)

$$\left(z^2\partial_z^2 - (d-1)z\partial_z + z^2M^2 + \frac{d^2}{4} - \nu^2\right)G(p, z, z_1) = \frac{z^{d+1}}{L^{d+1}}\delta(z-z_1).$$
(5.1.10)

They must satisfy the boundary conditions

$$K(p, 1/\Lambda) = 0, \quad K(p, z) \underset{z \to 0}{\sim} z^{\frac{d}{2} - \nu}, \quad G(p, 1/\Lambda, z_1) = 0, \quad G(p, z, z_1) \underset{z \to 0}{\sim} O(z^{\frac{d}{2} + \nu}).$$
(5.1.11)

Then, the expansions for $z \to 0$ should be of the form

$$K(p,z) \simeq z^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu} + \dots + \left(\frac{z}{L}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}+\nu} K_{\nu}(p) + \dots$$
 (5.1.12)

$$G(p, z, z_1) \simeq \left(\frac{z}{L}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}+\nu} G_{\nu}(p, z_1) + \dots$$
 (5.1.13)

Direct comparison with (4.1.33) shows that

$$\tilde{G}_{\nu}^{(1)}(p;-p_1) = (2\pi)^d \delta^{(d)}(p-p_1) K_{\nu}(p_1)$$

$$\tilde{G}_{\nu}^{(3)}(p;-p_1,-p_2,-p_3) = (2\pi)^d \delta^{(d)}(p-p_1-p_2-p_3) v_4 \int_0^{1/\Lambda} dz_1 \frac{L^{d+1}}{z_1^{d+1}} G_{\nu}(p,z_1) K(p_1,z_1) K(p_2,z_1) K(p_3,z_1).$$
(5.1.14)

5.1.1 Bulk-to-boundary and bulk-to-bulk propagators

The equation of motion that the propagators must satisfy can be put in Sturm-Liouville form. Multiplying the equation by $1/(\Lambda z)^{d+1}$, using as variable $u = \Lambda z$ and defining $\mu = M/\Lambda$,

$$\partial_u \left(\frac{1}{u^{d-1}} \partial_u K(p, u) \right) + \left(\frac{\frac{d^2}{4} - \nu^2}{u^{d+1}} + \frac{\mu^2}{u^{d-1}} \right) K(p, u) = 0$$
(5.1.15)

$$\partial_u \left(\frac{1}{u^{d-1}} \partial_u \Sigma(p, u, u1) \right) + \left(\frac{\frac{d^2}{4} - \nu^2}{u^{d+1}} + \frac{\mu^2}{u^{d-1}} \right) G(p, u, u_1) = \frac{\Lambda}{(L\Lambda)^{d+1}} \delta(u - u_1).$$
(5.1.16)

The constant factor multiplying the delta function can be absorbed in the normalization of Σ . The eigenvalues of the associated Sturm-Liouville problem are μ^2 , and the weight function is $w(u) = 1/u^{d-1}$.

The bulk-to-boundary propagator is easy to find as a solution to the homogeneous equation satisfying the Dirichlet boundary condition and $K(p, u) \sim (u/\Lambda)^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}$ when $u \to 0$:

$$K(p,u) = -\frac{\pi\mu^{\nu}}{2^{\nu}\Gamma(\nu)\Lambda^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} u^{d/2} \left(Y_{\nu}(\mu u) - c_{\mu}J_{\nu}(\mu u)\right), \quad c_{\mu} = \frac{Y_{\nu}(\mu)}{J_{\nu}(\mu)}.$$
(5.1.17)

Let us consider solutions to the homogeneous equation satisfying a Dirichlet condition at the hard wall and a normalizable condition at the AdS boundary. These solutions only exist for a discrete set of values of M, corresponding to the zeroes of the Bessel function J_{ν} :

$$\varphi_a(u) = c_a u^{d/2} J_\nu(\mu_a u), \quad c_a = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{J_{\nu+1}(\mu_a)}, \quad J_\nu(\mu_a) = 0, \quad a = 1, 2, 3, \dots$$
 (5.1.18)

The values of $M_a = \mu_a \Lambda$ are the masses of glueball or meson states created by the operator dual to the scalar field. When we compute the residues of the two-point function and scattering amplitudes we will take the momenta to be on-shell on one of these masses. The solutions are normalizable as long as $\nu > -1$, which corresponds to the unitarity bound.

The functions φ_a form an orthonormal set

$$\int_0^1 \frac{du}{u^{d-1}} \varphi_a(u) \varphi_b(u) = \delta_{ab}.$$
(5.1.19)

Then, the bulk-to-bulk propagator can be written as the usual expansion in the basis of solutions to the boundary problem

$$G(p, u, u_1) = \frac{\Lambda}{(L\Lambda)^{d+1}} \sum_{a=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\mu^2 - \mu_a^2} \varphi_a(u) \varphi_a(u_1).$$
(5.1.20)

5.1.2 Residues and scattering amplitude

When the momenta are taken on-shell to one of the masses of the scalar glueballs/mesons $\mu \to \mu_a$, the poles in the bulk-to-bulk propagator are manifest. In the bulk-to-boundary propagator they are implicit in the coefficient c_{μ} ,

$$c_{\mu} \simeq \frac{Y_{\nu}(\mu_a)}{J_{\nu+1}(\mu_a)(\mu_a - \mu)} = \frac{Y_{\nu}(\mu_a)}{\sqrt{2}(\mu_a - \mu)} c_a \simeq \frac{\sqrt{2}\mu_a Y_{\nu}(\mu_a)}{\mu_a^2 - \mu^2} c_a.$$
 (5.1.21)

Then, we can approximate the bulk-to-boundary propagator by the single pole contribution

$$K(p,u) \simeq_{p^2 \to -M_a^2} \frac{\pi \mu_a^{\nu+1} Y_\nu(\mu_a)}{2^{\nu-\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma(\nu) \Lambda^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} \frac{1}{\mu_a^2 - \mu^2} \varphi_a(u),$$
(5.1.22)

and similarly for the bulk-to-bulk propagator

$$G(p, u, u_1) \simeq_{p^2 \to -M_a^2} \frac{\Lambda}{(L\Lambda)^{d+1}} \frac{1}{\mu^2 - \mu_a^2} \varphi_a(u) \varphi_a(u_1).$$
(5.1.23)

Expanding now the normalizable solutions for $u \to 0$,

$$\varphi_a(u) \simeq c_a \frac{\mu_a^{\nu}}{2^{\nu} \Gamma(\nu+1)} u^{\frac{d}{2}+\nu} + \dots,$$
(5.1.24)

and taking into account that $M^2 = -p^2$, we obtain

$$K_{\nu}(p) \simeq_{p^{2} \to -M_{a}^{2}} \Lambda^{2(\nu+1)} \frac{\pi \mu_{a}^{2\nu+1} Y_{\nu}(\mu_{a})}{2^{2\nu-\frac{1}{2}} \nu \Gamma(\nu) 2} \frac{c_{a}}{p^{2} + M_{a}^{2}}$$
(5.1.25)

$$G_{\nu}(p,u_1) \simeq_{p^2 \to -M_a^2} -\Lambda^{2+\nu-\frac{d}{2}} \frac{\mu_a \nu}{2^{\nu} \nu \Gamma(\nu) L^{d+1}} \frac{c_a}{p^2 + M_a^2} \varphi_a(u_1).$$
(5.1.26)

Comparing with the formula (4.1.41) we can extract the value of residues in the two-point function of the dual operator, for a glueball/meson of mass M_a

$$Z_a = \mathcal{N}\Lambda^{2(\nu+1)} z_a, \quad z_a = \frac{\pi \mu_a^{2\nu+1} Y_\nu(\mu_a)}{2^{2\nu-\frac{3}{2}} \Gamma(\nu)^2} c_a.$$
(5.1.27)

It is convenient to use this expression for the residue to simplify the formula of the bulk-to-boundary propagator:

$$K(p,u) \simeq_{p2 \to -Ma2} \Lambda^{\nu+2-\frac{d}{2}} \frac{2^{\nu-1} \Gamma(\nu) z_a}{c_a \mu_a^{\nu}} \frac{1}{p^2 + M_a^2} \varphi_a(u), \qquad (5.1.28)$$

Combining (4.1.41) and (5.1.14) we get for the residue of the four-point function

$$\mathcal{Z}_{a;bcd} = -\mathcal{N}\Lambda^{8-d+4\nu}4^{\nu-1}\Gamma(\nu)^2 v_4 z_b z_c z_d \frac{c_a \mu_a^{\nu}}{c_b \mu_b^{\nu} c_c \mu_c^{\nu} c_d \mu_d^{\nu}} \int_0^1 \frac{du_1}{u_1^{d+1}} \varphi_a(u_1)\varphi_b(u_1)\varphi_c(u_1)\varphi_d(u_1).$$
(5.1.29)

Then, the contribution of the quartic term in the scalar potential to the scattering amplitude (4.1.45) is

$$\mathcal{M}_{v_4 \, abcd} = -\frac{v_4}{\mathcal{N}} 4^{\nu-2} \Gamma(\nu)^2 \Lambda^{4-d} \kappa_{abcd} \sum_{k=a,b,c,d} \left(\frac{z_{n_1} z_{n_2} z_{n_3}}{z_k}\right)^{1/2} \frac{c_k \mu_k^{\nu}}{c_{n_1} \mu_{n_1}^{\nu} c_{n_2} \mu_{n_2}^{\nu} c_{n_3} \mu_{n_3}^{\nu}}\Big|_{n_i=a,b,c,d;n_i \neq k}, \tag{5.1.30}$$

where we have defined the overlap between the solutions of the scalar field as

$$\kappa_{abcd} = \int_0^1 \frac{dv}{v^{d+1}} \varphi_a(v) \varphi_b(v) \varphi_c(v) \varphi_d(v).$$
(5.1.31)

When $v \to 0$ the integrand has the following behavior

$$\frac{1}{v^{d+1}}\varphi_a(v)\varphi_b(v)\varphi_c(v)\varphi_d(v) \sim v^{d+4\nu-1}.$$
(5.1.32)

The integral is convergent as long as $d + 4\nu > 0$. Unitarity restricts $\nu > -1$, but the condition that the amplitude is finite imposes a stronger restriction for d < 4,

$$\nu > -\frac{d}{4} \Rightarrow \Delta > \frac{d}{4}.$$
(5.1.33)

If instead of a quartic term in the potential of the scalar field we had a term $\sim v_K \Phi^K$, K > 4, then there would be a contribution to the scattering amplitude similar to (5.1.31), but involving a convolution of K of the modes

$$\mathcal{M}_{v_K} \sim \int_0^1 \frac{dv}{v^{d+1}} \prod_{i=1}^K \varphi_{a_i}(v) \equiv \kappa_K.$$
(5.1.34)

This can also be interpreted as the (holographic) wavefunction overlap of all the modes involved in the scattering. This integral is convergent for $(d/2 + \nu)K > d$, which gives the condition for a finite K-particle scattering amplitude

$$\nu > \frac{d}{K} - \frac{d}{2} \Rightarrow \Delta > \frac{d}{K}.$$
(5.1.35)



Figure 5.1.1: We depict the overlap κ_K as defined in (5.1.34) for various dimensions: d = 2 (Left), d = 3 (Middle), and d = 4 (Right). The three curves correspond to the overlap of K = 4, 6, 8 modes. The shaded gray is the region excluded by unitarity (5.1.33) and the vertical dot-dashed lines are the more stringent constraints (5.1.35) where applicable.

We see that larger values of K impose a looser constraint, they become more restrictive than the unitarity bound for d < 2K/(K-2). In Fig. 5.1.1 we have plotted the overlap for various dimensions and for varying number of modes, showing that the corresponding amplitude diverges as the bound (5.1.35) is approached, if the bound is above the unitarity bound.

5.1.3 Scattering length

We have derived a formula for the scattering length in (4.1.46) when d = 4. Since the scattering amplitude (5.1.30) does not depend on the spatial momentum, we can read directly the result for the contribution of the quartic term in the scalar potential in units of the IR scale

$$\Lambda_{a_s}(v_4) = \frac{v_4}{16\pi\mathcal{N}} 4^{\nu-1} \Gamma(\nu)^2 \frac{\kappa_{aabb}}{\mu_a + \mu_b} \left(\frac{|z_a|}{(c_a \mu_a^{\nu})^2} + \frac{|z_b|}{(c_b \mu_b^{\nu})^2} \right),$$
(5.1.36)

where

$$\kappa_{aabb} = \int_0^1 \frac{du}{u^5} \varphi_a(u)^2 \varphi_b(u)^2.$$
(5.1.37)

This can be further simplified to

$$\Lambda_{a_s}(v_4) = \frac{v_4}{32\mathcal{N}}\kappa_{aabb}\frac{\mu_a|Y_\nu(\mu_a)J_{\nu+1}(\mu_a)| + \mu_b|Y_\nu(\mu_b)J_{\nu+1}(\mu_b)|}{\mu_a + \mu_b}.$$
(5.1.38)



Figure 5.1.2: Contribution of the quartic term in the scalar potential to the scattering length $10^3 \times \mathcal{N}\Lambda a_s(v_4)/v_4$ as a function of the masses $\mu_a = M_a/\Lambda$, $\mu_b = M_b/\Lambda$ of the particles involved in the scattering for $\nu = 1$. Notice that the axes scale logarithmically.

The overlap (5.1.37) is clearly positive $\kappa_{aabb} > 0$, so the sign of the contribution to the scattering length is determined by the sign of the coefficient v_4 in the quartic term of the potential. For a large enough value of $|v_4|$ this contribution would dominate and determine the sign of the full scattering length. In this case the interaction between the scalar glueballs or hadrons associated to the operator \mathcal{O} would be repulsive for $v_4 > 0$ and attractive for $v_4 < 0$. In general we expect the overlap to decrease when the mass difference is larger, as the solutions for the scalar field associated to each mass will be peaked at different positions in the radial direction. A smaller scattering length implies weaker interactions between states of different mass. We have confirmed the expected trend of $a_s(v_4)$ by computing numerically the scattering length for a large set of masses; see Fig. 5.1.2 In Fig. 5.1.3 we, on the other hand, show how the scattering length a_s depends on the scaling dimension of the scalars involved in the process. For small scaling dimension the scattering length increases, reaching a maximum and then slowly decreasing indefinitely.



Figure 5.1.3: We depict the contribution of the quartic term in the scalar potential to the scattering length $10^3 \times \mathcal{N}\Lambda a_s(v_4)/v_4$ for the lowest mass states as a function of the scaling dimension Δ . The shaded gray region is excluded by the unitarity constraint (5.1.33), which in this case is no weaker than (5.1.35).

5.2 Scattering in the dual to $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ super Yang-Mills

Here we will not study the most general case of the model presented in (3.2.1), but restrict to the simpler subset of vanishing gaugino condensate. In this case the background geometry is a solution of five-dimensional supergravity truncated to a single scalar coupled to the metric. In a convenient set of coordinates the metric is (0 < u < 1)

$$ds_{4+1}^2 = L^2 \left(\frac{du^2}{4(1-u)^2} + \frac{u}{1-u} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} \right).$$
(5.2.1)

The metric can be put in the form given in (4.1.2) by a change of coordinates

$$u = 1 - \frac{z^2}{z_{\Lambda}^2}, \quad x_{\mu} \to \frac{1}{z_{\Lambda}} x_{\mu}.$$
(5.2.2)

Therefore, $u \to 1$ corresponds to the boundary of the bulk, which is asymptotically AdS_5 . The other limit $u \to 0$ is the origin of bulk spacetime $z \to z_{\Lambda}$. The scale of confinement is $\Lambda = 1/z_{\Lambda}$; in the following we will set $z_{\Lambda} = 1$, so all dimensionful quantities are given in units of Λ .

5.2.1 Scalar solutions

Although there are several scalar fields in the supergravity action, their action involves coupling the background metric to the scalar field that will subsequently make the analysis more involved. This will affect the spectrum of normal modes and moreover introduce cubic couplings [68, 69]. These technical complications may obscure the physics we are primarily interested in, which is how the geometric realization of confinement affects to the scattering amplitudes. Thus, in order to facilitate the analysis and the comparison with other models, we will study a family of probe scalar fields, decoupled from the background scalar and with a quartic potential as presented in the general analysis.

A scalar operator of dimension $\Delta = 2 + \nu$ is dual to a scalar field of mass

$$m^{2}L^{2} = \Delta(\Delta - 4) = \nu^{2} - 4.$$
(5.2.3)

The linearized equation of motion for the scalar field is

$$\phi'' + \frac{2-u}{1-u}\phi' + \left(\frac{M^2}{4(1-u)} - (\nu^2 - 4)\frac{u}{4(1-u)^2}\right)\phi = 0.$$
(5.2.4)

Regular solutions are given in terms of hypergeometric functions

$$\phi_M(u) = (1-u)^{\frac{2+\nu}{2}} {}_2F_1\left(1+\frac{\nu}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\nu^2+M^2-4}, 1+\frac{\nu}{2}+\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\nu^2+M^2-4}; 2; u\right).$$
(5.2.5)

The bulk-to-boundary propagator $K_{\nu}(M; u)$ is proportional to (5.2.5), normalized to have the right asymptotic behavior

$$K_M(u) \xrightarrow[u \to 1]{} 1 \cdot (1-u)^{\frac{2-\nu}{2}} = z^{2-\nu}.$$
 (5.2.6)

Then,

$$K_M(u) = \frac{\Gamma(1-\nu)}{\pi \csc(\pi\nu)} \Gamma\left(1 + \frac{\nu}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\nu^2 + M^2 - 4}\right) \Gamma\left(1 + \frac{\nu}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\nu^2 + M^2 - 4}\right) \phi_M(u).$$
(5.2.7)

Poles in the bulk-to-boundary propagator correspond to the spectrum of normalizable modes. In this case poles appear when the argument of the middle Γ function in (5.2.7) is a non-positive integer

$$1 + \frac{\nu}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\nu^2 + M^2 - 4} = -n, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
 (5.2.8)

This gives the following mass spectrum

$$M_n^2 = 4(n^2 + (2+\nu)n + 2 + \nu).$$
(5.2.9)

At these values the scalar solutions (5.2.5) become

$$\phi_{M_n}(u) = (1-u)^{\frac{2+\nu}{2}} {}_2F_1(-n, n+\nu+2; 2; u).$$
(5.2.10)

The normal modes are $\varphi_n = \alpha_n \phi_{M_n}(u)$, where

$$\alpha_n = \sqrt{2(n+1)(\nu+n+1)(\nu+2n+2)}.$$
(5.2.11)

They form an orthonormal basis respect to the weight $\rho(u) = u/(2(1-u)^2)$

$$\int_0^1 du \,\rho(u)\varphi_n(u)\varphi_m(u) = \delta_{nm}.$$
(5.2.12)

The computation is straightforward and we have relegated the details in Appendix A. The bulk-to-bulk propagator is determined via (4.1.16).

5.2.2 Scattering for low mass states

Using the values (5.2.9), the leading pole in the bulk-to-boundary propagator (5.2.7) is of the form (4.1.37), with

$$c_n = \frac{4(2+\nu+2n)(-1)n}{n!\alpha_n} \frac{\Gamma(1-\nu)}{\pi \csc(\pi\nu)} \Gamma(2+\nu+n).$$
(5.2.13)

Therefore, the residue of the two-point function (4.1.42) is

$$Z_n = 2\nu \mathcal{N} c_n \alpha_{n-2} F_1(-n, n+\nu+2; 2; 1).$$
(5.2.14)

For the lowest mass n = 0, we have that

$$\alpha_0 = \sqrt{2(\nu+1)(\nu+2)}, \quad c_0 = 4\nu(\nu+1)(\nu+2)/\alpha_0, \quad (5.2.15)$$

and the residue is

$$Z_0 = 8\mathcal{N}\nu^2(\nu+1)(\nu+2). \tag{5.2.16}$$

The residue of the leading pole in the four-point function is given by (4.1.43),

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n_1;n_2,n_3,n_4} = -2\nu v_4 \,\mathcal{N} \, c_{n_2} c_{n_3} c_{n_4} \kappa_{n_1,n_2,n_3,n_4} \,\alpha_{n_1 \ 2} F_1(-n_1,n_1+\nu+2;2;1), \tag{5.2.17}$$

where the overlap is

$$\kappa_{n_1,n_2,n_3,n_4} = \int_0^1 du \, \frac{u^2}{2(1-u)^3} \prod_{i=1}^4 \varphi_{n_i}(u).$$
(5.2.18)

If all the scatterers have equal masses M_0 , then this simplifies to

$$\kappa_{0,0,0,0} = \int_0^1 du \, \frac{u^2}{2(1-u)^3} \varphi_0^4(u) = \frac{\alpha_0^4}{2} \int_0^1 du \, u^2 (1-u)^{1+2\nu} = \frac{\alpha_0^4}{4(\nu+1)(\nu+2)(2\nu+3)}.$$
(5.2.19)

Then,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{0;0,0,0} = -64\mathcal{N} \, v_4 \, \frac{\nu^4 (\nu+1)^3 (\nu+2)^3}{2\nu+3}.$$
(5.2.20)

Let us proceed with our calculation to extract the scattering amplitudes for equal mass lowest modes. For this it is enough to use the formulas (4.1.46) and (4.1.45) by plugging in the values for the residues (5.2.16) and (5.2.20). We therefore find the amplitude

$$\mathcal{M}_{0;0,0,0} = -\frac{v_4}{\mathcal{N}} \frac{(\nu+1)(\nu+2)}{2\nu+3},\tag{5.2.21}$$

and the scattering length

$$a_s = \frac{v_4}{N} \frac{(\nu+1)(\nu+2)^{1/2}}{32\pi(2\nu+3)}.$$
(5.2.22)

As shown in Appendix A, this expression is also valid for $\Delta < \frac{d}{2}$, extrapolating it to values $-1 < \nu < 0$. We have represented the result for the scattering length in Fig. 5.2.1a. We have also computed the scattering length for $\nu = 1$ and scatterers of different mass, the results are represented in Fig. 5.2.1b.



(a) Rescaled scattering length in units of the confinement scale. The(b) Density plot of the scattering length $10^3 \times Na_s/v_4$ in units of horizontal axis is the conformal dimension of the scalar operator confinement scale. The vertical and horizontal axes scale logathat creates the particles involved in the scattering, in this case therithmically and indicate the masses of the particles involved in the scattering is for the particles of lowest mass at each value of thescattering, in units of the confinement scale, for states created by a conformal dimension. Notice the log-linear scale. Scalar operator of fixed conformal dimension $\Delta = 3$ ($\nu = 1$).

Figure 5.2.1: Scattering length in $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM

5.3 Scattering in non-supersymmetric theories

Having discussed scattering in a concrete confining background geometry, it is interesting to raise the question of how universal the results are and, in particular, how sensitive the scattering length is quantitatively to different conformal symmetry breaking mechanisms so here we will compute again the scattering length but in the model presented in (3.2.2)

5.3.1 Normalizable solutions for probe scalar fields

A scalar operator of dimension $\Delta = \frac{5}{2} + \nu$ is dual to a scalar field of mass

$$m^{2}L^{2} = \Delta(\Delta - 5) = \nu^{2} - \frac{25}{4}.$$
 (5.3.1)

Note that Δ is the conformal dimension in the five-dimensional CFT. In the effective four-dimensional field theory the effective dimension of the dual operator will in general be different. Let us proceed with computing the spectrum in the following. The spectra of fluctuations in AdS_6 soliton geometries has been worked out previously in [70]-[72] as well as in [73, [74], where interesting extensions are investigated. However, as in the previous section, we will focus on probe scalars and their spectra for arbitrary conformal dimension as represented in (5.3.1).

The linearized equation of motion for the scalar field is

$$\phi''(z) + \left(\frac{f'}{f} - \frac{4}{z}\right)\phi'(z) + \left(\frac{M^2}{f} - \frac{\nu^2 - \frac{25}{4}}{z^2 f}\right)\phi(z) = 0.$$
(5.3.2)

The Sturm-Liouville form of this equation gives a weight $\rho(z) = 1/z^4$. We do not know an analytic solution to this equation, so we will resort to a numerical calculation to compute the scattering amplitude and the scattering length. Close to the AdS_6 boundary, the scalar field has a leading order behavior $\phi \sim z^{\frac{5}{2}-\nu}$. We will factor out this dependence so that the scalar solution goes to a constant at the boundary. Defining $\phi = z^{\frac{5}{2}-\nu}\chi$ the equation of motion becomes

$$\chi'' + \left(\frac{f'}{f} + \frac{1-2\nu}{z}\right)\chi'(z) + \left(\frac{M^2}{f} + \left(\frac{5}{2} - \nu\right)\frac{f'}{zf} + \frac{\nu^2 - \frac{25}{4}}{z^2}\left(1 - \frac{1}{f}\right)\right)\chi(z) = 0.$$
(5.3.3)

As before, we will fix $z_{\Lambda} = 1$ and express all quantities in units of Λ . We then impose regularity at the origin z = 1 and do numerical shooting to the boundary. The details about the numerical calculation can be found in Appendix **B**.

For a given mass M, if the value of the solution χ_M at the boundary is non-zero $\chi_M(0) \neq 0$, the bulk-to-boundary propagator can be defined as

$$K_M(z) = z^{\frac{5}{2}-\nu} \frac{\chi_M(z)}{\chi_M(0)}.$$
(5.3.4)

The spectrum of normal modes is determined by the values M_n for which $\chi_{M_n}(0) = 0$, which can be found numerically; see Appendix B. We have also derived an analytic estimate for the masses using a WKB approximation; see Appendix C

$$M_n^2 = \frac{\pi^2}{\xi^2} (n+1)(n+\nu) + O(n0), \quad n \ge 0,$$
(5.3.5)

where $\xi \approx 1.25$. For GPPZ we obtain that the difference between the exact and WKB result is ν - and n- independent $M_{\text{exact}}^2 - M_{WKB}^2 = 4$. Comparison between the WKB values and numerical values in the AdS_6 soliton show also very good agreement, especially as the value of ν is increased. The spectrum for the first few modes and different values of ν is represented in Fig. 5.3.1.

The fully normalizable solutions are given by

$$\varphi_n(z) \equiv \alpha_n \phi_n(z) = \alpha_n \, z^{\frac{5}{2}-\nu} \chi_{M_n}(z), \qquad (5.3.6)$$

where the coefficients α_n are chosen in such a way that the normal modes have unit norm, forming a complete orthonormal set

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{dz}{z^{4}} \varphi_{n}(z) \varphi_{m}(z) = \delta_{nm}, \quad \alpha_{n} = \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{dz}{z^{4}} \varphi_{n}(z)^{2} \right)^{-1/2}.$$
(5.3.7)

Some numerical values of the normalization coefficients are given in Appendix \mathbb{B} The bulk-to-bulk propagator is determined by this basis as in (4.1.16).



Figure 5.3.1: Masses of the lower modes in units of the confinement scale. The solid curves correspond to the numerical results while the dashed curve stem from the WKB approximation obtained in Appendix \boxed{C}

5.3.2 Scattering for low mass states

Using the values given in Table B.0.1, the leading pole in the bulk-to-boundary propagator (5.3.4) is of the form (4.1.37). In order to compute the residue numerically it is convenient to first evaluate numerically the limit

$$k_n = \frac{1}{(2\nu)!} \lim_{M \to M_n} \left(M_n^2 - M_2 \right) \times \frac{\partial_z^{2\nu} \chi_M(z)}{\chi_M(0)} \Big|_{z=0}.$$
 (5.3.8)

Then, the coefficient relating the residue to the normal mode is $c_n = k_n/\alpha_n$, and the residue of the two-point function of the dual operator is determined by

$$Z_n = 2\nu \,\mathcal{N}\,k_n.\tag{5.3.9}$$

Some numerical results for k_n are presented in Tables B.0.1 and B.0.2 in Appendix B.

The residue of the leading pole in the four-point function is given by (4.1.43), evaluating the limit it becomes

$$\mathcal{Z}_{n_1;n_2,n_3,n_4} = -2\nu v_4 \,\mathcal{N} \, c_{n_2} c_{n_3} c_{n_4} \alpha_{n_1} k_{n_1} \kappa_{n_1,n_2,n_3,n_4},\tag{5.3.10}$$

where the overlap κ is defined as

$$\kappa_{n_1,n_2,n_3,n_4} = \int_0^1 \frac{dz}{z^6} \prod_{i=1}^4 \varphi_{n_i}(z).$$
(5.3.11)

We list some numerical values of the overlap in Appendix B.

We proceed to compute the scattering length and the scattering amplitude for scatterers of equal and lowest mass. For this it is enough to use the formulas (4.1.46) and (4.1.45) plugging the values we have found for the residues (5.3.9) and (5.3.10). The results for the lowest mass and different values of the conformal dimensions are represented in Figure (5.3.2a), while the results for scattering with different masses and fixed conformal dimensions can be found in Fig. (5.3.2b).

¹We explain how to generalize this calculation when ν is not a half-integer in Appendix B





(a) Rescaled scattering length in units of the confinement scale. The horizontal axis is ν , that up to a constant shift is the conformal dimension of the scalar operator that creates the particles involved in the scattering. In this case the scattering is for the particles of lowest mass at each value of the conformal dimension.

(b) Density plot of the scattering length $10^3 \times Na_s/v_4$ in units of the confinement scale. The vertical and horizontal axes scale logarithmically and indicate the masses of the particles involved in the scattering, in units of the confinement scale, for states created by a scalar operator of fixed conformal dimension (corresponding to $\nu = 1/2$).

Figure 5.3.2: Scattering length in the non-supersymmetric holographic mode

5.4 Discussion

We have presented a method to compute the scattering length of the effective interaction between color singlet states (glueballs or hadrons) in a large-N strongly coupled gauge theory with a holographic dual. We have focused on the states created by a scalar operator of fixed dimension Δ and performed explicitly the calculation in various models. It is, in principle, straightforward to extend our analysis to operators of different spins or to consider the scattering process between particles created by operators of different dimensions.

First we illustrated the power of our method by finding the main contribution to the scattering length of a contact interaction in the two-to-two elastic scattering of spin-0 particles. We considered the hard wall model [13], consisting of a AdS_5 geometry with a sharp cutoff by imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions on the bulk fields. The position of the cutoff was identified as the scale of confinement, hence determining the masses of the particles in the field theory. As a model it is quite crude, and one might wonder whether the scattering amplitudes are very sensitive to the way the confinement scale is introduced.

We have found that the condition of having a finite amplitude puts a lower bound on the dimensions of the scalar operator. The constraint stems from the properties of the solution in the asymptotic region, so we expect it to be universal for any model that is asymptotically AdS. We have argued that the bound is above the unitarity bound for theories in d < 2K/(K-2) spacetime dimensions if there is a polynomial term of order K in the scalar potential of the dual theory. Note that for the case we have worked out explicitly, K = 4, the bound is above the value of scalar operators in some CFTs. For instance, in the d = 3 Ising model $\Delta_{\sigma} \simeq 0.518$ (see, e.g., [75]), which is below 3/4 bound that we found in the holographic model. The same holds for the d = 2 Ising model, where $\Delta_{\sigma} = 1/8$, while the holographic bound is 1/4.

It is interesting to ask why the bound we are proposing is stronger than expected? It might be that the bound only applies to a restricted set of theories with holographic duals, in the large-N limit, or with a discrete spectrum of massive states. It would be especially interesting if the last option was true, as it would imply that a theory with an operator of low enough dimension cannot have a discrete gapped spectrum, going beyond conformal bootstrap bounds (see, e.g., [76] for a review). Note that theories with a holographic dual that do not have a fixed point in the UV, *i.e.* with an asymptotic geometry different from AdS, might also avoid the bound. However, this will signal UV physics different from that of an ordinary field theory in d dimensions.



Figure 5.4.1: Witten diagrams corresponding to the contribution by the quartic interaction that we have computed (Left) and the contribution due to one graviton exchange (Right).

As our purpose was to point out the possibility of computing this observable in holography and to expose the method, we have restricted for simplicity to interactions that only involve the dual scalar field. Our calculation can be understood pictorially as a Witten diagram with four scalar legs joining at a single point in the bulk. We should mention that the calculation of four-point functions of scalar operators through Witten diagrams and other techniques in AdS/CFT has a long history, starting with [77, 78]. However, previous works have largely focused on conformal theories and using a representation in position space, or Mellin transforms that take advantage of conformal symmetry [79–82]. In some cases, but still restricted to conformal theories, correlators in momentum space have also been studied; for recent works, see [83–85].

It should be noted that the scalar field is coupled to the metric and maybe other fields as well, so there are more contributions to the effective interaction of scalar states and therefore to the scattering length. In particular, there should be a universal contribution corresponding to the exchange of one graviton between the two scalars, as in Fig. 5.4.1. It seems quite likely that the graviton exchange will produce a tensor contribution to the effective potential, analogous to the one observed in the nucleon-nucleon potential. It would be quite interesting to derive the effective potential for fermion fields and compare with fits of the nucleon-nucleon potential to experiments. Exchange diagrams would also introduce additional momentum dependence in the scattering amplitude, whereas the contact interaction in the effective potential we have studied reduces to a delta function in space.

Following this last line of thought, a direct comparison with QCD would be more consequential for holographic models that are designed to approximate it as closely as possible, such as the IHQCD or V-QCD models [?, 12]. It should be noted that baryons usually do not have a simple description in the holographic model as fields in the gravity action, although it is possible to avoid this issue by considering different types of large-N limits [?,?,?,?].

Our results for the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM [14] are represented in Fig. 5.2.1a] corresponding to the scattering length for particles of the lowest masses as a function of the conformal dimension of the dual operator, and in Fig. 5.2.1b corresponding to the scattering length for fixed conformal dimension and different masses of the particles involved in the scattering process. The same quantities for the non-supersymmetric model [?] are represented in Fig. 5.3.2a and in Fig. 5.3.2b] They are qualitatively quite similar. There is a smooth increase of the scattering length with the conformal dimension along similar-looking curves. The scattering length is larger for scatterers of equal masses and decreases when any of the masses is increased. The conclusion is that the scattering length for this type of contribution is largely insensitive to the physics that produces the mass gap.²] For the hard wall model one can observe a similar behavior for the scattering length as a function of the masses in Fig 5.1.2] The dependence with the conformal dimension, see Fig 5.1.3 is also quite close, although in the hard wall model it is not monotonically increasing, suggesting that the hard wall model may miss some of the relevant physics for large-dimension operators. A direct comparison of the scattering lengths in each model can be seen in Fig. 5.4.2] It is, however, important to notice that while the functional dependences are very similar between the models of the present work, the AdS_6 soliton geometry always results in larger scattering lengths than in GPPZ and the quantitative match between the models is only within $\mathcal{O}(1)$.

 $^{^{2}}$ From a technical point of view the similarity probably originates in the solutions to the Sturm-Liouville problem in each geometry being similar.



Figure 5.4.2: Scattering length for the duals to the AdS_6 soliton, GPPZ geometry, and hard wall, in units of the confinement scale as a function the dimension of the dual operator $\nu = \Delta - \frac{d}{2}$. $\nu = -1$ corresponds to the unitarity bound, where the scattering length vanishes in all cases. The scattering length is roughly of the same order of magnitude and shows the same increasing trend with ν for the AdS_6 soliton and GPPZ model, while the hard wall model starts decreasing at larger values of ν .

The dependence on the mass can be partially understood. This is because the scattering amplitude is proportional to the overlap between the modes in the gravity dual, which is bound to decrease as the masses become more apart, and the modes will have support on different regions. In field theory this would imply that particles of very different masses have weaker contact interactions. Although we do not have a clear cut explanation, a possible interpretation is that the particles with very different Compton wavelengths are less likely to scatter: imagine the one with smaller wavelength as a particle-like object of the size of its Compton wavelength and the other as a wave.

As a function of the conformal dimension, we observe in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM and hard wall models that the scattering length vanishes when the unitarity bound is saturated, conforming to expectations, as this point corresponds to free particles. It is then natural that the scattering becomes stronger as the dimension increases above the unitarity bound. For the AdS_6 soliton we did not reach the unitarity bound but indeed we observe that the scattering length increases with the conformal dimension. The overall sign of the scattering length depends on whether the interaction is repulsive (positive) or attractive (negative). In the plots, this sign is determined by the factor v_4 that defines the contact interaction in the gravity dual.

Chapter 6

Holographic calculation of the pion scattering amplitude

After computing the scattering lenght and spectrum of masses of three different models with confining duals we compute the pion scattering amplitude in the Witten-Sakai-Sugimoto model and extract from two-pion scattering amplitude, which we compute directly in the holographic dual through tree-level Witten diagrams, the pion decay constant and coefficients of fourth derivative terms in the chiral Lagrangian for massless quarks.

The observables that are relevant in the construction of a holographic model are the LECs. These constants enter in the effective QCD action and determine the interactions among hadrons and, most importantly, their values can be inferred from experiments. ChPT provides a systematic approach to characterize the LECs based on the approximate flavor symmetry of the microscopic QCD Lagrangian and the spontaneous breaking of this symmetry by a chiral condensate in the QCD vacuum. A holographic model that aspires to quantitatively counterfeit QCD observables in the confined phase should therefore be able to reproduce the chiral effective action with values of the LECs that match the experimental observations.

Being able to extract the LECs from the holographic model is fundamental. An early proposal on how to construct the effective action was within the Witten-Sakai-Sugimoto (WSS) model 11,15,16 by unveiling the action in the gravity side for modes of the fields dual to mesons. Later works in other models followed a similar approach 13,86-99. We follow a different path, we extract the LECs from the low-energy scattering amplitude of pions, that we compute directly from Witten diagrams in the gravity dual following the method developed in 17,18. To be definite, we focus on the WSS model with two flavors of massless quarks and find that the coefficients originating from pion self-interactions in the gravity dual were misidentified.

The holographic dictionary instructs to map gauge-invariant operators to fields in the gravity dual. The pion should be understood as a mode produced by the axial current operator. We can thus obtain the pion scattering amplitudes from axial current correlators via an LSZ reduction formula where we have to identify the massless poles appearing in the correlators. The pion propagator will be determined by the two-point function of the axial current and the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude henceforth by the four-point function.

From (6.2.13), the expectation value (vev) of the axial current can be computed from the asymptotic values of the canonical momentum conjugate to the gauge fields

$$\langle J_{5\,a}^{\mu} \rangle = \left(\lim_{Z \to \infty} + \lim_{Z \to -\infty} \right) \pi_{a}^{\mu} .$$
(6.0.1)

We can extract higher order correlators from the vev by taking variations with respect to an external axial gauge field

$$\langle J_5^{\mu a}(x) J_5^{\mu_1 a_1}(y_1) \cdots J_5^{\mu_n a_n}(y_n) \rangle = (-i)^n \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\delta}{\delta A_{5\mu_i}^{a_i}(y_i)} \langle J_{5a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle \quad , \tag{6.0.2}$$

where the external gauge fields are identified as the asymptotic values of the gauge fields (6.2.1). Taking into acount that

$$\int d^4x A^a_{5\,\mu}(x) J^{\mu\,a}_5(x) = \int \frac{d^4q}{(2\pi)^4} A^a_{5\,\mu}(-q) J^{\mu\,a}_5(q) , \qquad (6.0.3)$$

the analogous formula in momentum space reads

$$\langle J_5^{\mu a}(p) J_5^{\mu_1 a_1}(q_1) \cdots J_5^{\mu_n a_n}(q_n) \rangle = (-i)^n \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\delta}{\delta A_{5\mu_i}^{a_i}(-q_i)} \langle J_{5a}^{\mu}(p) \rangle .$$
(6.0.4)

6.1 The holographic model

In this section we are going to present the explicit setup used within the WSS model to derive the pion scattering amplitude at strong coupling.

In the following we will take $N_f = 2$ so the Abelian and non-Abelian components of the gauge field on the D8-branes are split according to

$$A_M = a_M \frac{\mathbb{I}_2}{2} + A_M^a \frac{\sigma^a}{2} \ . \tag{6.1.1}$$

We will denote the Abelian field strength as $f_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}a_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}a_{\mu}$. For the non-Abelian part, we will distinguish between the linear and non-linear part of the field strength as follows

$$F^{a}_{\mu\nu} = f^{a}_{\mu\nu} + \epsilon^{abc} A^{b}_{\mu} A^{c}_{\nu} , \quad f^{a}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu} A^{a}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} A^{a}_{\mu} .$$
(6.1.2)

For an antipodal D8-brane embedding it is convenient to introduce a change of coordinates $(\tau, U) \rightarrow (y, z)$ with

$$y = r \cos \theta$$
, $z = r \sin \theta$, $\theta = M_{\rm KK} \tau$, $U^3 = U_{\rm KK}^3 + U_{\rm KK} r^2$. (6.1.3)

The D8-brane will be localized at y = 0 and extended along the z direction. The induced metric on the D8-brane in this case reads

$$ds_8^2 = \frac{4}{9} \left(\frac{R}{U_z}\right)^{3/2} \frac{U_{\rm KK}}{U_z} dz^2 + \left(\frac{U_z}{R}\right)^{3/2} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + R^{3/2} U_z^{1/2} d\Omega_4^2 , \qquad (6.1.4)$$

where

$$U_z^3 = U_{\rm KK}^3 + U_{\rm KK} z^2 . ag{6.1.5}$$

It will be convenient to introduce dimensionless coordinates $Z = z/U_{\rm KK}$, $x^{\mu} = \hat{x}^{\mu}/M_{\rm KK}$ and define

$$u(Z) = (1+Z^2)^{1/3} . (6.1.6)$$

Then, the induced metric in the dimensionless quantities is $G_{MN} = L^2 \hat{G}_{MN}$, where

$$d\hat{s}_8^2 = u(Z)^{1/2} \left[\frac{dZ^2}{u(Z)^3} + u(Z)\eta_{\mu\nu}d\hat{x}^{\mu}d\hat{x}^{\nu} + \frac{9}{4}d\Omega_4^2 \right] , \ L^2 = \frac{4}{9}R^{3/2}U_{\rm KK}^{1/2} = \frac{4}{27}\lambda_{\rm YM}l_{\rm s}^2 .$$
(6.1.7)

The DBI action can be split according to the factors of the field strength, expanding up to $O(F^4)$,

$$S_{\rm DBI} = -\tilde{T}_8 \int d^4 \hat{x} dZ \, u(Z)^2 \left(2 + \left(\frac{\pi \alpha'}{L^2}\right)^2 \mathcal{L}_{\rm DBI}^{[2]} + \left(\frac{\pi \alpha'}{L^2}\right)^4 \mathcal{L}_{\rm DBI}^{[4]} + \dots \right) \,, \tag{6.1.8}$$

where

$$\tilde{T}_8 = \frac{3}{2g_s} V_4 R^3 L^6 T_8 = \frac{N_c \lambda_{\rm YM}^3}{3^9 \pi^5} , \ \frac{\pi \alpha'}{L^2} = \frac{27\pi}{4\lambda_{\rm YM}} .$$
(6.1.9)

The Lagrangian densities, in terms of dimensionless gauge fields, coordinates, and the metric read

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{DBI}}^{[2]} = \frac{1}{2} F_{MN}^{a} F^{a\,MN} + \frac{1}{2} f_{MN} f^{MN}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{DBI}}^{[4]} = -\frac{1}{6} \left[F^{a\,MA} F_{NA}^{a} F_{MB}^{b} F^{b\,NB} + \frac{1}{2} F^{a\,MN} F^{a\,AB} F_{MB}^{b} F_{AN}^{b} - \frac{1}{8} \left(F^{a\,MN} F_{MN}^{a} F^{b\,AB} F_{AB}^{b} + 2 F^{a\,MN} F^{a\,AB} F_{MN}^{b} F_{AB}^{b} \right) \right] + O(f^{2}F^{2}, f^{4}) .$$
(6.1.10)

In the quartic action (6.1.10) we omitted writing the explicit form of the Abelian and mixed terms since at tree level they do not contribute to a quartic interaction with non-Abelian fields in the external legs.

The Wess-Zumino action is non-vanishing due to the background four-form

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{S^4} F_4 = N_c \tag{6.1.11}$$

in such a way that the Wess-Zumino action is proportional to a five-dimensional Chern-Simons term for the gauge fields on the brane

$$S_{\rm WZ} = \frac{N_c}{24\pi^2} \int_{M^4 \times \mathbb{R}} \omega_5(A) = \int d^4 \hat{x} dZ \,\mathcal{L}_{\rm WZ} \,. \tag{6.1.12}$$

For purely non-Abelian SU(2) fields, the Chern-Simons term vanishes. However, there are mixed terms between Abelian and non-Abelian components

$$\mathcal{L}_{WZ} = \frac{N_c}{32\pi^2} \epsilon^{MNLPQ} a_M \partial_N A_L^a \partial_P A_Q^a + O(A^4 a) .$$
(6.1.13)

6.2 Chiral symmetry and pion mode

Let us discuss the realization of chiral symmetry and the existence of a massless mode corresponding to the pion. Considering only fields that are constant on the S^4 , there are two boundary values that have to be specified for the gauge field on the D8-branes, each of them mapping to background values for the $U(N_f)_L$ and $U(N_f)_R$ gauge fields

$$\lim_{Z \to +\infty} A_{\mu}(x, Z) = L_{\mu}(x) = V_{\mu}(x) + A_{5\,\mu}(x) , \quad \lim_{Z \to -\infty} A_{\mu}(x, Z) = R_{\mu}(x) = V_{\mu}(x) - A_{5\,\mu}(x) , \quad (6.2.1)$$

where V_{μ} are the $U(N_f)_V$ (vector) and $A_{5\mu}$ the $U(N_f)_A$ (axial) gauge fields. The set of gauge transformations U(x, Z) of the field on the D8-branes

$$A_M = U^{-1} A_M U - i U^{-1} \partial_M U , \qquad (6.2.2)$$

generate gauge transformations of the background left- and right-handed gauge fields in the dual field theory

$$\lim_{Z \to +\infty} U(x, Z) = U_L(x) , \quad \lim_{Z \to -\infty} U(x, Z) = U_R(x) .$$
(6.2.3)

In the $A_Z = 0$ gauge the set of allowed bulk gauge transformations is reduced to Z-independent transformations $U_{L,R}(x)$, and the global subgroup are constant transformations. These global transformations are identified with the $U(N_f)_L \times U(N_f)_R$ flavor group of the dual field theory. Note that, when the sources for the flavor currents are turned off $\lim_{Z\to\pm\infty} A_{\mu} = 0$, the global transformations do not change the boundary values of the gauge field as expected. As we mentioned, chiral symmetry is spontaneously broken $U(N_f)_L \times U(N_f)_R \to U(N_f)_V$ in the dual field theory, so there should be a mode on the D8-brane that corresponds to massless pions. We will elucidate this below.

From the quadratic action in (6.1.10) we obtain the following set of linearized equations,

$$\partial_Z \left[u(Z)^3 f^a_{Z\mu} \right] + \frac{1}{u(Z)} \eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha f^a_{\beta\mu} = 0$$

$$\eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha f^a_{\betaZ} = 0 , \qquad (6.2.4)$$

where $f_{MN}^a = \partial_M A_N^a - \partial_N A_M^a$. We will split the gauge potential in transverse, longitudinal, radial, and gauge parts:

$$A^{a}_{\mu} = A^{\perp a}_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu} A^{\parallel a} + \partial_{\mu} C^{a} , \ A^{a}_{Z} = B^{a}_{Z} + \partial_{Z} C^{a} , \ \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} A^{\perp a}_{\nu} = 0 .$$
 (6.2.5)

The second equation in (6.2.4) imposes the conditions $(\partial^2 = \eta^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta})$

$$\partial^2 B_Z^a = \partial^2 \partial_Z A^{\parallel a} . \tag{6.2.6}$$

Then, either $\partial^2 A_M^a = 0$, or B_Z and $A^{\parallel a}$ are pure gauge and can be absorbed in C^a . In the case when the first condition is true, corresponding to a massless mode, the first equation in (6.2.4) becomes

$$\partial_Z \left[u(Z)^3 (\partial_Z A^a_\mu - \partial_\mu A^a_Z) \right] = 0 .$$
(6.2.7)

The solutions are, up to gauge transformations $C^{a}(x, Z)$,

$$A^{a}_{\mu}(x,Z) = \hat{V}^{a}_{\mu}(x) + \hat{A}^{a}_{5\,\mu}(x)\frac{2}{\pi}\arctan(Z) , \ A^{a}_{Z}(x,Z) = 2\varphi^{a}(x)\phi_{0}(Z) = \frac{2}{\pi}\frac{\varphi^{a}(x)}{1+Z^{2}} .$$
(6.2.8)

If we set $\hat{V}^a_{\mu} = \hat{A}_{5\,\mu} = 0$ the mode is normalizable, so there is a massless particle in the dual field theory, which will be identified with the pion. This in fact is an exact solution of the $O(F^2)$ action. The normalizable solution has the field strength

$$F^{a}_{\mu Z} = 2\partial_{\mu}\varphi^{a}\phi_{0}(Z) , \ F^{a}_{\mu\nu} = 0 .$$
 (6.2.9)

Let us show now that indeed φ^a is the pion field up to an overall normalization. Following the usual prescription of the holographic dictionary, we first compute the canonical momentum conjugate to the gauge field

$$\pi_a^{\mu} = \frac{\delta S_{D8}}{\delta \left(\partial_Z A_{\mu}^a\right)} \ . \tag{6.2.10}$$

From (6.1.8)

$$\pi_a^{\mu} = -\tilde{T}_8 \left(\frac{\pi \alpha'}{L^2}\right)^2 u(Z)^2 \left[\Pi_a^{[2]\,\mu} + \left(\frac{\pi \alpha'}{L^2}\right)^2 \Pi_a^{[4]\,\mu} + \dots\right] , \qquad (6.2.11)$$

where, using (6.1.10),

$$\Pi_{a}^{[2]\mu} = 2F^{aZ\mu}$$

$$\Pi_{a}^{[4]\mu} = \frac{1}{6} \left[4F_{L\nu}^{b} \left(F^{a\mu L} F^{bZ\nu} + F^{b\mu L} F^{aZ\nu} \right) + 4F_{L\nu}^{a} F^{b\mu L} F^{bZ\nu} + \left(F^{aZ\mu} F_{NL}^{b} F^{bNL} + 2F^{bZ\mu} F^{bNL} F_{NL}^{a} \right) \right] .$$
(6.2.12)

The expectation values of the flavor currents $J_L^{a\,\mu}$ and $J_R^{a\,\mu}$ are obtained from the boundary values of the canonical momentum

$$\langle J_L^{\mu a} \rangle = \lim_{Z \to +\infty} \pi_a^{\mu} , \ \langle J_R^{\mu a} \rangle = -\lim_{Z \to -\infty} \pi_a^{\mu} .$$
(6.2.13)

To leading order in the field, and restoring units in the x^{μ} directions,

$$\langle J_5^{\mu a} \rangle = \langle J_L^{\mu a} \rangle - \langle J_R^{\mu a} \rangle \simeq f_\pi^2 \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_\nu \varphi^a , \ \langle J_V^{\mu a} \rangle = \langle J_L^{\mu a} \rangle + \langle J_R^{\mu a} \rangle \simeq 0 , \qquad (6.2.14)$$

where f_{π}^2 is given in (6.3.12). This shows that φ^a is proportional to the pion field, since the axial current is proportional to its gradient. Our next goal is to find the pion effective action. Usually this has been done by identifying φ^a as the pion field and using the D8-brane action integrated over the holographic radial coordinate Z as the effective action for the field φ^a . Within this general idea there are two different approaches, an *off-shell* approach where φ^a is taken to be an arbitrary function and an *on-shell* approach where it is a massless field $\partial^2 \varphi^a = 0$. The off-shell approach is the one used originally in the WSS model [15, 16], and has been also employed in other phenomenological models [13, 87, 88, 90–92, 94, 96, 97], while the on-shell approach was introduced in [95] for the AdS/QCD model of [87].

6.3 Effective action for the pion field and vector mesons

For N_f flavors, the pion field is a $N_f \times N_f$ unitary matrix $U = e^{2i\Pi/f_{\pi}}$, with Π a Hermitean matrix. In addition, there is a tower of massive vector meson fields v_{μ}^n , $n = 1, 2, 3, \ldots$ Higher *n* corresponds to higher mass. From the dual gravity point of view, *n* labels Kaluza-Klein modes in the holographic radial direction. The effective action (in the absence of sources) was found to be of the form

$$\mathcal{L} = -\operatorname{tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\Pi\partial^{\mu}\Pi\right) - \frac{1}{3f_{\pi}^{2}}\operatorname{tr}\left[\Pi,\partial_{\mu}\Pi\right]^{2} + \frac{1}{2e_{S}^{2}f_{\pi}^{4}}\operatorname{tr}\left[\partial_{\mu}\Pi,\partial_{\nu}\Pi\right]^{2} + \sum_{n}\operatorname{2tr}\left(\partial_{[\mu}v_{\nu]}\right)^{2} + m_{v^{n}}^{2}(v_{\mu}^{n})^{2} + \frac{2b_{v^{n}\pi\pi}}{f_{\pi}^{2}}\operatorname{tr}\left(\partial_{[\mu}v_{\nu]}\left[\partial^{\mu}\Pi,\partial^{\nu}\Pi\right]\right) , \qquad (6.3.1)$$

where $e_S^2 f_{\pi}^2 \simeq 0.51$. Focusing on the quartic terms in the pion field $O(\partial^2 \Pi^4)$, the naïve LECs in this action² would be the same as for the Skyrme model 36-38. For $N_f = 3$ the LECs satisfy the relations

$$L_2^{SU(3)} = 2L_1^{SU(3)}, \ L_3^{SU(3)} = -3L_2^{SU(3)}, \ L_1^{SU(3)} = \frac{1}{32e_S^2}.$$
 (6.3.2)

¹The relative sign stems from the variation of the D8-brane on-shell action $\delta S_{on-shell} = \int d^4x \left(\left\langle J_L^{\mu a} \right\rangle \delta L_{\mu}^a + \left\langle J_R^{\mu a} \right\rangle \delta R_{\mu}^a \right)$, with the left current at the upper limit of the radial integration and the right current at the lower limit.

²Their precise definition can be found in Eqs. (2.3.23) and (2.3.22)

The first relation actually always holds in the large- N_c limit, so there are only two independent coefficients (this is true for any value of N_f). For SU(2) the term proportional to L_3 can be recast as the term proportional to L_1 , so that for the WSS model

$$L_1^{SU(2)} = L_1^{SU(3)} + \frac{1}{2}L_3^{SU(3)} = -L_2^{SU(3)} = -L_2^{SU(2)}.$$
(6.3.3)

However, the action (6.3.1) is not in the standard form, in particular, the last term capturing the coupling between the vector mesons and the pions is not the expected one from hidden local symmetry (HLS) considerations. In order to correct for this, one redefines the vector meson fields as follows

$$\hat{v}^{n}_{\mu} = v_{\mu} + \frac{b_{v^{n}\pi\pi}}{2f_{\pi}^{2}} \left[\Pi, \partial_{\mu}\Pi\right].$$
(6.3.4)

After this redefinition the action becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = -\mathrm{tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}\Pi\partial^{\mu}\Pi\right) + \sum_{n} 2\mathrm{tr}\left(\partial_{[\mu}\hat{v}_{\nu]}\right)^{2} + m_{\hat{v}^{n}}^{2}(v_{\mu}^{n})^{2} - 2g_{v^{n}\pi\pi}\mathrm{tr}\left(\hat{v}_{\mu}^{n}\left[\Pi,\partial^{\mu}\Pi\right]\right).$$
(6.3.5)

The basic idea of the off-shell approach is to expand the field in "Kaluza-Klein" modes of the holographic radial direction, which, excluding the massless mode, are of the form

$$A_{\mu}(x,Z) = \sum_{n} A_{\mu}^{(n)}(x)\psi_{n}(Z) , \ A_{Z}^{(n)} = 0 .$$
(6.3.6)

Here the functions ψ_n are eigenfunctions of the radial derivative part of the equations

$$u(Z)\partial_Z \left[u(Z)^3 \partial_Z \psi_n(Z) \right] = -m_n^2 \psi_n(Z) , \quad \lim_{Z \to \pm \infty} \psi_n(Z) = 0 , \qquad (6.3.7)$$

where m_n^2 determine the masses of mesons in the dual field theory. Then, from (6.2.4)

$$\partial^2 A^{(n)}_{\mu} - m^2_n A^{(n)}_{\mu} = 0 , \ \eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} A^{(n)}_{\beta} = 0 .$$
(6.3.8)

Introducing the Kaluza-Klein expansion, together with the massless solution back in the action (6.1.8) and integrating over the radial coordinate results in an action for the 4D fields $A^{(n)}_{\mu}$ and φ . This is to be interpreted as the effective action for the meson fields in the dual field theory, with interactions determined by non-quadratic terms. In this derivation the 4D fields are off-shell, *i.e.*, the equations of motion (6.3.8) are not imposed. In previous derivations only the $O(F^2)$ terms were kept, while higher α' corrections to the DBI action were neglected. This restricts the terms in the action to be at most quartic in the fields (for pions and vector mesons) and to have at most four derivatives in the field theory directions. Terms $O(F^4)$ can contribute at the same order of derivatives and fields, so they must be included if one is interested in computing the value of the LECs at finite 't Hooft coupling.

The off-shell Kaluza-Klein expansion is essentially the approach applied to the WSS construction in 15 16 to derive the meson effective action. The action (6.3.1) was actually computed in a slightly different way. Allowing the boundary conditions of the gauge field to be fixed only up to boundary gauge transformations, it is possible to apply a gauge transformation to the solution (6.2.8) (with $\hat{V}_{\mu} = \hat{A}_{5\,\mu} = 0$) such that the radial component vanishes and the pion field φ^a is moved to the components of the gauge potential along the field theory directions. Beyond the linear approximation, this amounts to fixing $A_Z = 0$ and introducing instead a pure gauge configuration for the boundary gauge fields, that is taken to be

$$\hat{V}_{\mu} = -\frac{i}{2}\Sigma^{-1}\partial_{\mu}\Sigma , \ \hat{A}_{5\,\mu} = -\frac{i}{2}\Sigma^{-1}\partial_{\mu}\Sigma .$$
(6.3.9)

We then identify $\Sigma(x)$ as the $SU(N_f)$ matrix of the pions. In this case the field strengths are

$$F_{Z\mu} = -i\Sigma^{-1}\partial_{\mu}\Sigma\phi_0(Z) , \ F_{\mu\nu} = -i\left[\Sigma^{-1}\partial_{\mu}\Sigma,\Sigma^{-1}\partial_{\nu}\Sigma\right](\psi_0(Z) - 1)\psi_0(Z)$$
(6.3.10)

with

$$\psi_0(Z) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{\pi} \arctan(Z) ,$$
 (6.3.11)

and we have used $\psi'_0(Z) = \phi_0(Z)$. Plugging (6.3.10) back in the action (6.1.8) and keeping only $O(F^2)$ terms one finds (6.3.1) up to quartic order in the fields. The terms that involve only the pion have the form (2.3.23) with

$$f_{\pi}^{2} = 8M_{\rm KK}^{2} \frac{N_{c}\lambda_{\rm YM}}{4^{2}3^{3}\pi^{3}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dZ u^{3}\phi_{0}^{2} = \frac{N_{c}\lambda_{\rm YM}}{54\pi^{4}} M_{\rm KK}^{2}$$

$$L_{2}^{SU(2)} = -L_{1}^{SU(2)} = 2\frac{N_{c}\lambda_{\rm YM}}{4^{2}3^{3}\pi^{3}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dZ \frac{(\psi_{0} - 1)^{2}\psi_{0}^{2}}{u} = \frac{N_{c}\lambda_{\rm YM}}{6^{3}\pi^{7}} b , \ b \approx 15.25 .$$
(6.3.12)

One should note that since the boundary values of the gauge potentials do not vanish, this actually corresponds to having a non-zero source proportional to the derivatives of the pion field, in such a way that the pion field enters as a "spurion". In order to demonstrate this we will introduce external gauge fields $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\mu}$, $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{5\,\mu}$ coupled to the axial and vector currents by modifying the boundary conditions in (6.3.9)

$$\hat{V}_{\mu} = \Sigma^{-1} \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\mu} \Sigma - \frac{i}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \partial_{\mu} \Sigma , \ \hat{A}_{5\,\mu} = \Sigma^{-1} \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{5\,\mu} \Sigma - \frac{i}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \partial_{\mu} \Sigma .$$
(6.3.13)

Then, a simultaneous transformation of the pion field and the boundary gauge fields leaves the boundary values of the bulk gauge field invariant.

Expanding up to quartic order in the fields, the shift (6.3.4) removes the source terms depending on the pion field from the effective action and terms quartic in the pion field go away, so the only contributions depending on the pion field left are quadratic or interaction terms involving vector mesons. That the spurion action is able to capture the LECs can be understood from the fact that external gauge fields should be dressed by the physical pion field (once massive vector mesons have been integrated out) in the same way as they are for the spurion in (6.3.13). However, even when the massive vector mesons have not been integrated out, there are terms at $O(F^4)$ in the action (6.1.8) not included in the original derivation [15] that contribute at the same order in fields (quartic) and derivatives (four), albeit they are relatively suppressed by a $1/\lambda_{\rm YM}^2$ factor.

Moving on to the on-shell approach, it has not really been applied to the WSS model, but to other AdS/QCD models with an IR cutoff in the holographic radial direction [95]. In this case the pion field is typically identified with the value of the gauge field at the cutoff, which together with a fixed asymptotic value at the boundary determines the solution for the gauge field. Then one proceeds in a similar way as in the off-shell derivation, evaluating the action on the solution and integrating over the radial direction to obtain the effective action. However, there are two main differences with the off-shell approach. The first one is that there is no expansion in Kaluza-Klein modes. Instead, solutions are found by fixing the value of the field at the cutoff, so even for the linearized equations they will typically consists of a superposition of the massless mode and the whole Kaluza-Klein tower. The second difference is that the full set of equations is solved, including equations with only field theory derivatives and non-linear terms. This can be done systematically using an expansion in derivatives and factors of the pion field, which is on-shell in this derivation (*i.e.*, terms proportional to the equations of motion of the pion field vanish).

It was also argued in [95], and shown for the AdS/QCD model introduced in [87], that the off-shell and on-shell derivations of the effective action should agree if the former is put on-shell which in the low momentum expansion requires integrating out all the massive vector bosons. In the WSS model one could in principle attempt a similar on-shell derivation contemplating the pion as the value of the field at an IR cutoff at Z = 0.

Our approach using scattering amplitudes have some similarities with the on-shell approach in that we will be solving the equations of motion in an expansion around the linearized solution, however, it will be the UV rather than the IR value of the gauge fields that will determine the expansion.

6.4 Expansion in a background axial gauge field

We will set $V^a_{\mu} = 0$ and $A^a_{5\mu} \sim O(\epsilon)$ with ϵ treated as a small parameter. The solutions for the gauge field on the D8-branes will be expanded in ϵ , that counts the number of factors of the source appearing in each term of the expansion

$$A_M = \epsilon A_M^{(1)} + \epsilon^2 A_M^{(2)} + \epsilon^3 A_M^{(3)} + \dots$$
 (6.4.1)

The $O(\epsilon)$ term contribution captures the two-point function of the current and the $O(\epsilon^3)$ contribution the four-point function. Our goal is to compute both in the following.

At each order we can arrange the equations of motion for the gauge field as follows

$$\partial_{Z} \left[u(Z)^{3} f_{Z\mu}^{(n) a} \right] + \frac{1}{u(Z)} \eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} f_{\beta\mu}^{(n) a} = I_{\mu}^{(n) a}$$

$$u(Z)^{3} \eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} f_{\beta Z}^{(n) a} = I_{Z}^{(n) a} ,$$
(6.4.2)

where $I_{\mu}^{(1) a} = I_{Z}^{(1) a} = 0$. Following the holographic dictionary, we should impose boundary conditions such that

$$\lim_{Z \to \pm \infty} A^{(1) a}_{\mu}(x, Z) = \pm \hat{A}^{a}_{5 \mu}(x) , \quad \lim_{Z \to \pm \infty} A^{(n) a}_{\mu}(x, Z) = 0 , n > 1 .$$
(6.4.3)

We will work with Fourier transforms of the fields, and split the gauge potentials as before in transverse, longitudinal, radial, and gauge parts

$$A_{\mu}^{(n)\,a}(q) = A_{\mu}^{(n)\mu\perp a} + iq_{\mu}A^{(n)\,\parallel\,a} + iq_{\mu}C^{(n)\,a} \ , \ A_{Z}^{(n)\,a}(q) = B_{Z}^{(n)\,a} + \partial_{Z}C^{(n)\,a} \ .$$
(6.4.4)

The equations of motion for each component of the gauge field are

$$\partial_{Z} \left[u(Z)^{3} \partial_{Z} A_{\mu}^{(n) \perp a} \right] - \frac{q^{2}}{u(Z)} A_{\mu}^{(n) \perp a} = I_{\mu}^{(n) \perp a}$$

$$q^{2} \partial_{Z} \left[u(Z)^{3} \left(B_{Z}^{(n) a} - \partial_{Z} A^{(n) \parallel a} \right) \right] = i q^{\alpha} I_{\alpha}^{(n) a}$$

$$q^{2} u(Z)^{3} \left(\partial_{Z} A^{(n) \parallel a} - B_{Z}^{(n) a} \right) = I_{Z}^{(n) a}.$$
(6.4.5)

Here and in the following indices will be raised and lowered with the flat Minkowski metric. At orders n > 1 we have to solve inhomogeneous equations. Since $iq^{\alpha}I_{\alpha}^{(n)\,a} + \partial_{Z}I_{Z}^{(n)\,a} = 0$ we can split

$$I_{\mu}^{(n)\,a} = iq_{\mu}\partial_Z J^{(n)\,a} + I_{\mu}^{(n)\,\perp\,a} \ , \ I_Z^{(n)\,a} = q^2 J^{(n)\,a} \ . \tag{6.4.6}$$

Then, the inhomogeneous solution for the longitudinal and radial parts is, up to gauge transformations,

$$A^{(n) \parallel a} = 0, \quad B_Z^{(n) a} = -\frac{1}{u(Z)^3} J^{(n) a} .$$
 (6.4.7)

The field strengths are

$$f_{Z\mu}^{(n)\,a} = \partial_Z A_{\mu}^{(n)\,\perp\,a} + \frac{iq_{\mu}}{q^2} \frac{I_Z^{(n)\,a}}{u^3}$$

$$f_{\mu\nu}^{(n)\,a} = i \left(q_{\mu} A_{\nu}^{(n)\,\perp\,a} - q_{\nu} A_{\mu}^{(n)\,\perp\,a} \right) .$$
(6.4.8)

For the transverse component of the gauge field, the inhomogeneous solution can be formally found using a Green's function

$$A^{(n) \perp a}(Z) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dZ_1 \, G(Z, Z_1; q^2) I_{\mu}^{(n) \perp a}(Z_1) \,. \tag{6.4.9}$$

The Green's function is the solution to

$$\partial_Z \left[u(Z)^3 \partial_Z G(Z, Z_1; q^2) \right] - \frac{q^2}{u(Z)} G(Z, Z_1; q^2) = \delta(Z - Z_1)$$
(6.4.10)

with the boundary conditions

$$\lim_{Z \to \pm \infty} G(Z, Z_1; q^2) = 0 .$$
(6.4.11)

For general values of q^2 we have not been able to found a closed form analytic solution for the Green's function. However, for $q^2 = 0$ it takes a simple form

$$G(Z, Z_1; 0) = \pi \begin{cases} \psi_0(Z)(\psi_0(Z_1) - 1) &, Z < Z_1 \\ \psi_0(Z_1)(\psi_0(Z) - 1) &, Z > Z_1 \end{cases},$$
(6.4.12)

where $\psi_0(Z)$ was given in (6.3.11).³ The asymptotic expansion is

$$\frac{G(Z, Z_1; 0)}{|Z| \to \infty} \simeq -\frac{1}{Z} \begin{cases} \psi_0(Z_1) - 1 & , \quad Z \to -\infty \\ \psi_0(Z_1) & , \quad Z \to +\infty \end{cases}$$
(6.4.15)

³Although not needed in our paper, one can obtain the finite momentum result using an analytic expansion of the Green's function around $q^2 = 0$:

$$G(Z, Z_1; q^2) = G^{(0)}(Z, Z_1) + q^2 G^{(1)}(Z, Z_1) + (q^2)^2 G^{(2)}(Z, Z_1) + \dots ,$$
(6.4.13)

where $G^{(0)}(Z, Z_1) = G(Z, Z_1; 0)$ and where higher order terms in the expansion can be computed iteratively using

$$G^{(n)}(Z,Z_1) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dZ_2 \, G(Z,Z_2;0) \frac{G^{(n-1)}(Z_2,Z_1)}{u(Z_2)} \,. \tag{6.4.14}$$

6.5 Two-point function of the axial current

Before computing the scattering amplitude we need to compute the residue of the massless pole in the axial current two-point function. This determines the pion decay constant, that enters as well in the coefficients of the four-pion interaction, so it is necessary to know its value in order to compare with ChPT.

In order to compute the two-point function it is enough to find the solution for the D8-brane gauge field at $O(\epsilon)$, so the solutions to the linearized equations of motion suffice. Since we are interested in the massless pole, we can expand around $q^2 = 0$. Then, the solution is (6.2.8) plus small corrections

$$A_{\mu}^{(1)\,a} = \frac{2}{\pi} \arctan(Z) \hat{A}_{5\,\mu}^{a}(q) + O(q^{2}) \ , \ A_{Z}^{(1)\,a} = -2 \frac{iq^{\alpha}}{q^{2}} \hat{A}_{5\,\alpha}^{a}(q) \phi_{0}(Z) + O(q^{2}) \ , \tag{6.5.1}$$

Here we have taken into account (6.2.6) for $q^2 \neq 0$. The field strength at $O(\epsilon)$ is

$$f_{Z\mu}^{(1)\,a} = 2\phi_0(Z) \left(\delta_{\mu}^{\nu} - \frac{q_{\mu}q^{\nu}}{q^2}\right) \hat{A}_{5\,\nu}^a(q) \ . \tag{6.5.2}$$

The expectation value of the axial current is determined by the canonical momentum as in (6.0.1), and to $O(\epsilon)$ we only need the term originating from the $O(F^2)$ terms in the D8-brane action, $\Pi^{[2]}$ in (6.2.11). We find for the canonical momentum, using (6.1.9),

$$\pi_a^{\mu} \simeq -4\tilde{T}_8 \left(\frac{\pi \alpha'}{L^2}\right)^2 \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{q^{\mu}q^{\nu}}{q^2}\right) \hat{A}^a_{5\nu}(q) u(Z)^3 \phi_0(Z) = -\frac{N_c \lambda_{\rm YM}}{108\pi^4} \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{q^{\mu}q^{\nu}}{q^2}\right) \hat{A}^a_{5\nu}(q) \;. \tag{6.5.3}$$

Restoring units, the expectation value of the axial current at this order reads

$$\langle J_5^{a\,\mu}(q) \rangle \simeq -\frac{N_c \lambda_{\rm YM}}{54\pi^4} M_{\rm KK}^2 \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{q^\mu q^\nu}{q^2} \right) A_5^a{}_\nu(q) = -f_\pi^2 \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{q^\mu q^\nu}{q^2} \right) A_5^a{}_\nu(q) \;. \tag{6.5.4}$$

This determines the susceptibilities of the axial current. Indeed, considering configurations constant in time,

$$\delta A_{5\,0}^{a}(q) = \delta \mu_{5}^{a}(2\pi)\delta(q_{0}) , \ \delta \left\langle J_{5}^{a\,0}(q) \right\rangle = \delta \rho_{5}^{a}(2\pi)\delta(q_{0}) , \qquad (6.5.5)$$

with μ_5^a the axial chemical potentials and ρ_5^a the axial charge densities, we obtain

$$\delta\rho_5^a \simeq f_\pi^2 \delta^{ab} \delta\mu_5^b \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\partial\rho_5^a}{\partial\mu_5^b} \simeq f_\pi^2 \delta^{ab} \ . \tag{6.5.6}$$

The two-point function of the axial current is, at this order

$$\left\langle J_5^{a\,\mu}(-q) J_5^{b\,\nu}(q) \right\rangle \simeq i f_\pi^2 \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{q^\mu q^\nu}{q^2} \right) \delta^{ab} \,.$$
 (6.5.7)

The residue of the massless pole agrees with the expectation from the effective action. Note that the Ward identity for current conservation is satisfied

$$-iq_{\mu}\left\langle J_{5}^{a\,\mu}(-q)J_{5}^{b\,\nu}(q)\right\rangle = 0.$$
(6.5.8)

This mends the problem of the chiral effective theory Ward identity for the axial current that we mentioned in 2.3.3, one should had included the contact term proportional to the susceptibilities in (2.3.38).

6.6 Four-point function of the axial current

Before computing the scattering amplitude we need to find the leading pole contributions to the four-point function of the current, from the $O(\epsilon^3)$ terms in the expansion of the D8-brane gauge field. This boils down to the calculation of the $O(\epsilon^2)$ and $O(\epsilon^3)$ inhomogeneous terms in (6.4.5), which are then introduced in (6.4.7) and (6.4.9) to get the solution for the gauge field.

The inhomogeneous terms at $O(\epsilon^3)$ can be split in two types of contributions, corresponding to different Witten diagrams. One contribution, $I_v^{(3)}$, corresponds to a four-point vertex, a diagram where four gauge field propagators join at a single point in the bulk. The other contribution, $I_e^{(3)}$, takes the form of an exchange diagram between two three-point vertex, the field propagates in the bulk between two points and there are two other propagators



Figure 6.6.1: Four-point vertex (left) and exchange (right) Witten diagrams used to compute the one-point function of the axial current. Lines ending at the boundary represent bulk-to-boundary propagators and introduce factors proportional to the source, while lines connecting points in the interior represent bulk propagators.

at each point. We have sketched the two Witten diagrams in Fig. 6.6.1. For each type we are interested only in terms with massless poles that will be the only ones contributing to the pion scattering amplitude. The leading pole contribution to the scattering amplitude has a massless pole for each external leg. Within $O(\epsilon^3)$, the only leading pole contributions are those terms with two (three) massless pole factors in I_Z (I_μ). From (6.5.1) one can see that the only terms depending on the first order Abelian field strength that contain massless poles are those proportional to $A_Z^{(1)a}$ or $f_{Z\mu}^{(1)a}$. This fact will significantly reduce the number of terms we need to consider. The details of the calculation have been relegated to the Appendix D We identify three types of terms that can

give a contribution to the four-point function:

- Contributions from $O(F^4)$ terms in the canonical momentum. The $O(\epsilon)$ solution to the gauge fields could give a direct contribution to the four-point function of the axial current through the $\sim F^3$ term in the canonical momentum, $\Pi^{[4]}$ in (6.2.11). However, it turns out that this does not give any contribution to the leading pole, so we can ignore it for the purpose of computing the scattering amplitude.
- Contributions from $O(F^2)$ terms. The non-Abelian terms in the field strength introduce a cubic coupling among gauge fields in the bulk. Joining two such vertices with a bulk gauge field propagator results in an exchange Witten diagram (cf. right panel of Fig. 6.6.1) that does give a contribution to the leading pole of the four-point function. The contribution is:

$$\begin{split} \langle J_5^{\mu_1 a_1}(p_1) J_5^{\mu_2 a_2}(p_2) J_5^{\mu_3 a_3}(p_3) J_5^{\mu_4 a_4}(p_4) \rangle_e \\ \simeq -2i f_\pi^2 \left(\prod_{i=1}^4 \frac{p_i^{\mu_i}}{p_i^2} \right) \delta_{\sum_{i=1}^4 p_i} \Big[\Big\{ (p_1 \cdot p_2) - \frac{4b}{\pi^3 M_{\rm KK}^2} \left[(p_1 \cdot p_3)^2 + (p_1 \cdot p_4)^2 - 2(p_1 \cdot p_2)^2 \right] \Big\} \delta^{a_1 a_2} \delta^{a_3 a_4} \\ + (2 \leftrightarrow 3) + (2 \leftrightarrow 4) \Big] \;, \end{split}$$
(6.6.1)

where b is given in (6.3.12). Non-Abelian terms also introduce quartic couplings among gauge fields, but these do not contribute to the leading pole.

• Contributions from $O(F^4)$ terms in the D8-brane action. These terms introduce a quartic coupling between the Abelianized field strengths. This quartic coupling results in a vertex Witten diagram (cf. left panel of Fig. 6.6.1) that also contributes to the leading pole of the four-point function as follows:

$$\langle J_5^{\mu_1 a_1}(p_1) J_5^{\mu_2 a_2}(p_2) J_5^{\mu_3 a_3}(p_3) J_5^{\mu_4 a_4}(p_4) \rangle$$

$$\simeq i \frac{f_\pi^2}{M_{\rm KK}^2} \frac{3^5 \Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right)}{4\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{8}{3}\right) \lambda_{\rm YM}^2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^4 \frac{p_i^{\mu_i}}{p_i^2} \right) \delta_{\sum_{i=1}^4 p_i} \left(\delta^{a_1 a_2} \delta^{a_3 a_4} + \delta^{a_1 a_3} \delta^{a_2 a_4} + \delta^{a_1 a_4} \delta^{a_2 a_3} \right)$$

$$\times \left[(p_1 \cdot p_2) (p_3 \cdot p_4) + (2 \leftrightarrow 3) + (2 \leftrightarrow 4) \right] .$$

$$(6.6.2)$$

6.7 Scattering amplitude

We are now ready to extract the pion correlators and the scattering amplitude. Recall the expression in (2.3.39), where the current four-point function is given in terms of the pion four-point function. We can thus read off the pion four-point function from (6.6.1) and (6.6.2) by removing the $p_i^{\mu_i}$ factors and dividing by f_{π}^4 . Furthermore, the scattering amplitude appears in the four-point function of the pions, recall (2.3.40), as the residue of the leading pole, once the delta function corresponding to the momentum conservation and an *i* factor have been factored out.

The resulting amplitude has the expected structure (2.3.34), with the exchange contribution (6.6.1) being

$$A_e(s,t,u) = -\frac{2(p_1 \cdot p_2)}{f_\pi^2} + \frac{8b}{\pi^3 f_\pi^2 M_{\rm KK}^2} \left[(p_1 \cdot p_3)^2 + (p_1 \cdot p_4)^2 - 2(p_1 \cdot p_2)^2 \right]$$

$$= \frac{s}{f_\pi^2} + \frac{2b}{\pi^3 f_\pi^2 M_{\rm KK}^2} \left[t^2 + u^2 - 2s^2 \right].$$
(6.7.1)

The first term in the exchange contribution agrees with the first term in Weinberg's amplitude (2.3.36). This therefore proves that the dual holographic derivation is indeed consistently capturing pion dynamics from spontaneous chiral symmetry breaking. The remaining terms take the form expected from vector meson exchange, giving a contribution to the $O(p^4)$ terms which agrees with the expressions in (6.3.12),

$$L_2^e = -L_1^e = \frac{N_c \lambda_{\rm YM}}{6^3 \pi^7} b . ag{6.7.2}$$

The vertex contribution (6.6.2) contains further terms that we can associate to pion self-interactions

$$\begin{aligned} A_v(s,t,u) &= \frac{1}{f_\pi^2 M_{KK}^2} \frac{3^5 \Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right)}{4\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{8}{3}\right) \lambda_{YM}^2} \left[(p_1 \cdot p_2)(p_3 \cdot p_4) + (2 \leftrightarrow 3) + (2 \leftrightarrow 4) \right] \\ &= \frac{3^5 \Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right)}{2^4 \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{8}{3}\right) \lambda_{YM}^2} \frac{s^2 + t^2 + u^2}{f_\pi^2 M_{KK}^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Comparing with Weinberg's amplitude (2.3.36), and using the expression for f_{π}^2 in (6.3.12), we can read off an additional contribution to the value of the coefficients in the pion effective action

$$L_{2}^{v} = 2L_{1}^{v} = \frac{18N_{c}}{(4\pi)^{4}\lambda_{\rm YM}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{8}{3}\right)} .$$
(6.7.3)

.....

The numerical value of the constant factor with the gamma functions is approximately $\frac{\Gamma(\frac{13}{6})}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(\frac{8}{3})} \approx 0.406$.

The full value of the LECs when the vector bosons are integrated out is the sum of the exchange and vertex contributions $\hat{L}_1 = L_1^e + L_1^v$, $\hat{L}_2 = L_2^e + L_2^v$. However, if the vector bosons are kept in the effective action, then only the vertex contributions produce non-vanishing LECs in the chiral Lagrangian $L_1 = L_1^v$, $L_2 = L_2^v$.

6.8 Integrating out vector bosons and Hidden Local Symmetry

One might find it convenient to integrate out only the vector mesons above some mass threshold, in particular keeping only the lightest vector mode. In the scattering calculation the contribution from each massive vector mode can be identified using an eigenfunction expansion of the bulk propagator (6.4.10) entering in the exchange diagram

$$G(Z, Z_1; q) = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi_n(Z)\psi_n(Z_1)}{q^2 + m_n^2} , \qquad (6.8.1)$$

where the eigenfunctions satisfy the following equations

$$\partial_Z \left(u(Z)^3 \partial_Z \psi_n(Z) \right) + \frac{m_n^2}{u(Z)} \psi_n(Z) = 0 , \quad \lim_{Z \to \pm \infty} \psi_n(Z) = 0$$

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dZ \frac{\psi_n(Z)\psi_m(Z)}{u(Z)} = \delta_{nm} . \tag{6.8.2}$$

It should be noted that the $O(p^2)$ contribution to the pion scattering amplitude is obtained from the $q^2 = 0$ value of the bulk propagator. When expressed in this form, the value of f_{π} obtained from the amplitude is determined by the exchange of an infinite tower of massive modes. Notice that a bulk vertex diagram or a bulk exchange diagram might not correspond necessarily to vertex or exchange processes in the field theory dual, although it seems natural to do this identification. Under this assumption, though, the vector bosons corresponding to mass eigenstates would not couple to the pions as Weinberg's ρ meson discussed in Sec. 2.3.4 and the effective action of the pion field (before integrating out the massive modes) do not have the $O(\partial^2 \pi^4)$ terms expected in the chiral Lagrangian. Then, the effective action written in terms of these fields would not comply with HLS invariance in any obvious way.

The LECs obtained from integrating out all massive vector modes except the lightest one would naïvely be obtained by replacing the full bulk propagator by the truncated sum

$$G_{n>1}(Z, Z_1; q) = -\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{\psi_n(Z)\psi_n(Z_1)}{q^2 + m_n^2} .$$
(6.8.3)

In this case the effective action of the pion would have the expected $O(\partial^2 \pi^4)$ terms of the chiral Lagrangian, with an effective value of f_{π} determined by the modes that have been integrated out. However, the right value of f_{π} measured in the full scattering amplitude would be recovered only after considering the tree level exchange by the lightest vector meson.

The issue with HLS invariance of mass eigenstates has been pointed out for instance in [89,93,96], where an alternative basis of radial functions has been proposed to construct an explicitly HLS invariant action. It would be interesting if the scattering amplitude calculation could be connected to the HLS covariant formalism in some way.

6.9 Discussion

In this paper we presented a computation of the pion scattering amplitude for two massless flavors in the WSS model 11, 15, 16. Our main result is given in (6.7.3). These would be the coefficients of pion self-interactions in the effective action before vector mesons have been integrated out. It differs from the result that was extracted from the effective action (6.3.1) appearing in the seminal work 15, 16, where the coefficients can be removed by a field redefinition of the vector meson fields that puts the action in the standard form (6.3.5). The main qualitative difference between the previously quoted results and the actual value of the LECs can be summarized in the following table

$$\begin{array}{ll} \mbox{previous result} & \mbox{scattering result} \\ \hline L_2^{SU(2)} = -L_1^{SU(2)} & L_2^{SU(2)} = 2L_1^{SU(2)} \\ \hline L_i \sim N_c \lambda_{YM} & \mbox{$L_i \sim N_c \lambda_{YM}^{-1}$} \end{array}$$

These relations hold before massive vector mesons, corresponding to mass eigenstates in the gravity dual, have been integrated out. At lower energies, vector meson exchange contributions modify the LECs, and we find that the relation $\hat{L}_2^{SU(2)} \simeq -\hat{L}_1^{SU(2)}$, with the values that were originally proposed, holds up to the $1/\lambda_{\rm YM}^2$ corrections in the strong coupling limit that we have computed. In other cases where the massive vector bosons do not correspond to the mass eigenstates of the holographic dual (see, *e.g.*, [89,93,96]), the identification of the L_i coefficients is not as straightforward, but there will be a correction to the coefficients of the effective action $\sim 1/\lambda_{\rm YM}^2$ such that the low momentum amplitude reproduces our results.

We will elaborate more on the implications below. In addition to the WSS model, the relation $L_2^{SU(2)} = -L_1^{SU(2)}$ was also obtained in bottom-up models that followed essentially the same approach to derive the effective action [86, 87, 91, 92, 94, 95], with slight deviations from the classical value when other fields are integrated out [88]. The relation between L_1 and L_2 could possibly be modified already at the classical level if the LECs are extracted from the pion scattering amplitude following the method used in our work, depending on whether they are completely determined by vector meson exchange or not. However, in the bottom-up models there is an additional bilinear field dual to the chiral condensate whose effect in the scattering amplitude should be studied more carefully, so we cannot extrapolate directly the WSS results to those models. We also expect that the value of the LECs in the effective action depend generically on which fields have been integrated out.

The result for two flavors determines already the four-derivative terms of the chiral effective action for an arbitrary number of flavors N_f . The reason is that, in the large- N_c limit, the only contributions to the chiral

 $^{^{4}}$ The modified LECs are measured always at energies much below the vector meson masses, where the vector meson exchange contribution can be approximated by an effective local pion self-interaction, as in (2.3.49).
effective action with $O(N_c)$ coefficients are single trace terms (see, e.g., [25])

$$\mathcal{L}_{p^4} = L_3^{SU(N_f)} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_\mu \Sigma^\dagger \partial^\mu \Sigma \partial_\nu \Sigma^\dagger \partial^\nu \Sigma \right) + \tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\partial_\mu \Sigma^\dagger \partial_\nu \Sigma \partial^\mu \Sigma^\dagger \partial^\nu \Sigma \right) .$$
(6.9.1)

But for $N_f = 3$ the last term can be rewritten as combination of the term proportional to $L_3^{SU(N_f)}$ and double-trace terms, giving

$$L_1^{SU(3)} = \frac{1}{2}\tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)} , \ L_2^{SU(3)} = \tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)} , \ L_3^{SU(3)} = L_3^{SU(N_f)} - 2\tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)} .$$
(6.9.2)

Then, for $N_f = 2$, the two independent terms that are left have coefficients

$$L_1^{SU(2)} = \frac{L_3^{SU(N_f)} - \tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)}}{2} , \ L_2^{SU(2)} = \tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)} .$$
(6.9.3)

Therefore for an arbitrary number of flavors we claim that the result is simply $\tilde{L}_3^{SU(N_f)} = 2L_3^{SU(N_f)} = L_2^{SU(2)}$ with $L_2^{SU(2)}$ determined by the equation (6.7.3).

We have limited our calculation to the leading contributions to the pion scattering amplitude at low momentum. Higher order corrections in momentum can be computed systematically using the expressions for the bulk propagator introduced in (6.4.13) and (6.4.14). For momentum of the order or larger than the confinement scale the full form of the bulk propagator would be necessary. At very large momentum, though, stringy α' corrections become relevant, and the scattering amplitude might be approximated by integrating a flat space string amplitude along the holographic coordinate [67,98,100,103], an approach that has been applied in [104] to holographic duals of confining theories. However, as discussed there, in the high energy regime the WSS model is dual to a six-dimensional theory, so not suitable for a comparison with high-momentum scattering in QCD.

Chapter 7

Summary and general conclusions/ Outlook of the work

The AdS/CFT or holographic duality is one of the key tools of theoretical physics. Its appearance changed the understanding of gauge theories, gravitation and their relationship. Also it is a realization of the holographic principle which establishes that the degrees of freedom of a theory of gravity in a volume must be encoded in its boundary. The basic feature of the AdS/CFT correspondence is that it establishes an equivalence between a gravitational theory in a hyperbolic spacetime and a field theory living on the boundary of it. The duality emerges from a String Theory framework starting from the study of fundamental objects of the theory called D-branes. Those D-branes can be seen as hypersurfaces where open strings can end giving a quantum field theory living on the brane or as solitonic objects which are the solutions to the supergravity equations of motion, so those both perspectives gave birth to the holographic duality.

The formulation of this conjecture is a point in favor of string theories, which would therefore have phenomenological interest even in areas for which they were not designed, through the connection of the gravitational problem with the corresponding dual quantum field theory. In this way, string theories play the role of a tool to study quantum field theories, used as a framework to model certain physical systems. Therefore, the interest of the gauge/gravity duality is also phenomenological. The main advantage of this correspondence lies in the fact that it relates opposite regimes of both theories. When the gravitational problem in String Theory is tractable, corresponding to the limit of classical gravity, the regime in the field theory is the one of a large coupling constant in the planar limit. Given that there are generally no ways to study the theories with a large coupling constant, since the perturbation expansion in Feynman diagrams would not be applicable, the gauge/gravity duality would be the only theoretical tool with which to deal with strong coupling beyond numerical simulations. The main limitation of this duality is the fact that gravitational duals of the main phenomenologically interesting theories, such as QCD, is are available, but only the duals of theories with larger symmetry. However, the development and generalization of this correspondence has allowed to find the dual of a large number of field theories, some of them showing similar characteristics to the main theories of phenomenological interest. In this way, the holographic duality is not a precision tool that provides quantitatively good results, but rather qualitative results. It is expected to be able to capture characteristics and behaviors that are common to different theories and try to establish results that are universal. Therefore, one can understand the duality applied to a field theory that models with greater or lesser accuracy a given physical system as a tool that allows to make predictions in such theory through the corresponding calculation in the gravitational dual. In that sense, finding the duals to interesting theories and understanding the properties of these duals is of great relevance.

So the gauge/gravity duality has proven to be a very useful tool in the understanding of QFT's outside the perturbative regime. In particular, holography has been able to shed light not only on generic mechanisms of strongly coupled theories, but also on processes potentially occurring in experimental set-ups, such as the heavy ion collisions. Despite the success it is important to bear in mind that holography provides computational tools for some models rather than for QCD itself

In the following, we summarize the main findings of our original work illustrated in chapters [4], 5] and 6] and point out some possible future directions.

In chapters 4 and 5 we presented a method to compute the scattering length of the effective interaction between states created by a scalar operator of fixed dimension Δ in a large-N strongly coupled gauge theory with a holographic dual. Then we performed explicitly the calculation of the main contribution to the scattering length of a contact interaction in the two-to-two elastic scattering of spin-0 particle in three different models to show the power of our method. Those three models are dubbed confining in the sense that the spectrum should be discrete and have a mass gap. The models are: the hard wall model that consists of a AdS_5 geometry with a sharp cutoff, and other two confining models with different geometry, like the Witten-Yang-Mills model, [1] where it ends smoothly, or at a singularity, like in the dual to $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ super Yang-Mills (SYM) theory, the GPPZ solution [14]. The purpose was to compute and compare the scattering lengths and address the question if these differences could be reflected in the scattering amplitudes and lead to qualitatively different results.

First we found, in the hard wall model with a quartic potential, a constraint on the scaling dimension of a scalar operator $\Delta > d/4$. For d < 4 this is more stringent than the unitarity constraint and may be applicable to an extended family of large-N theories with a discrete spectrum of massive states. We also argue that for scalar potentials with polynomial terms of order K, a constraint more restrictive than the unitarity bound will appear for d < 2K/(K-2).

Then after the comparison of the results of the three models we found a similar behavior of the scattering length across different models that suggests that this could be a good observable for further study via holographic duality. The scattering lengths have similar functional dependences on the masses of the particles and on the conformal dimension of the operators that create them. Assuming these similarities hold more generally, they could be used to constrain the effective description of gapped strongly coupled theories beyond symmetry considerations. Available lattice data 105,106 can be used to check or calibrate holographic QCD models. In addition, comparison with the experimental data is possible and would be an interesting extension of the present work.

A reason why we find this kind of analysis useful, in particular in the context of applications of the duality to QCD or condensed matter systems, is that it can help to understand the effect of parameters in the gravitational action on the properties on the field theory side. The scattering length is one such physical observable and crucially depends on the coupling constants in the bulk scalar potential. One can therefore learn how varying the parameter values in the scalar potential determine the strength of the effective interactions and whether they are attractive or repulsive. This makes the gravitational action less of a 'black box' and helps in determining what kind of an action mimics the desired physics, given the field content. In addition, the scattering length calculations will be useful to further constrain the specific gravitational actions of models aspired to give reliable descriptions of QCD.

A less direct application, but one where holography duality really stands out, is to use the information from the confining phase to make predictions about the properties of the finite temperature and non-zero density deconfined phases. The gravitational action describes both the hadronic phase with confinement and a deconfined phase, where quarks and gluons should be the dynamical degrees of freedom, although they cannot be directly observed as they are not gauge-invariant fields. That this is possible at all stems from the fact that the same gravitational action describes both the hadronic phase, where quarks and gluons should be the dynamical degrees of freedom, although they cannot be directly observed as they are not gauge-invariant fields. That this is possible at all stems from the fact that the same gravitational action describes both the hadronic phase with confinement and a deconfined phase, where quarks and gluons should be the dynamical degrees of freedom, although they cannot be directly observed as they are not gauge-invariant fields. So physical quantities, like the equation of state, critical temperatures of phase transitions, and transport coefficients in the deconfined phase depend on the same parameters of the gravitational action as the scattering lengths. For example, the coefficient of the quartic term in the bulk potential, v_4 , is directly connected with the stiffness of the underlying equation of state for dense systems 107, 108. Therefore, our analysis establishes a direct link between hadronic physics and the physics of quarks and gluons at low energies, something that seems out of reach using ordinary field theory methods.

Our analysis has been limited to a quartic contact interaction among scalars; see [17] for a discussion on generalizations to higher order polynomial Lagrangian. It would be interesting to extend our framework to include the coupling to the metric, as well as to introduce other fields of different spin, in particular gauge fields. In general, there will be a non-trivial momentum dependence that would also be interesting to investigate.

In chapter **6** we computed the pion decay constant and coefficients of fourth derivative terms in the chiral Lagrangian for massless quarks in the Witten-Sakai-Sugimoto model. Identification of the low energy coefficients in the chiral action is subtle as their values are shifted when the tower of massive vector bosons are integrated out. By a direct comparison with the existing standard procedure of constructing the chiral action with radial modes in the gravity dual, we explicitly show that there are finite 't Hooft coupling corrections that have been missed. This suggests that past derivations of effective actions from holographic models may have to be revisited and future derivations more carefully considered.

A further important extension of our work would be to study pion scattering with nonzero quark masses. Within the WSS model this requires considering non-antipodal embeddings and in the presence of an additional "tachyon" field 109 that is dual to a quark bilinear. In bottom-up models, such as the original AdS/QCD hard wall model 13, or V-QCD 12, the tachyon field is already included, and in addition the V-QCD model also has quartic terms in the action of the gauge fields dual to the flavor currents. The quark mass explicitly breaks the axial flavor symmetry

and gives a mass to the pions. ChPT can still be used, but with additional terms in the effective action.

When quarks are massive, there is a finite scattering length determined by the pion mass that can be obtained from the pion scattering amplitude at leading order in low momentum (see, *e.g.*, 1). Higher momentum corrections to the scattering amplitude can also be computed and used to constrain the LECs appearing in the chiral effective action. It would be interesting to extract the scattering amplitude in holographic models and compare with recent large-*N* lattice results 110.

The calculation of scattering amplitudes should be applied also to other setups. As our example on the WSS model shows, this might be a requisite step to correctly identify the low energy effective theory that captures the dynamics encoded by the holographic dual.

As a final remark and after presenting our work we can say that the method to compute scattering amplitudes developed in this thesis within the framework of holography is a useful tool to be applied in different models to obtain new insights from them and to give rise to some new interesting questions that need to be adressed in the future.

Appendix A

Normal modes and $\Delta < 2$ in the $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$ SYM dual

In this appendix we will fill in some gaps in the calculations presented in Sec. 5.2 in the main text.

A.1 Normal modes

The set of normalizable modes (5.2.10) maps to a set of Jacobi polynomials through the relation

$$P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \frac{(\alpha+1)^2}{n!} {}_2F_1\left(-n, 1+\alpha+\beta+n; \alpha+1; \frac{1}{2}(1-x)\right),\tag{A.1.1}$$

where $(\alpha + 1)_n = \Gamma(\alpha + n + 1)/\Gamma(\alpha + 1)$ is the Pochhammer's symbol. Then,

$$\phi_{M_n}(u) = \frac{1}{n+1} (1-u)^{\frac{2+\nu}{2}} P_n^{(1,\nu)} (1-2u) \,. \tag{A.1.2}$$

Jacobi polynomials satisfy the orthogonality condition

$$\int_{-1}^{1} dx \, (1-x)(1+x)^{\nu} P_n^{(1,\nu)}(x) P_m^{(1,\nu)}(x) = \frac{2^{2+\nu}(n+1)}{(\nu+2n+2)(\nu+n+1)} \delta_{nm}.$$
(A.1.3)

Changing variables to $x = 1 - 2u, 0 \le u \le 1$, the integral becomes $(\rho(u) = u/(2(1-u)^2))$

$$\int_{-1}^{1} dx \, (1-x)(1+x)^{\nu} P_n^{(1,\nu)}(x) P_m^{(1,\nu)}(x)$$

$$=2^{2+\nu}\int_{0}^{1}du\,u(1-u)^{\nu}P_{n}^{(1,\nu)}(1-2u)P_{m}^{(1,\nu)}(1-2u)=\frac{2^{3+\nu}(n+1)2}{\alpha_{n}^{2}}\int_{0}^{1}du\,\rho(u)\varphi_{n}(u)\varphi_{m}(u).$$
(A.1.4)

Therefore, in order to satisfy the orthonormality condition, the coefficients α_n have to be fixed to

$$\alpha_n^2 = 2(n+1)(\nu+n+1)(\nu+2n+2). \tag{A.1.5}$$

A.2 Alternative quantization

In order to compute the two- and four-point functions using the approach in $\boxed{17}$ we first compute the one-point function as a function of the sources using the regularized canonical momentum associated to the radial evolution of the scalar

$$\pi_{\phi}^{R} = \sqrt{-g}g^{zz}\partial_{z}\phi + \frac{\delta S_{c.t.}}{\delta\phi}, \qquad (A.2.1)$$

where $S_{c.t.}$ is the counterterm action defined on a radial slice. For this discussion we will set the AdS radius to unity L = 1. The asymptotic expansion of the scalar field dual to an operator of dimension $\Delta_{+} = \frac{d}{2} + \nu$ takes the form

$$\phi \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} z^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu} + C_{\nu} z^{\frac{d}{2}+\nu}.$$
 (A.2.2)

In this case, the one-point function of the dual operator is

$$\mathcal{N}^{-1} \left\langle \mathcal{O} \right\rangle_{\Delta +} = \lim_{z \to 0} z^{\frac{d}{2} - \nu} \pi_{\phi}^{R} = 2\nu C_{\nu}. \tag{A.2.3}$$

For $0 < \nu < 1$ there is an alternative quantization where the dual operator has dimension $\Delta_{-} = \frac{d}{2} - \nu$. In this case the asymptotic expansion of the scalar is

$$\phi \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} z^{\frac{d}{2} + \nu} + D_{\nu} z^{\frac{d}{2} - \nu}. \tag{A.2.4}$$

The leading contribution to the regularized momentum close to the boundary is

$$\pi^R_{\phi} \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} 2\nu z^{\nu - \frac{d}{2}},\tag{A.2.5}$$

and from this expression it follows that the expectation value of the dual operator is 111

$$\mathcal{N}^{-1} \left\langle \mathcal{O} \right\rangle_{\Delta -} = \lim_{z \to 0} \left(-2\nu z^{\nu - \frac{d}{2}} \phi \right) = -2\nu D_{\nu}. \tag{A.2.6}$$

Since the equation of motion for the scalar (5.2.4) does not depend on the sign of ν , symmetry under a sign flip $\nu \to -\nu$ is expected. Indeed, using Euler's relation

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;u) = (1-u)^{c-a-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(c-a,c-b;c;u) = (1-u)^{c-a-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(c-b,c-a;c;u),$$
(A.2.7)

the solution for the scalar can also be written as

$$\phi_M(u) = (1-u)^{\frac{2-\nu}{2}} {}_2F_1\left(1-\frac{\nu}{2}+\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\nu^2+M^2-4}, 1-\frac{\nu}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\nu^2+M^2-4}; 2; u\right).$$
(A.2.8)

The bulk-to-boundary propagator is then the same as in (5.2.7) with the replacement $\nu \to -\nu$. This implies that the coefficient in (A.2.4) is $D_{\nu} = C_{-\nu}$ and then

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_{\Delta -} = \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_{\Delta +} \Big|_{\nu \to -\nu}.$$
 (A.2.9)

Since the two- and four-point functions and their residues are all derived from the one-point function, it follows that the scattering length and amplitude of states created by operators of dimension $\Delta_{-} = 2 - \nu$, $0 < \nu < 1$ can be obtained simply by continuing the results for $\Delta_{+} = 2 + \nu$ to negative values $-1 < \nu < 0$.

Appendix B

Numerical solutions in the AdS_6 soliton

In this appendix we will detail some steps for interested reader to reproduce the numerical data. In order to find the solution we use numerical shooting, starting with a regular solution at the origin z = 1 that is expanded in a power series $\chi_t(z)$ with a fixed value $\chi_t(1) = 1$ at the tip of the AdS soliton

$$\chi_t(z) = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{N_t} a_n (1-z)^n.$$
(B.0.1)

Here we will consider $N_t = 8$, which is large enough to have reliable results. The value of the coefficients for the first terms in the series are

$$a1 = \frac{1}{20} \left((5 - 2\nu)2 - 4M_2 \right) \tag{B.0.2}$$

$$a2 = \frac{1}{1600} \left((5 - 2\nu)2(4(\nu - 15)\nu + 65) + 16M_4 - 8(4(\nu - 10)\nu + 75)M_2) \right)$$
(B.0.3)

$$a3 = \frac{1}{288000} \left((5 - 2\nu)2(8\nu(\nu(2(\nu - 40)\nu + 815) - 2100) + 7425) - 64M_6 + 16(12(\nu - 15)\nu + 455)M_4 - 4(24\nu(\nu(2(\nu - 30)\nu + 485) - 1425) + 30175)M_2 \right).$$
(B.0.4)

This series is used to give boundary conditions to the numerical solution $\chi_N(z)$ at $z = 1 - \epsilon$, where we take $\epsilon = 10^{-6}$. So we fix

$$\chi_N(1-\epsilon) = \chi_t(1-\epsilon), \quad \chi'_N(1-\epsilon) = \chi'_t(1-\epsilon). \tag{B.0.5}$$

The numerical solution and its derivative up to order 2ν can be found, *e.g.*, using NDSolve in Mathematica with these boundary conditions, in the interval $z \in [\epsilon, 1 - \epsilon]$. The boundary value is taken to be approximately the value of the numerical solution at $z = \epsilon$:

$$\chi_M(0) \approx \chi_N(\epsilon). \tag{B.0.6}$$

The numerical value of the derivative at the boundary is also approximated by the value of the numerical solution at $z = \epsilon$:

$$\partial_z^{2\nu}\chi(0) \approx \partial_z^{2\nu}\chi_N(\epsilon) \,. \tag{B.0.7}$$

If ν is not half-integer, then we need to be more cautious. In this case, we first do a change of variables in the radial coordinate $z = u^{1/(2\nu)}$ and proceed with the same shooting method. The equation (5.3.8) is replaced by

~

$$k_n = \lim_{M \to M_n} \left(M_n^2 - M^2 \right) \times \frac{\partial_u \chi_M(u)}{\chi_M(0)} \Big|_{u=0}.$$
 (B.0.8)

/ \

Numerically, this is evaluated using

$$\partial_u \chi_M \chi(0) \approx \partial_u \chi_M (u = \epsilon^{2\nu}).$$
 (B.0.9)

ν	1/2	1	3/2	2	5/2
M_0	2.02	2.54	3.05	3.56	4.06
M_{WKB}	1.77	2.51	3.07	3.54	3.96
α_0	1.36	1.57	1.76	1.93	2.09
k_0	6.06	20.2	47.2	94.2	171
$\kappa_{0,0,0,0}$	0.85	1.16	1.48	1.89	2.11

Table B.0.1: Numerical values obtained from shooting for lowest modes n = 0. Notice that the WKB approximation detailed in Appendix C gives very accurate results.

n	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
M_n	2.02	4.45	6.93	9.43	11.93	13.43	16.93	19.43	21.94	24.44
M_{WKB}	1.77	4.34	6.86	9.38	11.89	14.39	16.90	19.41	21.92	24.42
α_n	1.36	2.10	2.63	3.07	3.45	3.80	4.12	4.41	4.69	4.95
k_n	6.06	31.1	76.2	141.	226.	332.	457.	602.	767.	953.

Table B.0.2: Numerical values obtained from shooting for excited modes for fixed $\nu = 1/2$. Notice that the WKB approximation detailed in Appendix C gives very accurate results and becomes increasingly better for higher modes as expected.

What remains to be done in order to find the spectrum of normal modes is to solve for $\chi_M(0) = 0$ for fixed M. The value M is tuned until a zero is found, an analysis that can be effectively performed using Newton's method. To fix the coefficients α_n we evaluate numerically the following integrals

$$\alpha_n^{-2} \approx \int_{\epsilon}^{1-\epsilon} dz \, z^{1-2\nu} \chi_M(z)^2 \Big|_{M=M_n}. \tag{B.0.10}$$

Finally, we compute the overlaps in a similar way, by performing the following integral numerically

$$\frac{\kappa_{n_1,n_2,n_3,n_4}}{\alpha_{n_1}\alpha_{n_2}\alpha_{n_3}\alpha_{n_4}} \approx \int_{\epsilon}^{1-\epsilon} dz \, z^{4-4\nu} \prod_{i=1}^{4} \chi_N(z) \Big|_{M=M_{n_i}}.$$
(B.0.11)

We have collected some numerical values in Table B.0.1 for the lowest mode and in Table B.0.2 for excited states for fixed ν that we obtain from numerical calculation.

Appendix C

WKB approximation

Following the method developed in 112 we will compute the masses of normal modes using the WKB approximation. First, we will write the equations of motion in the following form

$$\partial_x(f(x)y(x)) + (M^2h(x) + p(x))y(x) = 0.$$
(C.0.1)

The value of the masses can be obtained from the behavior of these functions close to the origin $x \to 1$ and the boundary $x \to \infty$. Close to the origin $x \to 1$,

$$f \approx f_1(x-1)^{s_1}, \quad h \approx h^1(x-1)^{s_2}, \quad p \approx p_1(x-1)^{s_3},$$
 (C.0.2)

whereas close to the boundary $x \to \infty$,

$$f \approx f_2 x^{r_1}, h \approx h_2 x^{r_2}, p \approx p_2 x^{r_3}.$$
(C.0.3)

The WKB approximation of the masses is given by the formula

$$M_n^2 = \frac{\pi^2}{\xi^2} (n+1) \left(n + \frac{\alpha_2}{\alpha_1} + \frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1} \right) + O(n_0), n \ge 0.$$
(C.0.4)

The quantities appearing in this expression are, an integral setting the scale

$$\xi = \int_{1}^{\infty} dx \sqrt{\frac{h}{f}},\tag{C.0.5}$$

and the following combination of exponents and coefficients of the asymptotic expansions

$$\alpha_1 = s_2 - s_1 + 2, \quad \beta_1 = r_1 - r_2 - 2,$$
 (C.0.6)

and

$$\alpha_2 = \begin{cases} |s_1 - 1| & s_3 - s_1 + 2 \neq 0\\ \sqrt{(s_1 - 1)^2 - 4\frac{p_1}{f_1}} & s_3 - s_1 + 2 = 0 \end{cases}, \qquad \beta_2 = \begin{cases} |r_1 - 1| & r_1 - r_3 - 2 \neq 0\\ \sqrt{(r_1 - 1)^2 - 4\frac{p_2}{f_2}} & r_1 - r_3 - 2 = 0 \end{cases}.$$
(C.0.7)

C.1 $\mathcal{N} = 1^* \mathbf{SYM}$

Let us now specify to the first case studied in this thesis in Sec. 5.2. While we were able to obtain the mass spectrum analytically, it is interesting to compare how close the WKB approximation is with the exact values. By comparing with the exact result, we will have an estimate of the error in the approximation for cases where the exact result is unknown. Starting with (5.2.4), we make a change variables u = 1 - 1/x as well as a field redefinition

$$\phi(x) = x^{-1/2} (x-1)^{-1} y(x). \tag{C.1.1}$$

Then, the equation for y(x) has the form (C.0.1) with

$$f(x) = 1, \quad h(x) = \frac{1}{4x^2(x-1)}, \\ p(x) = \frac{x-5+\nu^2(1-x)}{4x^2(x-1)}.$$
 (C.1.2)

The asymptotic form of these functions close to the origin $x \to 1$ is as in (C.0.2) with

$$f_1 = 1, \quad s_1 = 0; \quad h_1 = \frac{1}{4}, \quad s_2 = -1; \quad p_1 = -1, \quad s_3 = -1.$$
 (C.1.3)

Close to the boundary $x \to \infty$ the expansion is as in (C.0.3) with

$$f_2 = 1, \quad r_1 = 0; \quad h_2 = \frac{1}{4}, \quad r_2 = -3; \quad p_2 = \frac{1 - \nu^2}{4}, \quad r_3 = -2.$$
 (C.1.4)

We will plug these expressions in (C.0.5), (C.0.6), and (C.0.7), taking into account that $r_1 - r_3 - 2 = 0$. This yields

$$\xi = \frac{\pi}{2}, \quad \alpha_1 = 1, \quad \beta_1 = 1, \quad \alpha_2 = 1, \quad \beta_2 = \nu.$$
 (C.1.5)

Using these values in the mass formula (C.0.4), the WKB approximation gives

$$M_n^2 = 4(n^2 + (2+\nu)n + (1+\nu)) + O(n^0), \quad n \ge 0.$$
 (C.1.6)

Comparing with the exact formula (5.2.9) we see that the $O(n^0)$ correction is a ν -independent term

$$(M_n^2)_{\text{exact}} - (M_n^2)_{\text{WKB}} = 4.$$
 (C.1.7)

C.2 Non-supersymmetric theory

Let us now proceed with comparing the mass spectra for the non-supersymmetric case studied numerically in Sec.5.3. In this case we do not have an analytic expression for the masses, but we can compare the results from the WKB approximation with those from the numerical computation. Starting with the equation of motion (5.3.2), we make a change of variables z = 1/x and simple rename the field $\phi(x) = y(x)$. This results in an equation of the form (C.0.1) with

$$f(x) = x^6 - x, \quad h(x) = x^2, \quad p(x) = \left(\frac{25}{4} - \nu^2\right)x^4.$$
 (C.2.1)

The asymptotic form of these functions close to the origin $x \to 1$ is as in (C.0.2) with

$$f_1 = 5, \quad s_1 = 1; \quad h_1 = 1, \quad s_2 = 0; \quad p_1 = \frac{25}{4} - \nu^2, \quad s_3 = 0.$$
 (C.2.2)

Close to the boundary $x \to \infty$ the expansion is as in (C.0.3) with

$$f_2 = 1, \quad r_1 = 6; \quad h_2 = 1, \quad r_2 = 2; \quad p_2 = \frac{25}{4} - \nu^2, \quad r_3 = 4.$$
 (C.2.3)

We will plug these expressions in (C.0.5), (C.0.6), and (C.0.7), taking into account that $r_1 - r_3 - 2 = 0$. This yields

$$\xi = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(6/5)}{\Gamma(7/10)}, \quad \alpha_1 = 1, \quad \beta_1 = 2, \quad \alpha_2 = 0, \quad \beta_2 = 2\nu.$$
(C.2.4)

Using these values in the mass formula (C.0.4), the WKB approximation gives

$$M_n^2 = \frac{\pi^2}{\xi^2} (n+1)(n+\nu) + O(n^0), \quad n \ge 0.$$
 (C.2.5)

We note that the WKB approximation compares really well with the numerical values, even for lowest lying modes.

Appendix D

Calculation of the four point function

In this Appendix we spell out the details of the calculation of the axial current four-point function following the procedure described in the main text. As listed in section 6.6, there are three possible contributions we have to study: $O(F^4)$ terms in the action and the associated terms in the canonical momentum as well as $O(F^2)$ terms in the action.

D.1 Contributions from $O(F^4)$ terms in the canonical momentum: contact terms

The $O(\epsilon)$ solution to the gauge fields could give a direct contribution to the four-point function of the axial current through the $\sim F^3$ term in the canonical momentum, $\Pi^{[4]}$ in (6.2.11). The leading pole contribution involves just the $f_{Z\mu}^{(1)}$ components

$$\Pi^{[4]} \simeq \frac{1}{6} \left[4f_{Z\nu}^{b} \left(f^{a\,\mu Z} f^{b\,Z\nu} + f^{b\,\mu Z} f^{a\,Z\nu} \right) + 4f_{Z\nu}^{a} f^{b\,\mu Z} f^{b\,Z\nu} \right. \\ \left. + 2 \left(f^{a\,Z\mu} f_{Z\nu}^{b} f^{b\,Z\nu} + 2f^{b\,Z\mu} f^{b\,Z\nu} f_{Z\nu}^{a} \right) \right] \\ = -\frac{1}{3} \left[f_{Z\nu}^{b} f^{b\,Z\nu} f^{a\,Z\mu} + 2f_{Z\nu}^{b} f^{a\,Z\nu} f^{b\,Z\mu} \right].$$
(D.1.1)

However, this contribution to the canonical momentum vanishes when $|Z| \to \infty$, since from (6.5.2),

$$\pi_a^{\mu} \sim u^2 \Pi_a^{[4]\,\mu} \sim u^4 \phi_0(Z)^3 \underset{|Z| \to \infty}{\sim} \frac{1}{|Z|^{10/3}} \longrightarrow 0$$
 (D.1.2)

Therefore, there is no contribution to the expectation value of the axial current or the four-point function from these terms.

D.2 Contributions from $O(F^2)$ terms: exchange diagram

Let us discuss the contributions coming from terms quadratic in the field strength. The $O(A^4)$ non-Abelian quartic term in the action introduces $O(\epsilon^3)$ non-linear terms in the equations of motion, proportional to

$$I_{Z}^{[2]a} \sim \epsilon^{abc} \epsilon^{dec} \eta^{\mu\nu} A_{\mu}^{(1)b} A_{\nu}^{(1)d} A_{Z}^{(1)e} I_{\mu}^{[2]a} \sim \epsilon^{abc} \epsilon^{dec} A_{Z}^{(1)b} A_{Z}^{(1)d} A_{\mu}^{(1)e} , \ \epsilon^{abc} \epsilon^{dec} \eta^{\alpha\beta} A_{\alpha}^{(1)b} A_{\beta}^{(1)d} A_{\mu}^{(1)e} .$$
(D.2.1)

The antisymmetry of the structure constants guarantees that there are no $\sim (A_Z^{(1)})^3$ terms. But these would be the only terms contributing to the leading pole. As they are absent, we can neglect the contributions coming from the quartic terms in the gauge potentials.

The non-linear terms in the equations of the bulk gauge field originating from the $O(A^3)$ terms in the action are

$$I_{Z}^{[2]a} = -u^{3}\epsilon^{abc} \left[\eta^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha} \left(A^{b}_{\beta}A^{c}_{Z} \right) + \eta^{\alpha\beta}A^{b}_{\alpha}F^{c}_{\beta Z} \right]$$

$$I_{\mu}^{[2]a} = -\epsilon^{abc} \left[\partial_{Z} \left(u^{3}A^{b}_{Z}A^{c}_{\mu} \right) + u^{3}A^{b}_{Z}F^{c}_{Z\mu} + \frac{1}{u}\eta^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha} \left(A^{b}_{\beta}A^{c}_{\mu} \right) + \frac{1}{u}\eta^{\alpha\beta}A^{b}_{\alpha}F^{c}_{\beta\mu} \right] .$$
(D.2.2)

Let us first identify the vertex contributions, they are those with three field factors

$$I_{Zv}^{[2](3)a} = -u^{3} \epsilon^{abc} \epsilon^{cde} \eta^{\alpha\beta} A_{\alpha}^{(1)b} A_{\beta}^{(1)d} A_{Z}^{(1)e}$$

$$I_{\mu v}^{[2](3)a} = -\epsilon^{abc} \epsilon^{cde} \left[u^{3} A_{Z}^{(1)b} A_{Z}^{(1)d} A_{\mu}^{(1)e} + \frac{1}{u} \eta^{\alpha\beta} A_{\alpha}^{(1)b} A_{\beta}^{(1)d} A_{\mu}^{(1)e} \right] .$$
(D.2.3)

Since all the terms have less massless pole factors than those required to give a contribution to the leading pole term, we can neglect these contributions in the correlator.

Let us now move on to the exchange contributions, they are those with two field factors

$$I_{Ze}^{[2](3)a} = -u^{3}\epsilon^{abc} \left[\eta^{\alpha\beta}\partial\alpha \left(A^{b}_{\beta}A^{c}_{Z}\right) + \eta^{\alpha\beta}A^{b}_{\alpha}f^{c}_{\beta Z}\right]^{(1),(2)}$$
(D.2.4)

$$I_{\mu e}^{[2](3)a} = -\epsilon^{abc} \left[\partial_Z \left(u^3 A_Z^B A_\mu^c \right) + u^3 A_Z^b f_{Z\mu}^c + \frac{1}{u} \eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha \left(A_\beta^b A_\mu^c \right) + \frac{1}{u} \eta^{\alpha\beta} A_\alpha^b f_{\beta\mu}^c \right]^{(1),(2)}.$$
(D.2.5)

The superscript notation means that from the two factors in each term in the brackets, one should be $O(\epsilon)$ and the other $O(\epsilon^2)$, and we must consider all possibilities. In order to compute this contribution we will need the $O(\epsilon^2)$ inhomogeneous terms as well

$$I_{Z}^{2a} = -u^{3}\epsilon^{abc} \left[\eta^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha} \left(A_{\beta}^{(1)b} A_{Z}^{(1)c} \right) + \eta^{\alpha\beta}A_{\alpha}^{(1)b} f_{\beta Z}^{(1)c} \right] I_{\mu}^{2a} = -\epsilon^{abc} \left[\partial_{Z} \left(u^{3}A_{Z}^{(1)b} A_{\mu}^{(1)c} \right) + u^{3}A_{Z}^{(1)b} f_{Z\mu}^{(1)c} + \frac{1}{u}\eta^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha} \left(A_{\beta}^{(1)b} A_{\mu}^{(1)c} \right) + \frac{1}{u}\eta^{\alpha\beta}A_{\alpha}^{[2](1)b} f_{\beta\mu}^{(1)c} \right].$$
(D.2.6)

In this case there is a contribution to the leading pole term of the correlator from terms in $I_M^{(2)}$ with two massless pole factors, corresponding to two external legs of the exchange Witten diagram joining in a vertex with the internal leg. This leaves only one term that needs to be considered

$$I_Z^{2a} \simeq 0$$
 (D.2.7)

$$I_{\mu}^{2a} \simeq -\epsilon^{abc} u^3 A_Z^{(1)b} f_{Z\mu}^{(1)c}.$$
(D.2.8)

Taking this into account, we can set $A_Z^{(2) a} \simeq 0$ to compute the leading pole contribution. This leaves

$$I_{Z}^{[2]\,(3)\,a} \simeq -u^{3}\epsilon^{abc} \left[\eta^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha} \left(A_{\beta}^{(2)\,b} A_{Z}^{(1)\,c} \right) + \eta^{\alpha\beta} A_{\alpha}^{(2)\,b} f_{\beta Z}^{(1)\,c} \right]$$
(D.2.9)

$$I_{\mu}^{[2](3)a} = -\epsilon^{abc} \left[\partial_Z \left(u^3 A_Z^{(1)b} A_{\mu}^{(2)c} \right) + u^3 A_Z^{(1)b} f_{Z\mu}^{(2)c} \right].$$
(D.2.10)

Finally, there could had been an $O(\epsilon^3)$ exchange contribution where the internal leg of the Witten diagram is the Abelian component of the D8-brane gauge field and the vertices are determined by the Wess-Zumino action (6.1.13). To compute this contribution one should first find the $O(\epsilon^2)$ solution for the Abelian field. The inhomogeneous terms in the Abelian field equation are proportional to

$$I_{Z}^{[WZ]} \sim \epsilon^{Z\mu\nu\alpha\beta} f_{\mu\nu}^{(1)\,a} f_{\alpha\beta}^{(1)\,a} , \ I_{\mu}^{[WZ]} \sim \epsilon_{\mu}^{\nu Z\alpha\beta} f_{\nu Z}^{(1)\,a} f_{\alpha\beta}^{(1)\,a} .$$
(D.2.11)

But none of these terms has two massless pole factors, so they do not contribute to the leading pole term in the correlator of the axial current.

Moving on to the calculation of the solution to the gauge field, given the $O(\epsilon)$ solutions (6.5.1) with momenta p_i, p_j , the $O(\epsilon^2)$ inhomogeneous term contributing to the leading pole would be

$$I_{\mu}^{2a}(p_i, p_j; Z, q) \simeq \frac{4}{\pi} \phi_0(Z) \int_{p_i} \int_{p_j} \delta_{q-p_i-p_j} \frac{i p_i^{\alpha}}{p_i^2} \left(\delta_{\mu}^{\ \beta} - \frac{p_j \mu p_j^{\beta}}{p_j^2} \right) \epsilon^{abc} \hat{A}_{5\,\alpha}^b(p_i) \hat{A}_{5\,\beta}^c(p_j) , \qquad (D.2.12)$$

where we are using as shorthand notation

$$\int_{p} \equiv \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \quad \delta_{p} = (2\pi)^{4} \delta^{(4)}(p) \;. \tag{D.2.13}$$

One can check using the symmetries of the integrand that $q^{\mu}I^{(2)}_{\mu} = 0$, so this is a transverse term and in addition it is independent of the radial coordinate Z. We can further simplify this expression by keeping only the leading pole term

$$I_{\mu}^{2a}(p_i, p_j; Z, q) \simeq i_{\mu}^{(2)a}(p_i, p_j; q)\phi_0(Z) , \qquad (D.2.14)$$

where, in order to make expressions more manageable we have defined

$$i_{\mu}^{(2)\,a}(p_i, p_j; q) = -\frac{4}{\pi} \int_{p_i} \int_{p_j} \delta_{q-p_i-p_j} \frac{i p_i^{\alpha}}{p_i^2} \frac{p_{j\,\mu} p_j^{\beta}}{p_j^2} \epsilon^{abc} \hat{A}_{5\,\alpha}^b(p_i) \hat{A}_{5\,\beta}^c(p_j) .$$
(D.2.15)

Then, from (6.4.7), the $O(\epsilon^2)$ gauge field solution is

$$A_{\mu}^{(2)\,a}(Z,q) \simeq \int dZ_1 G(Z,Z_1;q^2) I_{\mu}^{[2]\,(2)\,a}(p_i,p_j;Z_1,q) \simeq i_{\mu}^{(2)\,a}(p_i,p_j;q) \left[\Phi^{(2)}(Z) + q^2 \widetilde{\Phi}^{(2)}(Z) \right] + O(q^4) , \quad (D.2.16)$$

where

$$\Phi^{(2)}(Z) = \int dZ_1 G(Z, Z_1; 0) \phi_0(Z_1) = \frac{\pi}{2} \psi_0(Z) (\psi_0(Z) - 1)$$

$$\widetilde{\Phi}^{(2)}(Z) = \int dZ_1 G^{(1)}(Z, Z_1) \phi_0(Z_1) .$$
(D.2.17)

Here we are introducing an additional approximation, not only $p_i^2 \simeq 0$, $p_j^2 \simeq 0$ are close to lightlike values, but also we assume $|(p_i + p_j)^2| \ll 1$, i.e., low energy and momentum for the external pions.

Next, we compute the $O(\epsilon^3)$ inhomogeneous terms

$$I_{Z}^{[2](3)a} \simeq -2u^{3}\epsilon^{abc}\eta^{\alpha\beta}A_{\alpha}^{(2)b}\partial_{\beta}A_{Z}^{(1)c}$$

$$I_{\mu}^{[2](3)a} \simeq -2\epsilon^{abc}u^{3}A_{Z}^{(1)b}\partial_{Z}A_{\mu}^{(2)c},$$
(D.2.18)

where we have used $\partial_Z(u^3 A_Z^{(1)}) = 0$, $\eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_\alpha A_\beta^{(2) a} = 0$ and kept the leading pole terms only. Assigning momentum p_k to the $O(\epsilon)$ factors

$$I_{Z}^{[2](3)a}(Z,p_{l}) \simeq -\frac{4}{\pi} \left[\Phi^{(2)}(Z) + q^{2} \widetilde{\Phi}^{(2)}(Z) \right] \int_{p_{k}} \int_{q} \delta_{p_{l}-p_{k}-q} \epsilon^{abc} i_{\alpha}^{(2)b}(p_{i},p_{j};q) \frac{p_{k}^{2}p_{k}^{2}}{p_{k}2} \widehat{A}_{5\beta}^{c}(p_{k}) \\ I_{\mu}^{[2](3)a} \simeq -\frac{4}{\pi} \left[\partial_{Z} \Phi^{(2)}(Z) + q^{2} \partial_{Z} \widetilde{\Phi}^{(2)}(Z) \right] \int_{p_{k}} \int_{q} \delta_{p_{l}-p_{k}-q} \epsilon^{abc} i_{\mu}^{(2)b}(p_{i},p_{j};q) \frac{i p_{k}^{2}}{p_{k}^{2}} \widehat{A}_{5\alpha}^{c}(p_{k}).$$
(D.2.19)

Let us define

$$i_{\mu}^{(3)\,a}(p_i, p_j, p_k, p_l) = -\frac{4}{\pi} \int_{p_k} \int_q \delta_{p_l - p_k - q} \epsilon^{abc} i_{\mu}^{(2)\,b}(p_i, p_j; q) \frac{ip_k^{\alpha}}{p_k^2} \hat{A}_{5\,\alpha}^c(p_k) , \qquad (D.2.20)$$

then

$$\begin{split} I_Z^{[2]\,(3)\,a}(Z,p_l) &\simeq & -\left[\Phi^{(2)}(Z) + q^2 \widetilde{\Phi}^{(2)}(Z)\right] i p_l^{\mu} i_{\mu}^{(3)\,a}(p_i,p_j,p_k,p_l) \\ &I_{\mu}^{[2]\,(3)\,a} &\simeq & \left[\Phi^{(2)\prime}(Z) + q^2 \widetilde{\Phi}^{(2)\prime}(Z)\right] i_{\mu}^{(3)\,a}(p_i,p_j,p_k,p_l). \end{split}$$

Following (6.4.7) and (6.4.9), the $O(\epsilon^3)$ solution for the gauge potential is

$$A_{\mu}^{[2](3)a}(Z,p_l) \simeq \left(\delta_{\mu}^{\nu} - \frac{p_{l\,\mu}p_l^{\alpha}}{p_l^2}\right) i_{\alpha}^{(3)a}(p_i,p_j,p_k,p_l) \left[\Phi^{(3)}(Z) + q^2 \tilde{\Phi}^{(3)}(Z)\right]$$

$$A_Z^{[2](3)a}(Z,p_l) = \frac{\Phi^{(2)}(Z) + q^2 \tilde{\Phi}^{(2)}(Z)}{1 + Z^2} \frac{i p_l^{\alpha}}{p_l^2} i_{\alpha}^{(3)a}(p_i,p_j,p_k,p_l) ,$$
(D.2.21)

where

$$\Phi^{(3)}(Z) = \int dZ_1 G(Z, Z_1; 0) \Phi^{(2)\prime}(Z_1) = \frac{\pi}{6} \arctan(Z) \psi_0(Z) (\psi_0(Z) - 1)$$

$$\widetilde{\Phi}^{(3)}(Z) = \int dZ_1 G(Z, Z_1; 0) \widetilde{\Phi}^{(2)\prime}(Z_1) .$$
(D.2.22)

The $O(\epsilon^3)$ field strength is proportional to the pion mode solution (6.2.9). First note that

$$f_{Z\mu}^{(3)\,a}(Z,p_l) = \partial_Z A_{\mu}^{[2]\,(3)\,a}(Z,p_l) - ip_{l\,\mu} A_Z^{[2]\,(3)\,a} \propto \partial_Z \left(\Phi^{(3)}(Z) + q^2 \tilde{\Phi}^{(3)}(Z) \right) - \frac{\Phi^{(2)}(Z) + q^2 \Phi^{(2)}(Z)}{1 + Z^2}.$$
(D.2.23)

On the other hand, using the definition of the Green's function in (D.2.22)

$$\partial_{Z} \left[u^{3}(Z) \partial_{Z} \Phi^{(3)} \right] = \Phi^{(2)'}(Z)$$

$$\partial_{Z} \left[u^{3}(Z) \partial_{Z} \widetilde{\Phi}^{(3)} \right] = \widetilde{\Phi}^{(2)'}(Z) .$$
(D.2.24)

We can integrate once each equation and, since $u(Z)^3 = 1 + Z^2 = 1/(\pi \phi_0(Z))$, it follows that

$$\partial_Z \Phi^{(3)} = \frac{\Phi^{(2)}(Z)}{1+Z^2} + c\pi\phi_0(Z) ,$$

$$\partial_Z \tilde{\Phi}^{(3)} = \frac{\tilde{\Phi}^{(2)}(Z)}{1+Z^2} + \tilde{c}\pi\phi_0(Z) .$$
(D.2.25)

In the limit $Z \to \infty$ the terms proportional to $\Phi^{(2)}$, $\tilde{\Phi}^{(2)}$ in the equations above are subleading, while the leading terms have the asymptotic form

$$\partial_Z \Phi^{(3)} \sim c\pi \phi_0(Z) \sim \frac{c}{Z^2} , \ \partial_Z \widetilde{\Phi}^{(3)} \sim \widetilde{c}\pi \phi_0(Z) \sim \frac{\widetilde{c}}{Z^2} .$$
 (D.2.26)

Using the expansion in (6.4.15), the coefficients of the asymptotic terms are determined by the following integrals

$$c = \lim_{Z \to \infty} Z^2 \partial_Z \Phi^{(3)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dZ_1 \,\psi_0(Z_1) \Phi^{(2)\prime}(Z_1) = \frac{\pi}{12}$$

$$\tilde{c} = \lim_{Z \to \infty} Z^2 \partial_Z \tilde{\Phi}^{(3)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dZ_1 \,\psi_0(Z_1) \tilde{\Phi}^{(2)\prime}(Z_1) .$$
(D.2.27)

The first integral can easily be done taking into account that $\phi_0(Z) = \psi'_0(Z)$, so the integrand turns out to be a total derivative. The second integral can be manipulated to show it is equal to

$$\tilde{c} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dZ_1 \,\psi_0(Z_1) \widetilde{\Phi}^{(2)\prime}(Z_1) = -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tilde{Z} \frac{\left(\Phi^{(2)}(\tilde{Z})\right)^2}{u(\tilde{Z})} = -\frac{b}{(2\pi)^2} \,, \tag{D.2.28}$$

where b is given in (6.3.12).

The leading pole contribution in the field strength can be identified as

$$f_{Z\mu}^{(3)\,a}(Z,p_l) \simeq -\left[\frac{\pi^2}{12} - \frac{b}{4\pi}q^2\right]\phi_0(Z)\frac{p_l\,\mu p_l^\alpha}{p_l^2}i_\alpha^{(3)\,a}(p_i,p_j,p_k,p_l) \ . \tag{D.2.29}$$

Plugging in (D.2.15) and (D.2.20), and integrating over q results in

$$f_{Z\mu}^{(3)\,a}(Z,p_l) \simeq \frac{4}{3}\phi_0(Z) \int_{p_i} \int_{p_j} \int_{p_k} \delta_{p_l - p_k - p_j - p_j} \frac{p_{l\,\mu} p_i^{\alpha} p_j^{\beta} p_k^{\gamma}}{p_l^2 p_i^2 p_j^2 p_k^2} (p_l \cdot p_j) \left[1 - \frac{12b}{\pi^3} (p_i \cdot p_j) \right] \epsilon^{abc} \epsilon^{bde} \hat{A}_{5\,\alpha}^d(p_i) \hat{A}_{5\,\beta}^e(p_j) \hat{A}_{5\,\gamma}^c(p_k) .$$
(D.2.30)

Note that the radial dependence is the same as for the pion mode solution (6.2.9). Then, the calculation of the canonical momentum and expectation value of the current will proceed along similar steps, resulting in an exchange contribution to the axial current

$$\langle J_{5}^{\mu a}(p_{l})\rangle_{e} \simeq \frac{2}{3} f_{\pi}^{2} \int_{p_{i}} \int_{p_{j}} \int_{p_{k}} \delta_{p_{l}-p_{k}-p_{i}-p_{j}} \frac{p_{l}^{\mu} p_{i}^{\alpha} p_{j}^{\beta} p_{k}^{\gamma}}{p_{l}^{2} p_{i}^{2} p_{j}^{2} p_{k}^{2}} (p_{l} \cdot p_{j}) \left[1 - \frac{12b}{\pi^{3}} (p_{i} \cdot p_{j})\right] \epsilon^{abc} \epsilon^{bde} \hat{A}_{5\,\alpha}^{d}(p_{i}) \hat{A}_{5\,\beta}^{e}(p_{j}) \hat{A}_{5\,\gamma}^{c}(p_{k}) .$$
(D.2.31)

Restoring units, the exchange contribution to the leading pole in the four-point function of the current is

$$\langle J_{5}^{\mu_{1}a_{1}}(p_{1})J_{5}^{\mu_{2}a_{2}}(p_{2})J_{5}^{\mu_{3}a_{3}}(p_{3})J_{5}^{\mu_{4}a_{4}}(p_{4})\rangle_{e} \simeq -2if_{\pi}^{2}\left(\prod_{i=1}^{4}\frac{p_{i}^{\mu_{i}}}{p_{i}^{2}}\right)\delta_{\sum_{i=1}^{4}p_{i}} \times \left[\left\{(p_{1}\cdot p_{2})-\frac{4b}{\pi^{3}M_{KK}^{2}}\left[(p_{1}\cdot p_{2})(p_{2}\cdot (p_{3}+p_{4}))-(p_{1}\cdot p_{4})(p_{2}\cdot p_{4})-(p_{1}\cdot p_{3})(p_{2}\cdot p_{3})\right]\right\}\delta^{a_{1}a_{2}}\delta^{a_{3}a_{4}} + (2\leftrightarrow 3)+(2\leftrightarrow 4)\right].$$
(D.2.32)

Or, using momentum conservation

$$\begin{split} \langle J_{5}^{\mu_{1} a_{1}}(p_{1}) J_{5}^{\mu_{2} a_{2}}(p_{2}) J_{5}^{\mu_{3} a_{3}}(p_{3}) J_{5}^{\mu_{4} a_{4}}(p_{4}) \rangle_{e} \\ \simeq -2i f_{\pi}^{2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{4} \frac{p_{i}^{\mu_{i}}}{p_{i}^{2}} \right) \delta_{\sum_{i=1}^{4} p_{i}} \\ \times \left[\left\{ (p_{1} \cdot p_{2}) - \frac{4b}{\pi^{3}} \left[(p_{1} \cdot p_{3})^{2} + (p_{1} \cdot p_{4})^{2} - 2(p_{1} \cdot p_{2})^{2} \right] \right\} \delta^{a_{1} a_{2}} \delta^{a_{3} a_{4}} \\ + (2 \leftrightarrow 3) + (2 \leftrightarrow 4) \right] . \end{split}$$
(D.2.33)

D.3 Contributions from $O(F^4)$ terms: vertex diagram

The last possible contribution we have to study is originating from the $O(F^4)$ terms in the D8-brane action, the one that would introduce the non-linear terms in the equations

$$I_{Z}^{[4]a} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\pi \alpha'}{L^{2}}\right)^{2} u^{2} \left(\partial_{\alpha} \Pi_{a}^{[4]\alpha} + \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{DBI}}^{[4]}}{\delta A_{Z}^{a}}\right)$$

$$I_{\mu}^{[4]a} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\pi \alpha'}{L^{2}}\right)^{2} \left[\left(\partial_{Z} \left(u^{2} \Pi_{a}^{[4]\mu}\right) - u^{2} \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{DBI}}^{[4]}}{\delta A_{\mu}^{a}}\right) + u^{2} \left(\partial_{\alpha} \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{DBI}}^{[4]}}{\delta \partial_{\alpha} A_{\mu}^{a}}\right) - \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{DBI}}^{[4]}}{\delta A_{\mu}^{a}}\right) \right] .$$
(D.3.1)

At $O(\epsilon^3)$ we need to keep only terms that are at most cubic in the fields, so terms $\sim \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{DB1}}^{[4]}}{\delta A_M^a}$ can be dropped, and only terms involving three factors of the Abelianized field strengths $f_{MN}^{(1)\,a}$ remain. Among these, the leading pole contributions must come from terms with three factors of the $f_{Z\mu}^{(1)}$ components. One can check using (6.1.10) that $\frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{DB1}}^{[4]}}{\delta \partial_{\alpha} A_{\mu}^a}$ does not introduce any such terms. Hence, using (D.1.1), all leading pole contributions are the following

$$I_{Z}^{[4]\,(3)\,a} \simeq -\frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{\pi\alpha'}{L^{2}}\right)^{2} u^{4} \eta^{\gamma\lambda} \eta^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \left(f_{Z\gamma}^{(1)\,b} f_{Z\lambda}^{(1)\,b} f_{Z\beta}^{(1)\,a} + 2f_{Z\gamma}^{(1)\,b} f_{Z\lambda}^{(1)\,a} f_{Z\beta}^{(1)\,b}\right)$$

$$I_{\mu}^{[4]\,(3)\,a} \simeq \frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{\pi\alpha'}{L^{2}}\right)^{2} \eta^{\gamma\lambda} \partial_{Z} \left(u^{4} \left(f_{Z\gamma}^{(1)\,b} f_{Z\lambda}^{(1)\,b} f_{Z\mu}^{(1)\,b} + 2f_{Z\gamma}^{(1)\,b} f_{Z\lambda}^{(1)\,a} f_{Z\mu}^{(1)\,b}\right)\right) .$$
(D.3.2)

Going to momentum space, and using (6.5.2) and (6.1.9), yields

$$I_{Z}^{[4](3)a}(Z,q) \simeq -u(Z)\phi_{0}(Z)^{2}iq^{\alpha}j_{\alpha}^{(3)a}(p_{i},p_{j},p_{k},q)$$

$$I_{\mu}^{[4](3)a}(Z,q) \simeq \partial_{Z}(u(Z)\phi_{0}(Z)^{2})j_{\mu}^{(3)a}(p_{i},p_{j},p_{k},q) , \qquad (D.3.3)$$

where the leading pole factor is

$$j_{\mu}^{(3)\,a}(p_{i},p_{j},p_{k},q) \simeq -\frac{3^{5}\pi}{4\lambda_{\rm YM}^{2}} \int_{p_{i}} \int_{p_{j}} \int_{p_{k}} \delta_{q-p_{i}-p_{j}-p_{k}} \frac{p_{k\,\mu}p_{k}^{\nu}p_{i}^{\sigma}p_{j}^{\rho}}{p_{i}^{2}p_{j}^{2}p_{k}^{2}} (p_{i} \cdot p_{j}) \\ \times \left(\delta^{a_{i}a_{j}}\delta^{aa_{k}} + \delta^{a_{i}a_{k}}\delta^{aa_{j}} + \delta^{a_{j}a_{k}}\delta^{aa_{i}}\right) \hat{A}_{5\,\sigma}^{a_{i}}(p_{i})\hat{A}_{5\,\rho}^{a_{j}}(p_{j})\hat{A}_{5\,\nu}^{a_{k}}(p_{k}) .$$
(D.3.4)

Following (6.4.7) and (6.4.9), the $O(\epsilon^3)$ solution for the gauge potential is

$$A_{\mu}^{[4](3)a}(Z,p_l) \simeq \Psi^{(3)}(Z) \left(\delta_{\mu}^{\nu} - \frac{p_{l\,\mu}p_l^{\alpha}}{p_l^2} \right) j_{\mu}^{(3)a}(p_i,p_j,p_k,p_l) A_Z^{[4](3)a}(Z,p_l) = \frac{u(Z)\phi_0(Z)^2}{1+Z^2} \frac{ip_l^{\alpha}}{p_l^2} j_{\alpha}^{(3)a}(p_i,p_j,p_k,p_l) ,$$
(D.3.5)

where

$$\Psi^{(3)}(Z) = \int dZ_1 G(Z, Z_1; 0) \partial_{Z_1} \left(u(Z_1) \phi_0(Z_1)^2 \right) = \frac{7Z_2 F_1\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{3}; \frac{3}{2}; -Z^2\right)}{40\pi^2} + \frac{3Z(7Z^2 + 11)}{40\pi^2(Z^2 + 1)^2} - \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right) \arctan(Z)}{\pi^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{8}{3}\right)}.$$
(D.3.6)

The leading pole contribution in the field strength can be identified as

$$f_{Z\mu}^{(3)\,a}(Z,p_l) \simeq -\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right)}{\pi^{3/2}\Gamma\left(\frac{8}{3}\right)} \phi_0(Z) \frac{p_{l\,\mu} p_l^{\alpha}}{p_l^2} j_{\alpha}^{(3)\,a}(p_i,p_j,p_k,p_l) \ . \tag{D.3.7}$$

Plugging in (D.3.4) results in

$$f_{Z\mu}^{(3)\,a}(Z,p_l) \simeq \phi_0(Z) \frac{3^5 \Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right)}{4\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{8}{3}\right)\lambda_{\rm YM}^2} \int_{p_i} \int_{p_j} \int_{p_k} \delta_{p_l - p_i - p_j - p_k} \frac{p_{l\,\mu} p_k^{\nu} p_i^{\sigma} p_j^{\rho}}{p_i^2 p_j^2 p_k^2 p_l^2} (p_i \cdot p_j) (p_k \cdot p_l) \\ \times \left(\delta^{a_i a_j} \delta^{a a_k} + \delta^{a_i a_k} \delta^{a a_j} + \delta^{a_j a_k} \delta^{a a_i}\right) \hat{A}_{5\sigma}^{a_i}(p_i) \hat{A}_{5\nu}^{a_j}(p_j) \hat{A}_{5\nu}^{a_k}(p_k) .$$
(D.3.8)

Note that the radial dependence is, once more, the same as for the pion mode solution (6.2.9). Then, the calculation of the canonical momentum and expectation value of the current will proceed along similar steps, resulting in a vertex contribution to the axial current

$$\langle J_{5}^{\mu \, a}(p_{l}) \rangle_{v} \simeq f_{\pi}^{2} \frac{3^{5} \Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right)}{8\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{8}{3}\right)\lambda_{\rm YM}^{2}} \int_{p_{i}} \int_{p_{j}} \int_{p_{k}} \delta_{p_{l}-p_{i}-p_{j}-p_{k}} \frac{p_{l}^{\mu} p_{k}^{\nu} p_{i}^{\sigma} p_{j}^{\rho}}{p_{i}^{2} p_{j}^{2} p_{k}^{2} p_{l}^{2}} (p_{i} \cdot p_{j}) (p_{k} \cdot p_{l}) \\ \times \left(\delta^{a_{i}a_{j}} \delta^{aa_{k}} + \delta^{a_{i}a_{k}} \delta^{aa_{j}} + \delta^{a_{j}a_{k}} \delta^{aa_{i}}\right) \hat{A}_{5\,\sigma}^{a_{i}}(p_{i}) \hat{A}_{5\,\rho}^{a_{j}}(p_{j}) \hat{A}_{5\,\nu}^{a_{k}}(p_{k}) .$$

$$(D.3.9)$$

Restoring units, the vertex contribution to the leading pole in the four-point function of the current is

$$\langle J_5^{\mu_1 a_1}(p_1) J_5^{\mu_2 a_2}(p_2) J_5^{\mu_3 a_3}(p_3) J_5^{\mu_4 a_4}(p_4) \rangle_v \simeq i \frac{f_\pi^2}{M_{\rm KK}^2} \frac{3^5 \Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right)}{4\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{8}{3}\right) \lambda_{\rm YM}^2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^4 \frac{p_i^{\mu_i}}{p_i^2} \right) \delta_{\sum_{i=1}^4 p_i} \left(\delta^{a_1 a_2} \delta^{a_3 a_4} + \delta^{a_1 a_3} \delta^{a_2 a_4} + \delta^{a_1 a_4} \delta^{a_2 a_3} \right)$$
 (D.3.10)
 $\times \left[(p_1 \cdot p_2) (p_3 \cdot p_4) + (2 \leftrightarrow 3) + (2 \leftrightarrow 4) \right] .$

Bibliography

- [1] D.B. Kaplan, Five lectures on effective field theory, 10, 2005 nucl-th/0510023
- [2] E. Epelbaum, H.-W. Hammer and U.-G. Meissner, Modern Theory of Nuclear Forces, Rev. Mod. Phys. 81 (2009) 1773 [0811.1338].
- [3] H.-W. Hammer and S. König, General aspects of effective field theories and few-body applications, Lect. Notes Phys. 936 (2017) 93 [1610.02961].
- [4] M. Luscher, Volume Dependence of the Energy Spectrum in Massive Quantum Field Theories. 2. Scattering States, Commun. Math. Phys. 105 (1986) 153.
- [5] M. Luscher, Two particle states on a torus and their relation to the scattering matrix, Nucl. Phys. B354 (1991) 531.
- [6] K. Rummukainen and S.A. Gottlieb, Resonance scattering phase shifts on a nonrest frame lattice, Nucl. Phys. B 450 (1995) 397 [hep-lat/9503028].
- [7] D.M. Eagles, Possible Pairing without Superconductivity at Low Carrier Concentrations in Bulk and Thin-Film Superconducting Semiconductors, Phys. Rev. 186 (1969) 456.
- [8] P. Nozieres and S. Schmitt-Rink, Bose condensation in an attractive fermion gas: From weak to strong coupling superconduct ivity, J. Low. Temp. Phys. 59 (1985) 195.
- [9] A.J. Leggett, Modern Trends in the Theory of Condensed Matter, Springer Berlin (1980).
- [10] J.M. Maldacena, The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [hep-th/9711200].
- [11] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space, thermal phase transition, and confinement in gauge theories, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 505 [hep-th/9803131].
- [12] M. Jarvinen and E. Kiritsis, Holographic Models for QCD in the Veneziano Limit, JHEP 03 (2012) 002
 [1112.1261].
- [13] J. Erlich, E. Katz, D.T. Son and M.A. Stephanov, QCD and a holographic model of hadrons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 261602 [hep-ph/0501128].
- [14] L. Girardello, M. Petrini, M. Porrati and A. Zaffaroni, The Supergravity dual of N=1 superYang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 569 (2000) 451 [hep-th/9909047].
- T. Sakai and S. Sugimoto, Low energy hadron physics in holographic QCD, Prog. Theor. Phys. 113 (2005)
 843 [hep-th/0412141].
- T. Sakai and S. Sugimoto, More on a holographic dual of QCD, Prog. Theor. Phys. 114 (2005) 1083 [hep-th/0507073].
- [17] C. Hoyos, N. Jokela and D. Logares, Scattering length from holographic duality, Phys. Rev. D101 (2020)
 046028 [1910.13929].
- [18] C. Hoyos, N. Jokela and D. Logares, Scattering length in holographic confining theories, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 086006 [2005.06904].

- [19] C. Hoyos, N. Jokela and D. Logares, Revisiting the chiral effective action in holographic models, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 026017 [2203.05916].
- [20] M.E. Peskin and D.V. Schroeder, An Introduction to quantum field theory, Addison-Wesley, Reading, USA (1995).
- [21] G. 't Hooft, A Planar Diagram Theory for Strong Interactions, Nucl. Phys. B 72 (1974) 461.
- [22] J.F. Donoghue, E. Golowich and B.R. Holstein, Dynamics of the Standard Model, vol. 2 of Cambridge Monographs on Particle Physics, Nuclear Physics and Cosmology (35), Cambridge University Press (11, 2022), 10.1017/9781009291033.
- [23] G. Ecker, Chiral perturbation theory, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 35 (1995) 1 [hep-ph/9501357].
- [24] R. Machleidt and D.R. Entem, Chiral effective field theory and nuclear forces, Phys. Rept. 503 (2011) 1
 [1105.2919].
- [25] A.V. Manohar, Large N QCD, in Les Houches Summer School in Theoretical Physics, Session 68: Probing the Standard Model of Particle Interactions, pp. 1091–1169, 2, 1998 [hep-ph/9802419].
- [26] J. Bijnens, G. Ecker and J. Gasser, *Chiral perturbation theory*, 11, 1994 [hep-ph/9411232].
- [27] G. Ecker, Chiral perturbation theory, in Hadron Physics 1996, pp. 125–167, 6, 1996 [hep-ph/9608226].
- [28] S. Weinberg, Pion scattering lengths, Phys. Rev. Lett. 17 (1966) 616.
- [29] S. Weinberg, Phenomenological Lagrangians, Physica A 96 (1979) 327.
- [30] M. Bando, T. Kugo, S. Uehara, K. Yamawaki and T. Yanagida, Is rho Meson a Dynamical Gauge Boson of Hidden Local Symmetry?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 54 (1985) 1215.
- [31] M. Bando, T. Kugo and K. Yamawaki, Nonlinear Realization and Hidden Local Symmetries, Phys. Rept. 164 (1988) 217.
- [32] S. Weinberg, Nonlinear realizations of chiral symmetry, Phys. Rev. 166 (1968) 1568.
- [33] M. Harada and K. Yamawaki, Hidden local symmetry at loop: A New perspective of composite gauge boson and chiral phase transition, Phys. Rept. 381 (2003) 1 [hep-ph/0302103].
- [34] T.N. Truong, MODERN APPLICATION OF DISPERSION RELATION: CHIRAL PERTURBATION versus DISPERSION TECHNIQUE, in Symposium in Honor of Professor Nishijima: Wandering in the Fields, 5, 1987.
- [35] A. Dobado, M.J. Herrero and T.N. Truong, Unitarized Chiral Perturbation Theory for Elastic Pion-Pion Scattering, Phys. Lett. B 235 (1990) 134.
- [36] T.H.R. Skyrme, A Nonlinear field theory, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 260 (1961) 127.
- [37] T.H.R. Skyrme, Particle states of a quantized meson field, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 262 (1961) 237.
- [38] T.H.R. Skyrme, A Unified Field Theory of Mesons and Baryons, Nucl. Phys. 31 (1962) 556.
- [39] S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109].
- [40] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150].
- [41] M. Ammon and J. Erdmenger, Gauge/Gravity Duality: Foundations and Applications, Cambridge University Press (2015), 10.1017/CBO9780511846373.
- [42] A.F. Faedo, D. Mateos, D. Pravos and J.G. Subils, Mass Gap without Confinement, JHEP 06 (2017) 153 1702.05988.
- [43] G.T. Horowitz and R.C. Myers, The AdS / CFT correspondence and a new positive energy conjecture for general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1998) 026005 [hep-th/9808079].

- [44] I.R. Klebanov and M.J. Strassler, Supergravity and a confining gauge theory: Duality cascades and chi SB resolution of naked singularities, JHEP 08 (2000) 052 [hep-th/0007191].
- [45] J.M. Maldacena and C. Nunez, Towards the large N limit of pure N=1 superYang-Mills, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86 (2001) 588 [hep-th/0008001].
- [46] D. Elander, A.F. Faedo, D. Mateos and J.G. Subils, Phase transitions in a three-dimensional analogue of Klebanov-Strassler, JHEP 06 (2020) 131 [2002.08279].
- [47] J. Polchinski and M.J. Strassler, The String dual of a confining four-dimensional gauge theory, hep-th/0003136.
- [48] K. Pilch and N.P. Warner, N=1 supersymmetric renormalization group flows from IIB supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 4 (2002) 627 [hep-th/0006066].
- [49] N. Bobev, F.F. Gautason, B.E. Niehoff and J. van Muiden, Uplifting GPPZ: a ten-dimensional dual of $\mathcal{N} = 1^*$, JHEP 10 (2018) 058 [1805.03623].
- [50] M. Petrini, H. Samtleben, S. Schmidt and K. Skenderis, The 10d Uplift of the GPPZ Solution, JHEP 07 (2018) 026 [1805.01919].
- [51] D. Anselmi, L. Girardello, M. Porrati and A. Zaffaroni, A Note on the holographic beta and C functions, Phys. Lett. B 481 (2000) 346 [hep-th/0002066].
- [52] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis, Correlation functions in holographic RG flows, JHEP 10 (2004) 075 [hep-th/0407071].
- [53] F. Apruzzi, M. Fazzi, A. Passias, D. Rosa and A. Tomasiello, AdS_6 solutions of type II supergravity, JHEP 11 (2014) 099 [1406.0852].
- [54] H. Kim, N. Kim and M. Suh, Supersymmetric AdS₆ Solutions of Type IIB Supergravity, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 484 [1506.05480].
- [55] I. Kanitscheider, K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Precision holography for non-conformal branes, JHEP 09 (2008) 094 0807.3324.
- [56] A. Karch and E. Katz, Adding flavor to AdS / CFT, JHEP 06 (2002) 043 hep-th/0205236
- [57] A.A. Tseytlin, On nonAbelian generalization of Born-Infeld action in string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 501 (1997) 41 [hep-th/9701125].
- [58] A. Hashimoto and W. Taylor, Fluctuation spectra of tilted and intersecting D-branes from the Born-Infeld action, Nucl. Phys. B 503 (1997) 193 [hep-th/9703217].
- [59] R.C. Myers, *Dielectric branes*, *JHEP* **12** (1999) 022 [hep-th/9910053].
- [60] P. Koerber and A. Sevrin, The NonAbelian D-brane effective action through order alpha-prime**4, JHEP 10 (2002) 046 [hep-th/0208044].
- [61] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis, AdS / CFT correspondence and geometry, IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys. 8 (2005) 73 [hep-th/0404176].
- [62] M. Bianchi, D.Z. Freedman and K. Skenderis, How to go with an RG flow, JHEP 08 (2001) 041 hep-th/0105276.
- [63] E. Witten, Baryons and branes in anti-de Sitter space, JHEP 07 (1998) 006 [hep-th/9805112].
- [64] K. Hashimoto, T. Sakai and S. Sugimoto, Holographic Baryons: Static Properties and Form Factors from Gauge/String Duality, Prog. Theor. Phys. 120 (2008) 1093 [0806.3122].
- [65] K. Hashimoto, T. Sakai and S. Sugimoto, Nuclear Force from String Theory, Prog. Theor. Phys. 122 (2009)
 427 [0901.4449].
- [66] W. Mueck and M. Prisco, Glueball scattering amplitudes from holography, JHEP 04 (2004) 037 [hep-th/0402068].

- [67] J. Polchinski and M.J. Strassler, Hard scattering and gauge / string duality, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (2002)
 031601 [hep-th/0109174].
- [68] M. Bianchi and A. Marchetti, Holographic three point functions: One step beyond the tradition, Nucl. Phys. B 686 (2004) 261 [hep-th/0302019].
- [69] M. Bianchi, M. Prisco and W. Mueck, New results on holographic three point functions, JHEP 11 (2003) 052 hep-th/0310129.
- [70] C.-K. Wen and H.-X. Yang, QCD(4) glueball masses from AdS(6) black hole description, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 20 (2005) 997 [hep-th/0404152].
- [71] S. Kuperstein and J. Sonnenschein, Non-critical, near extremal AdS(6) background as a holographic laboratory of four dimensional YM theory, JHEP 11 (2004) 026 [hep-th/0411009].
- [72] D. Elander, M. Piai and J. Roughley, *Holographic glueballs from the circle reduction of Romans supergravity*, JHEP 02 (2019) 101 [1811.01010].
- [73] D. Elander, A.F. Faedo, C. Hoyos, D. Mateos and M. Piai, Multiscale confining dynamics from holographic RG flows, JHEP 05 (2014) 003 [1312.7160].
- [74] D. Elander, M. Piai and J. Roughley, Probing the holographic dilaton, JHEP 06 (2020) 177 [2004.05656].
- [75] A. Pelissetto and E. Vicari, Critical phenomena and renormalization group theory, Phys. Rept. 368 (2002)
 [549] cond-mat/0012164.
- [76] D. Poland, S. Rychkov and A. Vichi, The Conformal Bootstrap: Theory, Numerical Techniques, and Applications, Rev. Mod. Phys. 91 (2019) 015002 [1805.04405].
- [77] W. Mueck and K.S. Viswanathan, Conformal field theory correlators from classical scalar field theory on AdS(d+1), Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 041901 [hep-th/9804035].
- [78] D.Z. Freedman, S.D. Mathur, A. Matusis and L. Rastelli, Comments on 4 point functions in the CFT / AdS correspondence, Phys. Lett. B 452 (1999) 61 [hep-th/9808006].
- [79] G. Mack, D-dimensional Conformal Field Theories with anomalous dimensions as Dual Resonance Models, Bulg. J. Phys. 36 (2009) 214 [0909.1024].
- [80] J. Penedones, Writing CFT correlation functions as AdS scattering amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2011) 025 1011.1485.
- [81] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, J. Penedones, S. Raju and B.C. van Rees, A Natural Language for AdS/CFT Correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 095 [1107.1499].
- [82] M.F. Paulos, Towards Feynman rules for Mellin amplitudes, JHEP 10 (2011) 074 [1107.1504].
- [83] S. Albayrak and S. Kharel, Towards the higher point holographic momentum space amplitudes, JHEP 02 (2019) 040 [1810.12459].
- [84] S. Albayrak and S. Kharel, Towards the higher point holographic momentum space amplitudes. Part II. Gravitons, JHEP 12 (2019) 135 [1908.01835].
- [85] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Conformal n-point functions in momentum space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 131602 [1910.10162].
- [86] L. Da Rold and A. Pomarol, Chiral symmetry breaking from five dimensional spaces, Nucl. Phys. B 721 (2005) 79 [hep-ph/0501218].
- [87] J. Hirn and V. Sanz, Interpolating between low and high energy QCD via a 5-D Yang-Mills model, JHEP 12 (2005) 030 [hep-ph/0507049].
- [88] L. Da Rold and A. Pomarol, The Scalar and pseudoscalar sector in a five-dimensional approach to chiral symmetry breaking, JHEP 01 (2006) 157 [hep-ph/0510268].

- [89] M. Harada, S. Matsuzaki and K. Yamawaki, Implications of Holographic QCD in ChPT with Hidden Local Symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 076004 [hep-ph/0603248].
- [90] R.S. Chivukula, E.H. Simmons, H.-J. He, M. Kurachi and M. Tanabashi, Deconstruction and Elastic pi pi Scattering in Higgsless Models, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 035005 [hep-ph/0612070].
- [91] G. Panico and A. Wulzer, Effective action and holography in 5D gauge theories, JHEP 05 (2007) 060 hep-th/0703287.
- [92] O. Domenech, G. Panico and A. Wulzer, Massive Pions, Anomalies and Baryons in Holographic QCD, Nucl. Phys. A 853 (2011) 97 [1009.0711].
- [93] M. Harada, S. Matsuzaki and K. Yamawaki, Holographic QCD Integrated back to Hidden Local Symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 076010 [1007.4715].
- [94] P. Colangelo, J.J. Sanz-Cillero and F. Zuo, Holography, chiral Lagrangian and form factor relations, JHEP 11 (2012) 012 [1207.5744].
- [95] S.K. Domokos and M. Field, On Effective Actions from Holography, JHEP 08 (2014) 041 [1402.5204].
- [96] M. Harada, Y.-L. Ma and S. Matsuzaki, Chiral effective theories from holographic QCD with scalars, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 115012 [1404.4532].
- [97] D. Espriu and A. Katanaeva, Effects of bulk symmetry breaking on AdS/QCD predictions, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 074017 [2001.08723].
- [98] Z. Liu, W. Xie, F. Sun, S. Li and A. Watanabe, *Elastic pion-proton and pion-pion scattering at high energies in holographic QCD*, *Phys. Rev. D* **106** (2022) 054025 [2202.08013].
- [99] V.E. Lyubovitskij and I. Schmidt, Meson masses and decay constants in holographic QCD consistent with ChPT and HQET, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 074009 [2203.00604].
- [100] J. Polchinski and M.J. Strassler, Deep inelastic scattering and gauge / string duality, JHEP 05 (2003) 012 hep-th/0209211.
- [101] R.C. Brower, J. Polchinski, M.J. Strassler and C.-I. Tan, The Pomeron and gauge/string duality, JHEP 12 (2007) 005 [hep-th/0603115].
- [102] S.K. Domokos, J.A. Harvey and N. Mann, The Pomeron contribution to p p and p anti-p scattering in AdS/QCD, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 126015 [0907.1084].
- [103] A. Amorim, M.S. Costa and M. Järvinen, *Regge theory in a holographic dual of QCD in the Veneziano limit*, *JHEP* 07 (2021) 065 [2102.11296].
- [104] M. Bianchi, M. Firrotta, J. Sonnenschein and D. Weissman, Partonic behavior of string scattering amplitudes from holographic QCD models, JHEP 05 (2022) 058 [2111.12106].
- [105] R.A. Briceno, J.J. Dudek and R.D. Young, Scattering processes and resonances from lattice QCD, Rev. Mod. Phys. 90 (2018) 025001 [1706.06223].
- [106] C. Morningstar, Recent highlights with baryons from lattice QCD, EPJ Web Conf. 241 (2020) 02004
 [1909.08145].
- [107] C. Hoyos, N. Jokela, D. Rodríguez Fernández and A. Vuorinen, Breaking the sound barrier in AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 106008 [1609.03480].
- [108] C. Ecker, C. Hoyos, N. Jokela, D. Rodríguez Fernández and A. Vuorinen, Stiff phases in strongly coupled gauge theories with holographic duals, JHEP 11 (2017) 031 [1707.00521].
- [109] O. Bergman, S. Seki and J. Sonnenschein, Quark mass and condensate in HQCD, JHEP 12 (2007) 037
 [0708.2839].
- [110] J. Baeza-Ballesteros, P. Hernández and F. Romero-López, A lattice study of $\pi\pi$ scattering at large N_c , JHEP 06 (2022) 049 [2202.02291].

- [111] I. Papadimitriou, Multi-Trace Deformations in AdS/CFT: Exploring the Vacuum Structure of the Deformed CFT, JHEP 05 (2007) 075 [hep-th/0703152].
- [112] J.G. Russo and K. Sfetsos, Rotating D3-branes and QCD in three-dimensions, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 3 (1999) 131 [hep-th/9901056].